
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Agenda 
 
 

Date Tuesday 5 March 2019 
 

Time 6.00 pm 
 

Venue Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires advice on any 
item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect his/her 
ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul Entwistle or 
Sian Walter-Browne at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this agenda is Sian Walter-Browne Tel. 0161 
770 5151 or email sian.walter-browne@oldham.gov.uk  
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - Any Member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the contact officer by 12 noon on Thursday, 28 
February 2019. 
 
4.  FILMING - The Council, members of the public and the press may 
record / film / photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and 
the press are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public who attends 
a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the Constitutional 
Services Officer who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio and visual 
will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a private 
meeting is held. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 
including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 Councillors Ball (Vice-Chair), J Larkin, Leach, McLaren (Chair), Taylor, 

Toor, Williamson and Curley 
 

 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Declarations of Interest  

Public Document Pack



 
 

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

3   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 10) 

 The Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 22nd 
January 2019 are attached for approval. 

6   Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee (Pages 11 - 18) 

 The minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee held on 18th December 2018 
are attached for noting. 

7   Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Economy, 
Business Growth and Skills Scrutiny Committee (Pages 19 - 38) 

 The minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Economy, 
Business Growth and Skills Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 7th December 
2018 and 11th January 2019 are attached for noting. 

8   Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Corporate 
Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Pages 39 - 58) 

 The minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Corporate 
Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 11th 
December 2018 and 21st January 2019 are attached for noting 

9   Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Housing, 
Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Pages 59 - 68) 

 The minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Housing, 
Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 
10th January 2019 are attached for noting. 

10   Virtual School Annual Report and Term Update (Pages 69 - 102) 

11   Oldham Education Disadvantage and Social Mobility Update (Pages 103 - 110) 

12   GM2040 Delivery Plan Update (Pages 111 - 178) 

13   Resident First Programme, Delivering Digital by Design Update (Pages 179 - 
186) 



 
 

14   Housing Strategy 2019 (Pages 187 - 198) 

15   Clean Air Plan - Outline Business Case (Pages 199 - 202) 

16   General Exceptions and Urgent Decisions (Pages 203 - 204) 

17   Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme (Pages 205 - 220) 

 The Board is requested to comment on and note the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board Work Programme for the 2018/19 Municipal Year. 

18   Key Decision Document (Pages 221 - 234) 

 The Board is requested to note the latest Key Decision Document. 

19   Date and Time of Next Meeting  

 The date and time of the next Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting will be 
Tuesday, 18th June 2019 at 6.00 p.m. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
22/01/2019 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor McLaren (Chair)  
Councillors Ball (Vice-Chair) and Taylor 
 

 Independent Members: Rev. Jean Hurlston 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Lori Hughes Constitutional Services 
 Dami Awobajo Head of Business Intelligence 
 Andrew Hunt Strategy Partnerships and 

Policy Manager 
 Sheena MacFarlane Libraries, Heritage & Arts 
 Claire Smith Executive Nurse CCG 
 Andrew Sutherland Director of Education and Early 

Years 
 Shirley Woods-Gallagher Assistant Director of Education 

(SEND) 
 Andrew Robinson POINT 
 Janet Wray Nurse Consultant 
 Subnum Hariff-Khan Library and Information 

Manager 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Curley, 
Leach, Toor and Williamson. 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

3   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received. 

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board held on 27th November 2018 be approved as a correct 
record. 

6   MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee held on 15th November 2018 be noted. 

7   MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED 
AUTHORITY (GMCA) HOUSING, PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



  
 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) Housing, Planning and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny meetings held on 11th 
October 2018 and 15th November 2018 be noted. 

8   MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED 
AUTHORITY (GMCA) CORPORATE ISSUES AND REFORM 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) Corporate Issues and Reform 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings held on 23rd 
October 2018 and 20th November 2018 be noted. 

9   MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED 
AUTHORITY (GMCA) ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH 
AND SKILLS SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) Economy, Business Growth and 
Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings held on 12th 
October 2018 and 16th November 2018 be noted. 

10   SEND - PROGRESS UPDATE   

The Board were provided with a detailed update on Oldham’s 
progress against the Written Statement of Action (WSOA) 
related to the SEND Inspection by Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) in October 2017.  The Board had requested 
an update following the previous report in October 2018.  The 
report also contained information on key related areas of work 
requested by the Board.  
 
Oldham had been subject to bi-monthly joint monitoring/support 
meeting from the Department for Education (DfE) and NHS 
England related to progress against the WSOA.  The outcome in 
September 2018 had been very positive with confirmation of a 
forward direction of travel and continuous improvement made in 
all areas.  The inspection process by Ofsted had changed and 
all local areas with a WSOA for SEND would now be re-
inspected and it was anticipated that this would take place 
anytime from March 2019.  As part of the new process Oldham’s 
bi-monthly monitoring/support with DfE/NHS England would 
continue until the revisit took place. 
 
The DfE and NHS England recognised the work progress on the 
‘AMBER/GREEN’ priority Area 3, particularly related to the 
timeliness of Education Health Care Plans within the 20-week 
statutory timescale.  It was noted that significant progress had 
been made with reference to the timeliness of issuing plans 
being 100% with a similar figure predicted for February due to a 
more robust process being put into place and additional staffing. 
 Page 2



  
 
 

The Board had requested an update on key areas at the 
meeting held in October.  These included: 
 
A Voice of the Child Corporate Strategy, which included SEND, 
had been developed with engagement and involvement of 
children and young people across numerous services. The 
delivery of the strategy would be co-ordinated under each 
agreed objective within the document.  Communication plans 
would also be developed.  The objectives were outlined in the 
report. 
 
The contract on waiting times for intervention with reference to 
Children and Adolescents Mental Health Services demonstrated 
100% compliance with key performance indicators with referrals 
screened within 24 hours and first contact within 12 weeks of 
referral. 
 
The percentage of young people with Education and Health 
Care Plans (EHCs) in Oldham compared to statistical 
neighbouring and GM authorities was outlined in the report. 
 
Members were informed that 10 EHC plans had been issued so 
far this year compared to none at this point last year. 
 
The Board was invited to a SEND event on Sunday, 3rd 
February 2019. 
 
Members thanked the staff for the hard work. 
 
Members sought and received clarification on 12-week wait for 
healthy young minds and urgency was looked at as part of triage 
and put in place where needed.  The whole school framework 
was an early intervention model.  Members asked what was 
planned for the increasing number of home-schooled children 
and informed that funding had been made available for a co-
ordinator doing home visits to assist where there was limited 
information and use the health visiting assessment which 
demonstrated joint working. 
 
Members were pleased about young people and parents being 
involved in the design and asked how any issues were acted 
upon and officers were also asked about children’s emotional 
and spiritual development and referred to an initiative at 
Kingfisher School.  Members were informed of a health and 
wellbeing event that had been held where young people had 
presented the work and schools took the information back to 
develop practice.    Students were also very involved in 
development of EHCs, every plan should have the voice of the 
child and at age 16 the ambition of the young person was Page 3



  
 
 

captured.  Bespoke work had been done with regard to funding 
a sports development programme and individual goals. 
 
Members asked if the performance was sustainable and if there 
was an informal external review.  Members were informed of the 
bi-monthly visits from the DfE and CQC.  Detailed audits were 
completed prior to those meetings and extensive internal 
governance was also in place.  It was a continual journey and 
officers said there was sustainability with cultural change and 
the investment made by the local authority. An inclusion strategy 
was being developed and would possibly be launched in March 
2019. 
 
Members asked how many people may be involved in EHC 
plans and how often they were reviewed?  Members were 
informed that there were 2,054 live EHC plans and all were 
subject to an annual review.  Involvement depended on the 
needs of the young person which included assessments which 
were dependent on those particular needs. 
 
Members asked about preparation for any upcoming inspection.  
Officers were aware of the challenges and working to develop a 
communications strategy and engage more widely. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The SEND Update on progress against the Written 

Statement of Action (WSOA) be noted. 
2. The Board to receive a short report in June or July 2019 

following any outcome from Ofsted. 
3. The Board to receive a further update in 12 month’s time. 

11   OLDHAM COUNCIL LIBRARIES UPDATE   

The Board gave consideration to a report which provided an 
update on the Oldham Council Libraries’ Performance and 
outlined current challenges and developments.   
 
Oldham Libraries had made significant progress on library 
service improvements which built on past achievements and 
continued to innovate and invest in both service and staff 
development.  Members were informed of improvements to 
library environments which reflected the changing use of 
libraries offering greater flexibility to use the space for cultural 
and digital events.  Funding had been approved for the new 
Royton Library.  Members were also informed that a Sensory 
Room had been launched in March 2018 and Oldham was the 
first library service in Greater Manchester to provide this type of 
facility.   
 

Page 4



  
 
 

Members were informed of activity work with youth workers and 
partners across Oldham, the working relationship with 
Manchester University and participation in the Carnegie Library 
Lab development programme which encouraged children 
between the ages of 3 – 6 to explore, investigate and learn 
through counting and coding activities.  Oldham was also 
chosen as one of four authorities to deliver the ‘Reading Friends’ 
and had been provided with funding to deliver the programme 
across all 10 GM authorities.  As part of this programme groups 
were being helped to combat social isolation through social 
reading activities. 
 
The mixed model of the Home Library Services which included 
access to the RNIB service, collection by friend for family or 
home delivery by a volunteer and the digital officer which 
included the introduction of Micro:bit lending, coding clubs and 
e-books offer was also highlighted.  The service had also been 
shortlisted for the North West Cultural Education Awards and 
awarded funded places for staff on courses and conferences.  
The volunteer offer was being strengthened by working with Arts 
and Heritage.   
 
The Board were provided with the key performance statistics. 
 
The Board were informed of significant building infrastructure 
challenges and continued investment was also required to 
upgrade self-service kiosks, wifi infrastructure and people 
counters to ensure Resident First continued to be supported as 
well as the ‘digital by default’ agenda.  Libraries were welcoming 
and accessible at the forefront of the digital agenda.  The 
service was working with colleagues to develop digital inclusion 
to understand needs but this was still being developed. 
 
Members asked about support for areas without libraries and if 
the Library could supplement schemes delivered by partner 
organisations.  Officers could discuss this arrangement and look 
at a model similar to that of materials delivered to residential 
homes.  
 
Members asked what was included in the audio offer and were 
informed that the press reader was included which included 
100’s of newspapers and other periodicals accessed with a 
library card.   
 
Members commented on the innovative projects.  Members 
asked about work with schools and how students were 
encouraged to use libraries.  Members were informed of a 
revised school’s offer and work in partnership with Gallery 
Oldham which included a whole day visit, co-ordination and Page 5



  
 
 

development of a young people’s volunteer scheme and 
targeting teenaged young people.  Officers were developing a 
young people’s focus group and speaking to the Youth Council 
and Oldham Theatre Workshop.  Work was also ongoing with 
other focus groups and an analysis being undertaken to engage 
with communities. 
 
Members referred to numbers dwindling on job clubs.  Officers 
did not have the information readily available but would look into 
it. 
 
Members asked about equalities and work with homeless 
people.  Members were informed of work with the homeless, 
providing staff with awareness.  Different models were being 
explored.  A project had been done on holiday hunger. 
 
Members made reference to partners who could meet 
challenges around digital access and were informed of some 
who had been identified such as Hack Oldham, schools and 
colleges. 
 
Members also made reference to shared facilities and were 
informed of current shared sites. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The update on Oldham Council’s Libraries be noted. 
2. The Board receive an update in six months’ time which 

addressed the collaborative schools offer with a more in-
depth update in twelve months. 

3. The Board receive an update in 12 months which 
included the extension of home services to community 
centres and similar venues and homeless facilities. 

12   GENERATION OLDHAM UPDATE   

The Board gave consideration to a report which provided an 
update on the Generation Oldham Community Energy 
Programme. 
 
Oldham Community Power was the largest community energy 
provider in Greater Manchester and had consolidated its 
position over the last 12 months.  The wider Generation Oldham 
programme was progressing with the Council working with 
Forum for the Future to develop ‘Power Paired’ which was an 
online service to match up community energy groups with the 
owners of assets which could be used for community energy 
schemes.  Oldham’s leadership at GM level continued with the 
delivery of the COALESCCE EU funding project and a potential 
new approach to community energy modelling with a social 
investment managing organisation.  The Council would be a Page 6



  
 
 

partner in a consortium bid to develop this new approach to 
which Oldham Community Power and other community energy 
organisations across GM could take advantage.  
 
Oldham Community Power was the largest community energy 
scheme in Greater Manchester.  A number of performance 
measures were recorded which included total money saved by 
the sites, total carbon saved since installation, value of 
community shareholding and number of society members.   
 
Generation Oldham was established to help the community, 
engage on climate change, address more jobs across Greater 
Manchester in the low carbon economy and provide 
opportunities for benefits to residents.   
 
Members queried other methods being used other than solar 
panels. Members were informed of renewable heating incentives 
such has mass boilers and heat pumps and owners being 
encouraged to retrofit. 
 
Members raised the issue of providing energy to those in fuel 
poverty.  Members were informed of spare power being 
provided to the grid at the present time.  A consultation was 
expected on changes to the scheme. 
 
Members queried Phases 2 and 3 and were informed that there 
was a challenge in the identification of buildings.   
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The update on Generation Oldham be noted. 
2. The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Board meet with the 

Cabinet Member and the Strategy Partnerships and 
Policy Manager regarding Phases 2 and 3. 

3. A Generation Oldham Update be provided to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board in 12 months on how the 
programme was being promoted across Greater 
Manchester. 

13   GENERAL EXCEPTIONS AND URGENT DECISIONS   

There were no General Exceptions or Urgent Decisions to be 
noted. 

14   COUNCIL MOTIONS   

The Board gave consideration to a report which provided an 
update on two motions which had been referred to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board by Council.   
 
The first motion was entitled “Keeping Our Villages and Rural 
Areas HGV Free”.  A workshop had been convened on 8 Page 7



  
 
 

January 2019 with members from the Board, Residents’ 
Associations, Head of Public Protection and Highways Officers. 
 
The workshop agreed to:  
 
1. Work with residents’ associations, starting with one or two 

pilot schemes within existing weight restriction areas in 
place with six to eight observers who would be trained by 
Trading Standards.  Funding would be an issue for any 
signage and would need to be addressed. 

2. Current weight restriction areas be reviewed with regard 
to signage. 

3. Highways England be approached regarding signage on 
the M60 to continue through to the M62 and not via 
Broadway. 

4. Diversion signs in the event of any M62 closure be 
progressed with Highways England. 

 
The second motion was entitled “Improving Public Safety in 
Oldham’s Night Time Economy”.  Full Council resolved to ask 
the Overview and Scrutiny Board to examine, in conjunction with 
relevant partners, including the Oldham College, Oldham Sixth 
Form College, University Campus Oldham, schools with post-16 
provision, licensed premises and public and private hire taxi 
businesses, the practicality of establishing such schemes as 
soon as possible in our town and district centres. 
 
The Board determined to have a workshop to address the 
motion’s resolution. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
  
1. The outcomes of the Overview and Scrutiny workshop 

held on 8th January 2019 as outlined in the report be 
endorsed. 

2. A workshop be organised to address the ‘Improving 
Public Safety in Oldham’s Night Time Economy’ motion. 

 

15   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME   

The Board gave consideration to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board Work Programme for 2018/19. 
 
RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Board Work 
Programme for 2018/19 be noted. 

16   KEY DECISION DOCUMENT   

The Board gave consideration to the Key Decision Document 
which listed key decisions to be taken from 14th January 2019. 
 Page 8



  
 
 

The Board requested a report on Alexandra Park and the 
Northern Roots reports be scheduled for a future meeting and 
address what was being planned and how to use the Co-
operative Council to include local residents.   
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1.  the Council’s Key Decision Document be noted. 
2. A report on Alexandra Park and Northern Roots be 

brought to future meetings. 

17   DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING   

RESOLVED that the date and time of the next Overview and 
Scrutiny Board to be held on Tuesday, 5th March 2019 at 6.00 
p.m. be noted. 
 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.57 pm 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH SCRUTINY 
18/12/2018 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present:  Councillors Leach, Toor and McLaren 
 

 Also in Attendance: 
 Andrea Entwistle Principal Policy Officer – Heath and 

Wellbeing, Oldham Metropolitan 
Borough Council (OMBC) 

 Patsy Burrows Head of Service Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers, OMBC 

 Katrina Stephens Interim Director of Public Health, 
OMBC 

 Fabiola Fuschi Constitutional Services Officer, 
OMBC 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ball, 
Taylor and Williamson.  

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

3   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee meeting held on 15th November 2018 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 

6   MINUTES OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD   

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
meeting held on 25th September 2018 be noted.  

7   MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER JOINT 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Greater Manchester Joint 
Health Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 12th September 
2018 ne noted.  

8   RESOLUTION AND ACTION LOG   

RESOLVED that the Action Log for the meeting held on 15th 
November 2018 be noted.  

9   MEETING OVERVIEW   

RESOLVED that the today’s Meeting Overview be noted.  

10   REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY   

Consideration was given to the Regional Adoption Agency 
(RAA) 2017/18 Annual Report which was presented by the Head Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

of Service Looked After Children and Care Leavers. The Interim 
Director of Children’s Social Care and Early Help was also in 
attendance to present the information and to address the 
enquiries of the Committee.  
 
It was reported that a year had elapsed since changes in 
delivering Adoption Services had been introduced. In Oldham, 
children and young people remained the responsibility of the 
Council, but members of staff had been seconded to Bolton 
Council, the host Council for the RAA, to deliver services 
concerning care planning, adoptive/foster parent recruitment. 
The Adoption Leadership Board (i.e.: the national board with the 
responsibility to improve performance of the adoption system in 
England) had introduced changes in the Adoption Services 
since 2008 to accelerate the process of finding a placement for 
children as well as recruiting adoptive families. It was reported 
that, nationally, the shortage of adopters had an impact on 
adoption performance. However, in 2017/18 Oldham had done 
well, outperforming England average and statistical neighbours 
with regard to the length of time from the point when children 
came into care to the time when they were placed with the 
adoptive families (i.e.: A1 indicator - Child Entering Care Starting 
Adoption Placement).  
A2 indicator (i.e.: Placement Order to Matching), showed that 
there had been improvement compared to the previous year and 
Oldham was still performing better than national average and 
statistical neighbours, although it had missed the target. It was 
explained that the demographic in Oldham had to be considered 
when reading these statistics as there were a high number of 
children considered “hard to place” due to age, ethnicity, health 
needs and/or being part of a sibling group.  
 
With regard to recruitment of adoptive families and adoption 
support, Elected Members were informed that, through the RAA, 
Oldham had been able to merge resources and to invest in a 
wider and sustained recruiting campaign; as a result, a number 
of adopters had come forward. It had also been possible to 
access increased support for adoptive families and members of 
staff and adopters had been able to access more training and 
development courses. With the RAA, Oldham could host events 
at no cost and place children without paying an interagency fee. 
It was reported that 50% of children had been placed within local 
authorities which were part of the RAA.  
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

- Agency Decision Maker – It was explained that this was a 
role prescribed by the legislation for a senior manager 
within the organisation. In Oldham, the Interim Director of 
Children’s Services was invested with this role.  

- Adoption Leadership Board Scorecard – It was explained 
that this was a Government’s measure on a three-year 
period; this specific level of detail had been required for 
the purpose of data analysis. In order to provide today’s 
data, year to date figures had been extracted from the 
system.  Page 12



 

- Lessons learnt from previous years – It was explained 
that a new service manager was in post who 
implemented new practices. Previously, professionals 
would wait for a court order before considering a 
placement, whereas, currently, opportunities for a 
placement were considered at a very early stage. 
Furthermore, an adoption tracker was in place to follow 
children from when they entered a Child Protection Plan 
throughout the Court process. Collaboration also led to 
an improvement as all local authorities who were part of 
the RAA had to share the same pool of adopters. The 
RAA could be more responsive to what professionals 
needed. For example, in the instance of very young 
babies who were likely not to return to their birth family, 
the RAA could look immediately at a Foster for Adoption 
Scheme, so that the child could stay with the same family 
from a very early stage. This would improve the outcome 
for children.   

- Opportunities for fostering, was Oldham attracting foster 
carers from private agencies? – It was explained that 
Oldham had a cohort of specialist foster carers / 
adopters. Almost 80% of children placed with foster 
carers were placed with local authority foster carers. For 
older children, the Council used Independent Fostering 
Agencies.  

- Placement with family of origin – It was explained that 
adoption would be the last resort and services would 
always look at the family of origin as first placement for 
the child; 50% of children were placed with family 
members, often via granting Special Guardianship.  

- Monitoring placement progress – It was explained that 
following a placement with a family, the child would not 
be adopted until the Adoption Order would be in place. 
Therefore, until this point, a Social Worker and a Review 
Independent Officer would remain allocated to that child. 
Once the Adoption Order was in place, the adoptive 
family would be parenting independently. However, if 
necessary, post adoption support would be available.  

- Activity days – It was explained that these were carefully 
planned; there were many exchange days during which 
potential adopters viewed children’s profiles.  

- Break down of placements – It was explained that 
disruptions to a placement could happen; sometimes this 
could be triggered by young people’s attempt to get in 
touch with their birth family. Post adoption support 
services were specially trained to deal with these 
situations.  

- Expected changes in the next 12 months – It was 
explained that Special Guardianship would be given more 
scrutiny for the benefit of children. The Adoption 
Leadership Board would publicise guidance to formally 
challenge the RAA. It would be about refining and 
developing mechanisms which were already in place. 
Previously there was an agency fee; now the focus was 
on mutually beneficial arrangements for all local 
authorities involved.  Page 13



 

- Budget integration and benefit – It was explained that 
resources had been merged with the other five local 
authorities who were part of the RAA. This had given 
Oldham the opportunity to access high level training 
which previously was not accessible as it was very costly.  
 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the report be noted; 
2. A progress report be presented in 12 months.  

11   ORAL HEALTH   

Consideration was given to a report of the Public Health 
Specialist which sought to inform the Sub-Committee of the 
progress on all age oral health improvement activity currently 
being delivered across Oldham. The information was presented 
by the Interim Director of Public Health.  
 
It was reported that considerable attention was dedicated to 
children and young people’s oral health as this affected their 
quality of life; this also applied to older adults. In Oldham, 
significant improvements had been registered since 2012/13 
when five in ten five-year-old children had showed dental decay 
against three in ten children in 2016/17. It was explained that 
services had systematically applied evidence based oral health 
interventions. Oral health had been embedded in a wide range 
of primary care services. Teachers, Health Visitors and Early 
Years professionals were all involved in this process. The Big 
Brush Campaign had taken place to promote access to dental 
care. Last month, over 60% of children in Oldham had seen a 
dentist. The average in England was 70%. Greater Manchester 
funded supervised teeth brushing programmes in Early Years 
settings.  
 
With regard to the new area of work represented by elderly 
people, it was reported that the objective was to apply learning 
from engaging with different professionals such as those from 
Intermediate Care settings in order to develop an understanding 
of the importance of good oral health in elderly people. This 
would take place via training provision, general awareness and 
improving pathways to secondary care.  
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points:  

- Existing issues/barriers and opportunities to reach young 
people – It was explained that five-year-old children were 
targeted as they were more receptive to change and 
therefore more likely to carry on healthy habits. There 
were opportunities to work with Youth Council to divulge 
oral health message.  

- Other healthy lifestyle campaigns – It was explained that 
“five a day” was still a message within the Healthy 
Lifestyle campaign. However, it was still being 
implemented. The challenge was to find ways to support 
people to undertake those changes. Through the Early 
Years approach, school meal service in primary schools 
had been commended for delivering very healthy food Page 14



 

options for children. Secondary schools presented a 
greater challenge in implementing the necessary change; 
the school meal service was provided by private 
companies. It was agreed that this was an opportunity to 
promote the Healthy Living message in secondary 
schools via the Mayor’s Healthy Living Campaign and the 
Oldham Learning Festival next year.  

 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The content of the report be noted; 
2. The progress and actions in the Pre-school Children’s 

Oral Health Improvement Strategy be noted; 
3. The actions identified in the oral health improvement 

programme for vulnerable older people in care homes, 
care at home, intermediate care and secondary care be 
endorsed;  

4. The implementation of evidence based oral health 
interventions and national guidance across all ages in 
Oldham continue to be supported.  

5. A progress report on oral health be presented to this Sub-
Committee in 2020.  

6. A meeting be arranged with Education Services to 
develop an opportunity within Oldham Learning Festival 
in June 2019 to promote the Mayor’s Healthy Living 
Campaign to engage with secondary schools and the 
Youth Council.  

 

12   PUBLIC HEALTH IN PRIMARY CARE   

Consideration was given to a presentation of the Acting 
Consultant in Public Health on the role of Public Health in 
Primary Care and the plans for Oldham Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) clusters, NHS Health Checks and Mental 
Wellbeing. The Interim Director of Public Health was in 
attendance to present the information and to address the 
enquiries of the Sub-Committee.  
 
Members were informed that Healthcare in Public Health was a 
mandatory Public Health function. This entailed looking at 
primary prevention and seeking intervention before issues 
arose. Secondary prevention consisted of intervening to stop 
issues deteriorating. The third element was how to manage the 
condition. NHS Health Checks were an example of how Public 
Health worked with Primary Care.  Health Checks were a 
mandatory programme commissioned by Council to GPs who 
would deliver it. Once every five years, people between the age 
of 40 and 74 years old should have a Health Check. Those who 
already suffered from a health condition, were not eligible for 
Health Checks. This service had been in place in Oldham for 
five years.  
 
With regard to Public Health provision for Mental Wellbeing, it 
was reported that, following the Preventive Concordat, local and 
national plans were in place to support Primary Care services 
through preventative work such as the Five Ways to Wellbeing 
and engaging with pharmacies through the Healthy Living Page 15



 

Pharmacies Programmes to “Making Every Contact Count” as a 
tool to provide information and support on mental health. 
Furthermore, training resources such as “Connect 5” and 
“Mental Health Literacy” were available to members of staff in 
Primary Care to allow understanding of the issues around 
mental health and knowledge of the tools available to support 
people.  
 
It was also reported that Integrated Clusters were made of 45 
GP practices and 50,000 population per cluster. Public Health 
supported the clusters providing data, direct support on ongoing 
pilots, support for people in work who due to hill health might 
have to leave work. They would be identified through GP 
attendance.  
 
Members sought and received clarification / commented on the 
following points: 

- Statistics and outcome – It was explained that over 80% 
of the eligible population had been invited to have a 
Health Check; 38% had attended. In Oldham, from the 
start of the service provision there had been a low take 
up which had slowly increased in the last two years. The 
national focus had been on attendance rather than 
outcomes. There was also an issue on how a condition 
that had been identified at the Health Check was then 
managed by the patient via his/her GP. The preferred 
approach in Oldham would be to use a machine that gave 
results straightaway as people responded better when 
they received information immediately. The next objective 
would be to increase the information captured at the 
Health Check and work with the relevant Portfolio Holder 
to relaunch Health Checks in Oldham. Payment to GPs 
would need to be reviewed, payments should be awarded 
only for completed Health Checks.  There was an 
opportunity to involve the Mayor in order to promote the 
take up of Health Checks amongst Oldham’s residents.  

- Women’s health and mental wellbeing – It was explained 
that work was ongoing to reduce smoking in pregnancies. 
When delivering Health Checks, data was collected and 
analysed and specific strategies could be devised.  

- Encouraging men to attend Health Checks – It was 
explained that offering Health Checks in venues other 
than GP surgeries might increase men’s attendance.  

- Five Ways to Wellbeing and Voluntary Sector - It was 
explained that as well as pharmacies, the training was 
rolled out to community and voluntary groups.   
 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the presentation be noted; 
2. The Thriving Communities update scheduled for March 

2019 to include an update on the role of “Making Every 
Contact Count” training for the Community Voluntary 
Sector; 

3. An update on Women’s Health and Mental Wellbeing 
from Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group be requested 
for a Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee in early 2019.  Page 16



 

4. A progress report be presented to the Health Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee in 12 months.  

13   COUNCIL MOTIONS   

Consideration was given to a report of the Principal Policy 
Officer, Health and Wellbeing which sought to inform the Sub-
Committee of the health-related Council motions that had been 
discussed and agreed at Full Council meeting on 7th November 
2018. These were: 

- Tackling Child Hunger; 
- Creating a Healthy and Thriving Oldham; 
- National Exemption for Prescriptions for Care Leavers, 

this was a Youth Council’s motion.  
 

The following health-related motions were approved at Full 
Council on 12th December 2018: 

- Sustainable Public Health Funding; 
- Air Quality.  

 
RESOLVED that: 

1.  The update as outlined in the report be noted; 
2. An update be provided on the Sustainable Public Health 

Funding and Air Quality motions at the meeting of the 
Sub-Committee in March 2019.  

 

14   MAYOR'S HEALTHY LIVING CAMPAIGN   

The Sub-Committee considered a progress report of the 
Principal Policy Officer – Health and Wellbeing on recent 
activities undertaken by the Mayor of Oldham in connection with 
the Mayor’s Healthy Living Campaign to promote and divulge 
the message of healthy living across the Borough.  
 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The update be noted; 
2. Continuous support to the Mayor’s Healthy Living 

Campaign be provided by the Sub-Committee.  

15   HEALTH SCRUTINY FORWARD PLAN   

Consideration was given to the Health Scrutiny Forward Plan for 
2018/19. Members agreed that the workload of the Sub-
Committee was increasing consistently and ways to manage the 
greater workload needed to be explored.  
 
RESOLVED that the Health Scrutiny Forward Plan for 2018/19 
be noted.  

16   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

RESOLVED that it be noted that the next meeting of the Health 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee would be held on Tuesday 29th January 
2019 at 6 p.m. 
 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.36 pm 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Item 4 

1 
 

 
 
 

GMCA ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
7 DECEMBER 2018 AT 2.00PM AT MANCHESTER TOWN HALL  

 
 
Present:   Councillor Michael Holly (Rochdale) (in the Chair) 
Bolton:   Councillor Susan Haworth 
Bury:   Councillor Mary Whitby  
Manchester:   Councillor Luke Raikes   
Oldham:  Councillor Peter Davies (substitute) 
Oldham:   Councillor Valerie Leach 
Rochdale:  Councillor Daniel Meredith 
Salford:   Councillor Karen Garrido  
Salford:  Councillor Kate Lewis  
Stockport:  Councillor Mark Hunter 
Trafford:  Councillor Barry Brotherton 
Trafford:  Councillor Bernard Sharp (substitute) 
Tameside:  Councillor Yvonne Cartey  
 
In attendance  
 
GMCA Councillor Ebrahim Adia, Deputy Portfolio Lead for Economy and Business  

Simon Nokes, Executive Director Policy & Strategy 
Alison Gordon, Assistant Director Business, Innovation and Enterprise 
Policy 
Marie-Clare Daly, Principal Culture and Creative Policy  
John Steward, Digital Infrastructure and Internationalisation Policy Lead 

   Susan Ford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer  
   Emma Stonier, Governance and Scrutiny Officer  
   
E97/18   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Robert Caserta (Bury), Chris Goodwin 
(Oldham), Jude Wells (Stockport) and Charles Rigby (Wigan).  
 
E98/18   CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
  
The Chair requested that Item 8 – GM Culture Strategy was taken as Item 7. Members agreed to 
this change.  
 
The Chair informed Members that Councillor Linda Thomas, GMCA Portfolio Lead for Culture had 
sent apologies and officers would present the GM Culture Strategy prior to it being considered 
by the GMCA in February 2019.  
 
E99/18   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest received.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



Item 4 

2 
 

 
E100/18  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 NOVEMBER 2018 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2018 were submitted for approval.  
 
An amendment had been requested to E89/18 (page 3) regarding apprenticeship numbers that 
it read as follows:  
 
It was noted that the collapse in apprenticeship numbers nationally was concerning, however 
GM did buck national trends with a 33% reduction in apprenticeships, in the same period as the 
previous year, against an average 40% reduction nationally. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the last meeting held 16 November 2018 be approved as a correct record 
subject to the requested amendment.  
 
E101/18 WORK PROGRAMME   
 
Susan Ford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, introduced the work programme. Members were asked 
to send any comments regarding future items to the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. Consideration 
was being given currently to the Work Programme for February and the agenda format.  
 
A representative from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) will be attending the 
January meeting around the implementation of Universal Credit.  
 
Members were informed that the Mayor had been invited to the April meeting and it was 
requested that he be invited to the March meeting if unable to attend in April.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the work programme be noted.  
 

2. That the Mayor be invited to the March 2019 meeting if unable to attend in April. 
 
E102/18  BREXIT UPDATE    
 
Councillor Ebrahim Adia, Deputy Portfolio Lead for Economy, GMCA introduced an item which 
provided Members with an update on Brexit and Greater Manchester’s preparedness for the 
UK’s exit from the EU. Key areas highlighted included: 
 

 GM Brexit principles agreed which GM believes should inform the Government’s 
negotiations with the EU. The principles focused on four areas: trade and industry; 
infrastructure and place; people and skills and the process for leaving the EU. The 
principles have been designed to minimise adverse impacts of Brexit as much as possible.  

 Section 2 which outlined the Draft Withdrawal Agreement. This has received extensive 
media coverage and a vote on the agreement was expected week commencing 10th 
December 2018. 

Page 20



Item 4 

3 
 

 GM was lobbying the Government around the sharing of the regional impact analysis it 
had undertaken as a matter of priority. GM has also undertaken scenario planning based 
on different withdrawal agreements.  

 GM has developed a series of principles to use as the basis of conversations with 
Government around the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. These included the flexible use of 
funding to enable GM to address its priorities, particularly around tackling inequalities 
and raising productivity. Funding levels which at least match the level of existing EU 
Structural Funds and their matched funding was highlighted as being critical to GM’s 
future prosperity. 

 Economic impact monitoring and GM level analysis being undertaken to better 
understand which of GM’s economic sectors are most likely to be affected and how 
businesses are preparing. GM also wants to ensure that they continue to attract global 
talent to key growth sectors. Marketing Manchester was reviewing the impact on the 
international visitor market and would be monitoring this going forward. 

 The Government’s analysis forecasts UK GDP over 15 years would be: 1.5% lower if the 
UK remained a member of the EU’s single market; 5% lower if a free trade deal was 
agreed; and 8% lower if the UK leaves the EU without a deal and reverts to WTO terms. 
For the North West equivalent figures were 2.5%, 8% and 12% which highlighted the 
importance of the final outcome of negotiations, for GM.  

 Potential impacts on local authorities arising from Brexit, including impact on demand for 
services, such as housing and welfare advice, were noted.  It was also highlighted that in 
the previous recession neighbourhoods in the North of England and West Midlands were 
hardest hit.   

 The GMCA have agreed a number of actions to progress locally around mitigating the 
impact of Brexit. These included undertaking appropriate contingency assessment and 
planning exercises based on local command and control arrangements and putting in 
place appropriate arrangements to support business and individuals in event of an 
economic downturn. GM have also urged Government to progress a number of actions.  

 
Member’s raised the following questions and comments: 
 

 Whether GM had emergency contingency plans in place in event of a no deal Brexit. In 
relation to this it was also asked whether GM had a sense of what businesses were putting 
in place to manage the impact of Brexit and whether businesses were engaging with the 
GMCA about Brexit. A significant amount of work was underway in GM around 
preparedness for Brexit and the impact of any deal reached with the EU. The Growth 
Company website has information for companies about Brexit and the impacts of 
different deals. This has had 700 individual hits since October which suggests companies 
were aware of the potential impact of Brexit and were taking action. However, it was 
highlighted that some companies who thought that they would not be impacted by Brexit 
without considering impacts on their supply chains. Within the public sector a GM level 
group had been convened to look at issues and impacts arising from Brexit and 
contingency planning and assessment, in the event of a no deal, was being undertaken 
based on local command and control exercises.  

 Whether the national framework priorities for the proposed UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
included the possibility of allocating resources to the most deprived areas of GM. GM has 
urged Government to ensure the fund is controlled locally and can flexibly respond to 
local needs and tackle inequalities. Government had indicated that there would be a 

Page 21



Item 4 

4 
 

consultation on the Shared Prosperity Fund in Autumn 2018 but to date this had not been 
released. 

 Had GM received a positive response from Government around the sharing of 
information? The Government had shared national and north west level analysis with GM 
and it was stated that until the final Brexit deal was agreed a level of uncertainty around 
impact remained. It was also noted that GM was urging Government to progress a 
number of actions around Brexit which were of particular significance to GM.  

 What were the reasons for the Government’s analysis of regional impact on GDP being 
worse than national impact (as outlined in section 5.6)? Definitive reasons underlying this 
were difficult to isolate, however it was stated that the North-West was more dependent 
on exports to the EU with 56% of exports in GM going to the EU as compared to 47% 
nationally. The potential adverse effect on student numbers was also highlighted.   

 It was clear from the report that there was a lot of uncertainty around Brexit. GM was 
taking a sensible approach to its actions to ameliorate the potential impacts of Brexit.  
Members also highlighted that it was difficult to assess impact as there were a significant 
amount of unknowns currently and it was difficult to forecast impacts until the final deal 
had been agreed. Officers encouraged all Members to discuss potential impacts with their 
own local authorities and to encourage businesses to consider the impact of Brexit and 
let them know about the Growth Company’s website support. 

 Whether GM were aware if local authorities had been receiving additional/different 
communications from Government, for example through the Department for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, around Brexit preparedness and whether the 
Mayor/GM were in regular communication with Government around Brexit. Section 6.4 
was highlighted and the action to ensure that all GMCA bodies were carrying out sectional 
risk assessments. It was stressed that GM was not carrying out individual risk assessments 
for local authorities. GM were undertaking risk assessments for Combined Authority 
functions. Conversations have taken place between officials from the Department for 
Exiting the European Union and officials in the Mayor’s office. At a GM level 
communications were taking place through the Directors of Place group and the 
Resilience Forums in each local authority. Members also asked whether GM felt there was 
sufficient engagement from Government around the actions outlined in section 6.3. 
Communication channels were open at an official level and the Mayor has previously 
stated that GM and the North West should have a stronger voice in the Brexit 
negotiations.  

 Did GM have figures for the number of EU citizens living in GM who had left the UK due 
to Brexit? Members were informed that officers would investigate whether there were 
any figures available in relation to this. GM was undertaking further work around 
understanding the impact of Brexit on employment sectors where GM had particular 
exposure which included distribution, hotels and restaurants, banking and finance and 
manufacturing. The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP) 
was carrying out work to assess the impact of migration on the health sector, particularly 
in relation to junior Doctors and nurses. Officers stated they would circulate more 
information to the Committee about this. The link to the latest GMCA Brexit Report, which 
contained more detail about impact on employment sectors in GM, would also be 
circulated to Members.  

 That the Government’s economic forecasts assumed that sectors behaved similarly across 
the UK, which was not necessarily the case. The Greater London Authority had 
commissioned their own economic forecasts and it was asked whether GM had 

Page 22



Item 4 

5 
 

considered this. GM had decided to focus on examining the impact locally of the 
Government’s analysis, rather than commissioning its own research.  

 A Member stated that they would have liked to have received more information about 
the potential impact of Brexit and action GM was taking. It was noted that communication 
mechanisms could be more robust to ensure local Councillors were kept updated. This 
would be useful in general to share best practice and information about the work of the 
GMCA. Members were informed that information was circulated to Leaders and 
Democratic Services Managers. The Brexit Monitor is circulated with scrutiny papers each 
month and this summarises economic trends, analysis and the latest policy positions.  
There was also a monthly GMCA email which was sent to all GM Councillors. Officers 
would look at including a Brexit update in this.  

 How would the Committee be kept updated following the 29th March 2019? It was 
confirmed that Chair’s announcements would be used to keep the Committee updated 
on Brexit and that in the New Year it was likely that there would be more information 
available to share with the Committee.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the content of the November Brexit Monitor (Appendix 1) be noted. 
 

2. That Officers would circulate the link to the Growth Company Brexit webpage.  
 

3. That Officers would find out if there were any figures available in relation to the number 
of EU nationals leaving GM. 
 

4. That more information about the GMHSCP’s work on the impact of Brexit on the health 
sector would be circulated to Members.  
 

5. That December’s GMCA Brexit Report would be circulated to Members.  
 

6. That the Committee would be provided with regular updates on Brexit. 
 

7. That Officers would include an update about Brexit in the GMCA monthly Councillor 
email.  

 
E103/18 GM CULTURE STRATEGY  
 
Marie-Clare Daly, Principal Culture and Creative Policy, GMCA introduced the GM Culture 
Strategy. Members were informed that Councillor Linda Thomas would be in attendance when 
the final strategy was presented in February 2019. Delivery of the GM Culture Strategy would 
commence in 2019.  
 
The following areas were highlighted: 
 

 The GM Culture Strategy included in the papers was the version which was currently being 
consulted on and this was an opportunity for Members to feed into the consultation. 
Consultation will close on 10th December 2018. However, targeted conversations would 
continue after this date. 

Page 23



Item 4 

6 
 

 The overall guiding principle had been to look at areas where it made the most sense to 
work collectively at a GM level.  

 GM had analysed GM local authority strategies, national and European comparators and 
the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) to identify recurring themes and priorities. Initial 
feedback around priorities was that there were currently too many and the final draft 
should be more focused.  

 GM had commissioned a short video of residents from local authorities across GM talking 
about what culture meant to them. This would be circulated to Members.  

 Consultation had been undertaken in a variety of ways including: online; targeted in 
shopping centres/theatres; open events; and through targeted sector specific 
conversations (visual arts, music, theatre etc.). 

 In consultation residents focused a lot on what culture means to communities and local 
provision was identified as an area for improvement alongside coordination and 
communication of cultural events taking place in local areas close to people.  

 Consultation has identified local residents to invite to become involved in the 
development and delivery of the GM Culture Strategy and work was underway around 
the format this would take.  

 That feedback had indicated that the local and international cultural offers needed to be 
more aligned.  

 Stakeholder feedback had highlighted that the final Strategy needed to be action focused, 
measurable and prioritise those things where GM can make the biggest 
impact/difference. It was also highlighted that a clearer narrative would be useful, and 
that GM’s strengths and cultural heritage should be more clearly articulated. Work was 
underway to develop measurable indicators for inclusion in the Strategy, looking at how 
these can be aligned across GM’s portfolios and the GMS.  

 The GM Culture Strategy will be used to support the revised investment approach for the 
Culture and Social Impact Fund post 2020.  

 
Members had the following questions and comments: 
 

 A number of Members raised the fact that the Strategy did not reference sport and asked 
whether, given GM’s sporting history and heritage, the range of sports clubs in the region 
and the numbers of people in GM who attended sporting events, any consideration had 
been given to the inclusion of this in the final Strategy. In relation to the inclusion of sport 
Members also raised the following considerations: some Members felt culture and sport 
were distinct areas, despite being of importance to GM; the National Football Museum 
and how this could be used to promote GM’s sporting heritage; importance of sport in 
attracting international visitors to GM, and therefore to GM’s Internationalisation 
Strategy and the number of amateur sport clubs within each local authority area and their 
importance to the delivery of other priorities such as safer neighbourhoods and the health 
and wellbeing of GM residents. Members were informed that sport sits between a 
number of portfolio areas in GM and Greater Sport was funded to deliver projects. It was 
also identified that when the investment approach was revised the Strategy would be 
used to assist with identifying what organisations/projects GM supports. Officers 
recognised that the definition of culture required greater clarity and noted they would 
consider how this would be articulated in the final Strategy.  Members would also be 
updated regarding discussions on how GM’s sporting heritage and activities could be best 
handled strategically.  

Page 24



Item 4 

7 
 

 As some authorities had not received as much funding as others from the Culture and 
Social Impact Fund it was queried whether the development of GM priorities would result 
in some authorities losing funding. Once the GM Culture Strategy has been agreed 
consultation will commence around how future investment can assist with delivery of the 
Strategy. Members will have opportunity to review the overall allocation of funding, as 
reports on delivery and the proposed investment approach will be submitted to this 
Committee. Members requested that they would like these reports to have information 
broken down into priority areas and local authority area.  

 Members supported a reduction in the number of priorities included in the final Strategy. 

 Was the consultation still open? It was confirmed that the deadline date had been 
extended and the online consultation was open until Monday 10th December.  

 That on page 3 of the Strategy ‘well known’ people from across GM were referenced and 
it was asked whether there could be further additions to this list. Officers confirmed that 
they were attempting to make this list as balanced as possible and that they welcomed 
suggestions for inclusion in the final Strategy. Members specifically requested that Robert 
Bolt, Salford Lad’s Club, Annie Kenny and James Joule were added to this list.  

 Concerns were raised that the name Marketing Manchester did not reflect the other local 
authorities in GM who also had valuable cultural offerings for visitors. Members were 
updated that the Marketing Manchester Board had debated this on more than one 
occasion and, overall, it was felt that Marketing Manchester was a well-known brand and 
was effective at promoting the region as a whole, particularly to external audiences.  

 That cultural exposure was important to GM’s ambition to reduce inequality and that the 
Strategy should include reference to the evidence which sets out the value of cultural 
exposure to enhancing people’s lives and supporting the delivery of the GMS. Since the 
consultation, the development of the GM Local Industrial Strategy had begun, and work 
was underway to understand the importance of cultural capital and how this can be used 
to support the development of softer skills, such as adaptability, creativity and problem 
solving. It was also noted that more consideration was needed as to how GM can engage 
young people with culture. 

 How was GM going to achieve the Strategy’s aims and ambitions? This needs to be clearly 
outlined, in a way that people can easily understand. In relation to this the 
language/reasoning around the inclusion of ‘priority 1 - engaging young people with 
culture to ensure they are school ready’ needed to be looked at to ensure that the basis 
for its inclusion was clear.  The Chair asked whether case studies could be used to 
demonstrate the intended impact and outcomes of the Strategy. It was confirmed that 
case studies and research available, demonstrating the importance of exposure to culture 
at an early stage to life chances, would be included/made more explicit in the final 
Strategy. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the process of development undertaken to get to the current draft of Greater 
Manchester’s Culture Strategy be noted.                       
 

2. That the programme of consultation and results to date be noted. 
 

3. That the video commissioned about what culture meant to GM’s residents would be 
circulated to Members.  

 

Page 25



Item 4 

8 
 

4. That Members would be updated on discussions about how GM’s sporting heritage 
and activities could be best handled strategically. 

 
5. That it be recommended that the final GM Culture Strategy: 

 

 Had fewer priorities; 

 Included a definition of ‘culture’; 

 Outlined how GM was going to achieve the aims and ambitions set out in the 
Strategy; 

 Gave consideration as to whether sport was included in the Strategy, and if not, 
made the narrative around this clearer; 

 Included case studies and research evidence related to culture and school 
readiness; and 

 Included Robert Bolt, Annie Kenny, James Joule and Salford Lads Club in the list 
of ‘well known’ people. 

  
E104/18  GM INTERNATIONALISATION STRATEGY UPDATE   
 
Councillor Ebrahim Adia introduced the GM Internationalisation Strategy Update which provided 
the Committee with an update on the progress with implementation of the Internationalisation 
Strategy, with particular focus on the Cultural Strategy. An additional brief update on other 
strands of the Internationalisation Strategy alongside a RAG rating of progress had been 
circulated to the Committee and the Chair commented that progress was positive and the further 
update had been helpful.  
 
Other key strands of the Internationalisation Strategy, for example foreign direct investment and 
increasing student numbers, had the potential to be impacted by Brexit, and in this context 
culture would become increasingly important. GM’s cultural offer is a significant draw for 
international visitors and it was highlighted that GM was now the third most visited place in the 
UK after London and Edinburgh. Additionally, Manchester Airport was highlighted as being a 
success story, both in route development and increased passenger numbers. However, Visit 
Britain have indicated that UK forward bookings are down by approximately 11%, in light of this 
GM will bring forward a range of strategic and market focused initiatives to drive future growth, 
including leisure and trade marketing campaigns and bidding for large international conferences.  
The accommodation market in GM remained buoyant and the importance of attracting and 
increasing international visitor numbers to GM, to maintain this, was stressed.  
 
Members had the following questions and comments: 
 

 2019 was the bi-centenary anniversary of the Peterloo massacre and it was asked 
whether consideration had been given to how this was commemorated and to promote 
the history of GM in general. Peterloo was on the agenda for Marketing Manchester event 
planning/agenda for 2019 and Marketing Manchester also continued to focus on the 
radical traditions of GM in history and movements that began in GM. Members also 
requested that when commemorating Peterloo other areas in GM were considered, 
alongside central Manchester as many people attended from outlying areas, including 
Wigan, Rochdale and Oldham.   

 Was there an update available for arrangements for MIPIM in 2019, specifically around 
commercial sponsors, local authority/GMCA funding and overall costs? Members were 

Page 26



Item 4 

9 
 

informed that the final format was in the initial development stages and that once this 
had progressed further an update would be provided to the Committee.  

 Members were pleased to see the statement of intent about how GM can use culture as 
a key differentiator and asset for the City Region (outlined in section 4.2) and the 
emphasis on a history of the radical. It was also felt that the history of the region should 
be more accessible to all and that it was important this was communicated to GM 
residents so they were aware of the history of this region.  

 GM should emphasise scientific inventions and history of innovation in GM to attract 
visitors and in relation to this it was asked whether GM, particularly the Universities, were 
planning any events around the 200th anniversary of James Joule. Marketing Manchester 
recognised that science and innovation was a draw to the region, particularly to 
international businesses. Members were informed that GM had been successful in their 
bid for the International Veterinarians Conference which would be held here from 2021 
onwards and part of the pitch had involved selling Manchester as a ‘science’ city.  

 That hotel occupancy rates were very positive and the provision of more beds to the city 
indicated business confidence in GM.  

 Had any consideration been given to attracting visitors to hotels in other local authorities 
within GM (apart from Manchester) and/or promoting attractions in other areas? 
Attracting visitors to other areas within GM by promoting events/attractions was one 
model of developing a bigger hotel base. Good transport links were also highlighted as 
essential to this, to capitalise on visitors staying in other areas being able to travel round 
the city-region easily. Marketing Manchester were in discussions with Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM) about the use of transport network infrastructure to move 
people around GM better and encourage visitors to use public transport to visit other 
places in GM, for example by developing a travel pass to visitors.  

 The high turnover of staff in the hospital industry was highlighted and it was asked 
whether there were any awards ceremonies at a GM level for employees to recognise 
their contributions. The Manchester Hotel Association Awards gave awards to staff and 
included staff from any hotel who were a member of the association. Membership was 
open to hotels based in local authorities across GM. Challenges around the retention of 
staff and training and development were acknowledged and collaborative work was 
underway to review this and assess any actions which could be taken around staffing in 
the hospitality industry.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the update on the GM Internationalisation Plan mid-term review and Member’s 
comments be noted. 

 
E105/18 REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Register of Key Decisions be noted.  
 
E106/18 BREXIT MONITOR (Item 19) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

Page 27



Item 4 

10 
 

That the Brexit Monitor be noted.  
 
E107/18 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Friday 11th January 2019, 2.00 – 4.00pm, Boardroom, Churchgate House, Oxford Road, 
Manchester, M1 6EU 

Page 28



Item 4 

1 
 

 
 
 

GMCA ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
11 JANUARY 2019 AT 3.00 PM AT TRAFFORD TOWN HALL 

 
 
Present:   Councillor Michael Holly (Rochdale) (in the Chair) 
 
Bolton:   Councillor Susan Haworth 
Bury:   Councillor Robert Caserta  
Bury:   Councillor Mary Whitby   
Oldham:  Councillor Chris Goodwin 
Oldham:   Councillor Valerie Leach 
Rochdale:  Councillor Daniel Meredith 
Salford:  Councillor Tanya Burch (substitute) 
Stockport:  Councillor Mark Hunter 
Trafford:  Councillor Barry Brotherton 
Tameside:  Councillor Yvonne Cartey  
 
In attendance  
 
GMCA Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 

Apprenticeships  
   Tony Oakman, Portfolio Lead Chief Executive for Digital, City Region  

Simon Nokes, Executive Director Policy & Strategy 
Phil Swan, Chief Information Officer 
Gemma Marsh, Assistant Director – Skills (Policy, Strategy, Delivery) 
Mat Ainsworth, Assistant Director – Employment (Policy, Strategy, 
Delivery) 

   Emma Stonier, Governance and Scrutiny Officer  
   
DWP   Nick Mellor 
   Tim Haworth  
 
E01/19  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Luke Raikes (Manchester), Karen Garrido 
(Salford), Kate Lewis (Salford), Charles Rigby (Wigan) and Jude Wells (Stockport).  
 
E02/19  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
  
The Chair had requested updates on the following items of urgent business: 
 

a. Brexit 
 
Simon Nokes, Executive Director Policy and Strategy, GMCA, provided an update on 
Brexit. The Government will hold the key vote on Tuesday 15th January 2019. If this is not 
successful further plans will be brought back within three days. The Growth Company is 

Page 29



Item 4 

2 
 

undertaking a substantial amount of work with businesses around preparedness for 29th 
March, working with the Department for International Trade (DIT). There is also a GM 
public sector group looking at preparedness of key GM organisations.  There will be a 
substantial item on Brexit at the GMCA meeting at the end of January and Scrutiny will 
receive a further update at their meeting in February.  
 
Members asked whether there would be a more substantive Brexit update at the next 
meeting as this was not currently on the work programme. In addition to the monthly 
Brexit Monitor Brexit updates are scheduled into the work programme every 6 months; 
the Chair has requested that updates on Brexit are provided under Chair’s 
announcements, over the coming few months.  
 

b. Future of GM  
 

Members had received the Future of GM report for information. This was discussed at 
the GMCA meeting earlier and sets out the strategic context for taking forward key plans 
as part of the implementation of the Greater Manchester Strategy. The suite of 
documents circulated included; the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF); 
Transport Strategy 2040 Delivery Plan and Mayoral Development Corporations (MDCs). A 
package of measures was outlined which all have the ambition to keep GM moving 
forward.  
 
A Member stated that Stockport was the first Mayoral Development Corporation and 
noted their appreciation and thanks for the support and assistance received. This was 
highlighted as being an exciting opportunity and they looked forward to receiving further 
updates at this Committee around progress of this work.  
 

E03/19  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest received.  
 
E04/19  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 DECEMBER 2018 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 December 2018 were submitted for approval.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the last meeting held on 7 December 2018 be approved as a correct record. 
 
E05/19 WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Simon Nokes, Executive Director Policy and Strategy, GMCA, introduced the work programme. 
An updated work programme for February and March 2019 had been circulated to Member’s 
prior to the meeting. 
 
It was proposed that the February update on the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) was for 
information only, based on the CA report that would be published the previous day, and that a 
detailed debate about the LIS was scheduled for the March meeting, as more detail would be 
available to share at this stage. Members were also asked about the item on February’s work 

Page 30



Item 4 

3 
 

programme about women’s employability.  GM was proposing to undertake some work on 
women and equality, with a paper due to be considered at the February GMCA meeting. It was 
suggested that the Committee also received this paper for discussion at the February meeting.  
 
Members requested that an update on the impact of Brexit on Manchester Airport, be added to 
the work programme, together with a potential site visit to the airport to be explored.  
 
Members had requested that the Mayor attended the March meeting and this was currently 
being progressed by the Governance and Scrutiny Officer.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the proposed changes to the work programme be approved.  
 

2. That a Manchester Airport update be scheduled into the work programme.  
 
3. That the potential for the Committee to visit Manchester Airport be explored.  

 
E06/19  GREATER MANCHESTER DIGITAL STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION UPDATE 
 
Tony Oakman, Portfolio Lead Chief Executive, Digital – City Region, presented a report that 
updated and sought Member’s views on progress in the implementation of the Greater 
Manchester Digital Strategy. Members were specifically asked to review and provide feedback 
on the actions that had been taken to implement the Greater Manchester Digital Strategy since 
its approval in February 2018. 
 
Key areas highlighted included: 
 

 Progress overall has generally been positive. 

 Resident engagement and research around data sharing has taken place and the 
permissions around sharing this information with the Committee will be explored. This 
was highlighted as being key to ensuring residents were supportive of this work. Concerns 
raised by some residents about the risks of data sharing were acknowledged, as were the 
opportunities data sharing presents.  

 The additional £3m of funding awarded to GM in the Autumn Budget statement for a 
digital skills pilot to be developed in conjunction with other partners, including 
businesses.  

 GM has secured c.£25m investment to support the growth and implementation of full 
fibre. A plan and approach has been agreed to ensure that all ten GM local authorities 
have enhanced connectivity. It is expected that the majority of public sector buildings 
across GM will have full fibre connectivity in future. GM is awaiting approval from the 
Department for Media, Culture and Sport (DCMS) to go out to procurement and once 
received Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) will be leading on this. This was 
highlighted as being a significant point in the delivery programme, key to the Local 
Industrial Strategy and crucial for GMs ability to compete at national and international 
level.  

 Upcoming areas of focus included Smart Residents, which was a programme designed to 
support different areas of public services to become more joined up. Funding streams 

Page 31



Item 4 

4 
 

have been identified and Members will be updated once further information became 
available.  

 The Digital Steering Group Board membership, terms of reference and purpose were 
currently being reviewed to ensure it was aligned with work taking place across GM.  

 
Members comments and questions included the following: 
 

 Members supported the ambition around data sharing and asked how confident GM 
were that progress would begin to be made towards achieving this. Key components, 
such as the white paper on public service reform including a place based approach, and 
the Smart Residents programme, which has bought different organisations together, 
were highlighted as drivers for this work which may not have been there in the past. 
Members were informed that there was now an Interoperability Board, chaired by the 
Portfolio Lead Chief Executive and Jon Rouse, Chief Officer, Greater Manchester Health 
and Social Care Partnership, looking at areas such as procurement, to drive delivery and 
implementation across organisations. GM were also ensuring that front line services and 
residents were involved in the development of this work.   

 Had consideration been given to installing full fibre within new housing developments 
were under construction? Work taking place at a GM level, around infrastructure 
strategy, will be looking at this as their work develops. It was the GM view that full fibre 
should be seen as a utility, in the same way as water and electricity, and should be built 
into new development. GM was also working towards a consistent approach to 
infrastructure construction (a ‘one dig’ approach) which would make it easier and faster 
for companies to invest in digital infrastructure across GM.  

 In a previous Digital Update 5 digital working groups had been referred to and it was 
asked whether these groups were still in existence? The working groups had been set up 
as task and finish groups with a specific focus and were not intended to continue once 
their remit had come to an end. Recently a digital skills group had been convened to 
assist with progressing this work.  

 Were GM undertaking any work around supporting young people with disabilities to 
access digital opportunities?  GM was undertaking work to reduce the barriers to 
accessing digital opportunities, which should create opportunities for those young 
people with disabilities. It was also stated that the arrival of Government Communication 
Headquarters (GCHQ) in Manchester should be positive for increasing opportunities as 
they were the largest employer of autistic people in the country. The GM digital skills 
work has targeted young people with Asperger’s and Autism. It was also felt that GM was 
improving the way it used different strategies to support individuals and that targeted 
focus and support for individuals, to increase access to opportunities, was improving.   

 What steps have been taken to improve full fibre coverage in rural areas of GM? Once 
full fibre has been installed internet coverage will improve across the board. Public sector 
buildings will be the basis of coverage and these are well distributed across GM. There 
was a heat map which shows access across GM and this will be shared with Members.  It 
is also hoped that once this work begins it will encourage further digital infrastructure 
investment into the region. It was also noted that there was a significant amount of 
investment from telecoms companies due to come into the region.  

 Could concerns regarding Huawei and 5G affect GMs strategy? GM was working closely 
with the National Cyber Security Centre and GCHQ, and taking direct guidance from them 
in relation to this. GM has to take guidance from GCHQ and the Department for Culture 
Media and Sport (DCMS) about this and will ensure it complied with national judgements. 

Page 32



Item 4 

5 
 

Developments in other countries around Huawei were also being monitored closely. It 
was also important to ensure that infrastructure was not developed in GM that would 
inhibit future growth.  

 Was the 25% target for Fibre to the Premises (FTTP), by the end of 2020, for commercial 
or domestic premises? And how will the programme achieve this by 2020? Funding 
received from Government will enable copper based connections to public sector assets 
to be replaced driving this work forward. Additionally, the location of GCHQ provides GM 
with an advantage in terms of cyber security.  

 How will GM position itself at the forefront of 5G mobile? Members were updated that 
GM had not been not successful in their bid to Government around this. However, there 
has been a significant amount of private sector investment into GM, including the 
opening of a 5G innovation centre in Media City by Vodafone and a 5G test bed. Over the 
coming months there will also be further announcements about digital infrastructure 
investment in the region.  

 To what extent was GM working with the Association of Small Businesses’ around this 
work programme? GM was working closely with Manchester Digital which has 
representatives from a broad range of Small, Medium, Enterprises (SMEs). The digital 
futures work was also looking at how GM connects with businesses and schools.  In terms 
of the skills agenda engagement with SMES was vital, to ensure that young people were 
leaving school with the relevant qualifications and skills to take up careers in the digital 
sector. Officers also emphasised that this programme was in the initial stages (the 
procuring of full fibre) and that following this it was intended that the digital strategy will 
be reviewed to ensure GMs long-term strategic ambitions and delivery was reflected in 
the strategy.  

 Media City, Salford was an important national asset in GM and it was asked whether this 
was being utilised to full effect in driving the digital work. Other themes of work within 
GM were reviewing how GM assets could be used to drive ambitions. For example, the 
Local Industrial Strategy will outline how assets in GM can drive economic growth and 
how they can be used to contribute to the UK economy. The LIS will also outline GMs 
ambition to exploit its digital strengths more fully.  

 Progress in the report was at GM level and there was no detail included for local authority 
level.  Some areas were performing better than others but progress/development across 
the board was being seen. GM have encouraged all local authorities to implement IDEA 
and half of them have picked this up. Additionally, most areas in GM now have their own 
Digital Strategy which was a positive sign.  Members requested future reports included 
detail by exception in relation to any concerns about local authority progress, 
engagement of schools and connectivity.  

 What was felt to be the biggest concern/risk to the success of this work? The 10 Local 
Authorities agreeing on the approach to future investment was highlighted as being 
crucial to the success of this work. One of the biggest future challenges highlighted was 
making sure that, once procurement was complete, the funding met the expected 
outcomes, but it was felt that the partnership approach taken by GM was a key strength 
to achieving these ambitions.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the update on progress towards implementation of the Greater Manchester Digital 
Strategy be noted.  
 

Page 33



Item 4 

6 
 

2. That GM will explore whether resident engagement research findings can be shared with 
the Committee. 
 

3. That the internet coverage heat map be shared with Members.  
 

4. That future reports included detail by exception around concerns about local authority 
progress, school engagement and connectivity.   

 
E07/19 WELFARE REFORM 
 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and Apprenticeships 
presented a report that provided Members with an update on welfare reform and the roll out of 
Universal Credit in Greater Manchester, the latest monitoring of the impacts of those changes 
and an overview of changes following the Autumn Budget.  
 
Councillor Sean Fielding introduced Nick Mellor and Tim Haworth, Department of Work and 
Pensions (DWP) who were in attendance to give a presentation on Welfare Reform, the impact 
of Universal Credit locally and actions being taken locally to mitigate negative impacts. The 
positive relationships GM had developed with relevant Government departments were also 
highlighted as being extremely important, allowing GM to have an amount of flexibility locally, 
which has assisted with reducing some of the negative impacts of welfare reform.  
 
Key items from Nick Mellor and Tim Haworth’s presentations included the following: 
 

 The DWP had undertaken work to form one GM district that reflected the geography of 
the GMCA and recognised local authority boundaries. This was carried out to assist with 
the GM ambition to work at a ‘place’ level.  

 GM Job Centre Plus District Business Plan incorporates DWP objectives and GM objectives 
outlined in the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS). Job Centre Plus in GM are committed 
to partnership working. Some of the enablers for this were noted as being: co-location 
with key partners and the joint delivery of programmes.  

 Some of the projects which supported the ambitions of the GMS included: Talent Match 
and Youth Panel Review, Duty to Refer (with JCP recently highlighted as the highest 
referrer in GM), Work and Health programmes and Armed Forces and ex-service 
personnel support.  

 Local programmes supported the mainstream JCP programme of work, as it continued to 
develop in the context of the development and further roll out of Universal Credit.  

 Challenges with the roll out of Universal Credit were acknowledged. There had been 
changes introduced since it began to reduce some of these which since 2017 included the 
removal of telephony charges and waiting days.  

 The digital platform was highlighted as being positive for those who could access it.  

 An integrated telephony system has been introduced which means when clients ring the 
call is routed to the case manager dealing with their claim. Case managers also work with 
the relevant work coach in local job centres.  

 The work and dedication of Job Centre Plus staff in supporting people was highlighted.  

 Locally JCP had communicated to staff to carefully consider the use of sanctions for 
claimants.  

 

Page 34



Item 4 

7 
 

The Chair thanked both Nick and Tim for attending the Scrutiny Committee and providing 
Members with a comprehensive update.  
 
Members questions and comments included the following: 
 

 Would the additional support, for Universal Credit, announced in the Autumn Budget, 
reach claimants and provide assistance and support, or be incorporated into 
departmental budgets? The additional funding will be given to the DWP and then will 
work its way down to operational services.  

 Anecdotal evidence indicated that sanctions were still occurring in GM. In relation to the 
provision of evidence and appointments the message being communicated to GM job 
centres was that customers can drop in and provide any outstanding information as they 
wish to. There was also an expectation that all customers be seen as quickly as possible. 
Members were also informed that there is a Quality Assurance Framework in place which 
enables the use of sanctions to be monitored. Additionally, if complaints about sanctions 
are received team leaders within Job Centres investigate these. The number of sanctions 
given out in GM has also dropped significantly over the last couple of years.  

 Has any action been taken around supporting those clients/customers who were not 
digitally literate or not able to access online facilities due to poor connectivity/lack of 
services to support this? Universal Credit was touted as a digital service and customers 
were encouraged to make claims online, however, customers were able to use alternative 
methods to make contact about Universal Credit claims.  

 
Members discussed the Welfare Reform dashboard and noted that this was a useful document. 
Further comments and questions about the dashboard included the following: 
 

 Whether the figures (in the May 2018 table) for those who had received low level 
sanctions included people who may have received repeat sanctions? It was confirmed 
that the data in the table could include those who had received low level sanctions a 
number of times. Furthermore, a number of this cohort may also have received work 
programme sanctions.  

 What were the reasons for the almost 80% reduction in discretionary social funds across 
local authorities in GM over the past 8 years? Were there any actions which GM could 
take to alleviate the impact of this reduction? Members were informed that previously 
this scheme had been administered by DWP and once the scheme came to an end 
nationally the responsibility passed to local authorities, without additional funding or 
statutory duties attached to it. Local authorities were able to decide which elements they 
continued with and therefore different local authorities have taken different approaches 
to what they offer. GM was currently looking at this across the piece to see whether it 
would be possible to introduce a level of consistency in provision across GM. Members 
were pleased to note that this work was taking place and highlighted that this issue was 
not exclusively related to national policy decisions.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the latest Greater Manchester Welfare Reform dashboard analysis be noted. 
 

2. That the changes introduced at the Autumn Budget be noted. 
 

Page 35



Item 4 

8 
 

3. That the information provided by the Jobcentre Plus on the local approach to delivering 
welfare reform be noted.  

 
E08/19 GREATER MANCHESTER SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020 PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
Councillor Sean Fielding introduced a report that updated Members on the latest position on the 
Round 2 applications for Skills Capital funding from Bolton College, LTE Group, Wigan & Leigh 
College, Oldham College and the Round 1 application from Bury College. The devolution of Skills 
Capital funding was an example of an area where GM could allocate funding to support local 
priorities and need.  
 
Members questions and comments included the following: 
 

 In the previous Skills Capital update to the Committee, about Round 1 funding, 9 bids had 
been referenced and Members were unclear whether all these had progressed. It was 
confirmed that the 9 referred to in Round 1 had been expressions of interest and that not 
all of these had progressed to the next stage.  

 Section 1.3 stated that once Round 2 had been completed there will be a good coverage 
of sector skills across the region. Members asked whether it was felt that funding had 
been mapped well across the city region, as it appeared that the North of GM was less 
well served. GM had worked with colleges to ensure that local area demand and need 
was understood. GM was working hard to take a more strategic approach to the 
allocation of funding, since its devolution. Additionally, constraints regarding funding 
criteria were highlighted, as was the fact that some estates in GM were in better condition 
than others.  Overall it was felt GM was being more strategic about what, how and where 
projects were delivered and that the funding being agreed/proposed aligned with the 
needs of GM.  

 Oldham College were expected to receive a significant amount of funding, despite 
financial difficulties in the past, and the bid from Hopwood Hall College, an organisation 
with good financial management, had not progressed further. Members were informed 
that Hopwood Hall College had put in an initial bid and that this had subsequently been 
withdrawn by the college. Oldham College had been an exceptional case and the strategic 
case was still being worked on currently. This was also HMIC compliant. Members stated 
that feedback from Rochdale had indicated that Hopwood Hall College withdrew their bid 
due to the fact they could not secure matched funding under the terms of the 
arrangement. Concerns about the bid criteria were also highlighted, as some areas in GM 
had smaller pools of businesses who could provide match funding. The bid had also 
related to advanced manufacturing which was one of the priority areas for the GM LIS.  
Members were informed that exceptional cases had been open to everybody applying for 
skills capital funding. Additionally, the Wigan bid included elements of advanced 
manufacturing, as had the Salford bid which received funding in the previous round. The 
Committee were also informed that matched funding conditions had been essential to 
securing funding from Government, when bidding for this, and were reminded that the 
criteria for Skills Capital had come to this Scrutiny committee, before receiving final 
approval from the Combined Authority. Officers informed the Committee that they would 
contact Hopwood Hall College to clarify the reason behind the withdrawal of their bid.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

Page 36



Item 4 

9 
 

1. That the update be noted of the Round 2 Skills Capital programme with particular focus 
on LTE Group and Wigan who would seek approval in principal at the January 2019 GMCA. 

2. That Officers would seek clarity from Hopwood Hall College around the withdrawal of 
their Skills Capital funding bid.  

 
E09/19 FUTURE OF GREATER MANCHESTER  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Future of GM report be noted.  
 
E10/19  REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Register of Key Decisions be noted.  
 
E11/19  BREXIT MONITOR 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Brexit Monitor be noted.  
 
E12/19 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Friday 8th February 2019, 2.00 – 4.00pm, Boardroom, GMCA Offices, Churchgate House, Oxford 
Road, Manchester, M1 6EU 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

DRAFT GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY (GMCA) 

CORPORATE ISSUES AND REFORM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

11 DECEMBER 2018 AT 6.00PM AT GMCA OFFICES 

 

 

Present:   Councillor Nathan Evans (Trafford) (in the Chair) 

Bolton:   Councillor Hamid Khurram 

Bury:   Councillor Stella Smith 

Manchester:  Councillor Annette Wright 

Oldham:  Councillor Colin McLaren 

Councillor Peter Davis (Substitute)  

Rochdale:  Councillor Peter Malcolm 

Salford:  Councillor David Jolley 

Stockport:   Councillor Linda Holt 

Councillor Yvonne Guariento 

Trafford:   Councillor Bernard Sharpe (Substitute) 

Tameside:  Councillor Gillian Peet 

Councillor John Bell 

Wigan:   Councillor Joanne Marshall 

  

 

In attendance  

Bury Council   Councillor Rishi Shori, Portfolio Leader for Young People 

   Geoff Little, Portfolio Chief Executive for Young People  

Salford City Council Charlotte Ramsden, Strategic Director  

GMFRS   Leon Parkes, Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

   Tony Hunter, Director of Prevention and Protection 

TfGM   Steve Warrener, TfGM Finance and Corporate Services Director 

   Alison Chew, Interim Head of Bus Services  

GMCA   Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer 

Susan Ford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer  

   Jamie Fallon, Governance and Scrutiny Officer  

    

CI62/18  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Tim Pickstone (Bury), Mary Watson 

(Manchester), Anne Duffield (Trafford) and Jim Wallace (GMFRS).    

 

CI63/18  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 

No urgent business was raised.  

 

CI64/18  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

Declarations of interest were received from Councillor John Bell regarding the GMFRS related 

items; Quarter 2 Performance (CI69) and Unwanted Fire Signals (CI70). 

 

CI65/18  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20 NOVEMBER 2018 

 

Item 4 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



2 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2018 were submitted for approval. 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2018 be approved as a correct record.  

 

CI66/18 WORK PROGRAMME  

 

Susan Ford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, introduced the work programme.  

 

Members were informed that the Chair’s and Deputy Chair’s of the Scrutiny Committee’s had 

met on the 10 December, where it was proposed that the following items be included within the 

work programme:  

 

 GMCA’s Corporate Resilience and Brexit (January or February 19) 

 That this Committee support the work of the HPE on waste for the next 6 months where 

required (tbc) 

 Transport governance decision making (approx. March 19)  

 

Members were asked to contact the Statutory Scrutiny Officer with any further items for 

inclusion in the work programme.   

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the reconfigured work programme be agreed.  

   

CI67/18 GM CHILDREN’S PLAN   

 

Councillor Rishi Shori, Portfolio Leader for Young People, introduced a report which provided an 

update on the progress, in respect of the GM children’s work and sought agreement for 

progressing the Children’s Plan and funding proposals to the GMCA.    

 

Also in attendance was Geoff Little, Portfolio Chief Executive for Young People and Charlotte 

Ramsden, Strategic Director for People, Salford City Council. It was noted that Jon Rouse, 

Portfolio Chief Executive for Young People was also part of the team progressing this work.  

 

The following key areas where highlighted:  

 

 The Children’s Plan outlines GM’s ambition for outcomes for the children and young people 

in GM and sets out seven key priority areas of focus which reflect the existing priorities of the  

Greater Manchester Strategy and GM Children’s Health and Wellbeing Framework.  

 The Plan seeks to define key areas of ambition with clear and deliverable outcomes that will 

form the basis of the delivery plans.  

 The work was being local authority led, and engaged each districts Cabinet Members for 

Young People, as well as their Directors of Children’s Services.  

 Business cases have been developed for the use of the £5m of the £7.43m resource allocated 

by DfE to the GMCA (as summarised within appendix 2 of the report). These will enable the 

scale and spread of successful innovations to support specific areas of work included in the 

plan.  

Page 40



3 

 

 

Members raised the following questions:  

 

 A Member queried how the innovation theme had been selected for each local authority? It 

was confirmed each local authority engaged in a two part process with the National 

Innovation Unit which involved a diagnostic to identify the innovation/s appropriate to them. 

This was followed by workshops in which the local authority and partners worked to develop 

their approach and identify priorities for investment.  It was noted that the approach 

acknowledged that each local authority had different demographics, and its own challenges 

which required a tailored approach.  

 Would this approach cause tension, in particularly where one area achieves better outcomes, 

and would there be pressure for local authorities to follow suit using the same innovations? 

In terms of sovereignty, it was confirmed that local authorities were given the ability to adapt 

the model to suit the individual place but it was noted that DfE were working closely with GM 

to ensure that we remain true to the key principles of the models, as there would be an 

element of evaluation. It was highlighted that without the DfE funding each locality would 

have to focus on their statutory responsibilities and this funding would enable them to add 

value to that offer. 

 Do local authorities and the GMCA plan on briefing Councillors, and affording them the 

opportunity to share their views about this innovation work? A Member who sits on Salford’s 

Corporate Parenting Panel highlighted that he was unaware that Salford proposes to use an 

existing Children’s Home as a ‘No Wrong Door Hub’. Charlotte Ramsden responded to 

confirm that the high level plans had been approved by Lead Members, but further work was 

required to develop the detail. It was noted that Members would be engaged during the next 

phase of work.  

 What would the extra £150k be used for? It was confirmed that the money would be used to 

fund Research in Practice to help us learn from the innovative approaches and share best 

practice. 

 Members of the School Readiness Task and Finish Group highlighted how they have been 

examining the progress of the priority to support its development. This work had highlighted 

gaps in provision and a shortfall in resources which were currently being addressed. A visit to 

Stockport that morning had reinforced the importance of an inclusive model and the need 

for the different partners to work collaboratively. Have baselines been identified to enable 

progress to be measured over time?  It was confirmed that through a mix of bringing together 

more data and intelligence, and more sophisticated approaches to measurement, we are 

gradually getting a clearer view of impact of our services. A range of data, insight and 

evaluation will therefore be used so that we can be clear that we are delivering on the 

priorities of the plan. Complementing the work undertaken by individual authorities, a GM 

performance and outcomes framework would also be developed for the Plan’s six priorities, 

aligned to the GM Strategy, Taking Charge and other relevant plans. Members requested that 

the current data sets be shared with the Committee.  

 A Member highlighted that the GMS Dashboard considered at the previous meeting indicated 

that there had only been 0.5% percentage point change on the previous year in relation to 

‘the proportion of children who are school ready at five years old (2018). It was highlighted 

that the new GM delivery model had been implemented in 2013, and had made an impact, 

but there was recognition that a significant part of the gap related to the proportion of 

children with the most complex needs, and a different approach was required to support this 

cohort. Other factors to consider were the: different levels of investment across localities; 

variances in the cohort; a reduction in local authority funding; and an associated increase in 

Page 41



4 

 

child poverty. It was confirmed that the data was continually being analysed in order to test 

our approach and see how we can make a difference. This included exploring how 

interventions could be implemented to support those children at key stages one and two. 

The Committee requested further background information to support their understanding of 

the statistics detailed within the GMS Dashboard.   

 Further clarification was sought in relation to how we are addressing workforce shortages 

such as the shortfall in qualified psychologists. It was confirmed that the social work academy 

had been developed in partnership with local authorities, colleges and universities in GM to 

develop the quality of training, and offer guaranteed placements within localities. It was 

noted that although this would mean that local authorities were employing a high number of 

newly qualified workers, they would be trained to deliver to GM standards. It was confirmed 

that forecasting was being undertaken to understand future needs and develop appropriate 

pathways to develop GM’s workforce.   

 A Member raised concerns regarding the outcomes for children who are excluded from 

school and explored whether relationships with schools had been developed to improve the 

outcomes for this cohort of children. It was confirmed that increasing the quality of education 

and educational achievement, especially in secondary schools, was a priority and developing 

an inclusive schools system was crucial. Work is underway with all schools to encourage 

inclusivity. Part of this work includes providing an element of challenge, where they feel that 

exclusion is necessary, but also supporting them to identify more ways to support the children 

within schools more effectively. It was noted that the Education and Employability Board was 

supporting this work, to enable as many children to receive a quality education in a 

mainstream setting, but where this is not possible, ensuring that there is a right mix of 

alternatives available.   

 How are we managing the relationships with schools to encourage them to refer 

appropriately to Collaborative Assessment and Management of Suicidality (CAMS)? It was 

confirmed that there is a robust Children’s Mental Health strategy which includes support for 

schools, and overseeing the relationship with CAMS. It was noted that CAMS data (on waiting 

times and referrals) will be regularly published. One of the measures of success was the 

increase in the number of appropriate referrals to CAMs, which would demonstrate that the 

work we are doing is having the right impact. It was noted that there had been an increase in 

appropriate referrals recently, which over time would hopefully reduce waiting times. The 

opportunities and benefits resulting from having joint executive leads from both health and 

local authorities sectors were highlighted.  It was agreed that a presentation on the Children’s 

Mental Health Strategy would be circulated to the Committee.  

 Are school teachers receiving training which will enable them to appropriately identify 

referrals to CAMS? It was confirmed that training was being rolled out and leads within 

schools had being identified.  

 

RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the report be noted. 

  

2. That the Committee support the implementation of the 10 innovation scale and spread 

business cases and support the release of the £5m of the DfE funding for those to be 

implemented by agreeing to £500k for each authority which will be used in accordance 

with their business plan.  

 

Page 42



5 

 

3. That the Committee support the release of the £150k to support the development of 

independent learning from the work. 

 

4. That the Committee recommend that the GMCA endorse the Children’s Plan and agree 

to the release of the funding to assist with the delivery in accordance with the business 

plans. 

 

5. That further information on the Children’s Mental Health Strategy would be circulated to 

the Committee.  

 

6. That further information on the data currently available in relation to the priority areas 

be circulated to the Committee.  

 

7. That further information relating to the rationale for school readiness statistics detailed 

within the GMS Dashboard be circulated to the Committee.  

 

 

 

CI68/18 GREATER MANCHESTER FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE Q2 PERFORMANCE

   

Leon Parkes, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on the Greater Manchester Fire and 

Rescue Service (GMFRS) quarter 2 performance during 2018/19 against the development and 

delivery goals contained within the Corporate and Integrated Risk Management Plan 2016/20. 

 

The following key points were highlighted:  

 

 GMFRS attended a total of 9,025 incidents (fires, false alarms and special service calls) during 

quarter 2, an increase of 9.14% when compared with quarter 2 during 2017/18. The increase 

was mainly associated with the increase in fires, particularly from moorland fires, related to 

the unseasonably hot weather, although an increase in false alarms had also been observed. 

Special service calls had seen a reduction.  

 The average response time was 5 minutes 49 seconds, which exceeded the target of 5 

minutes 45 seconds and was higher than the 5 minutes 30 seconds during the same quarter 

in 20017/18. There were a number of protracted incidents which have impacted on overall 

response time, particularly during the month of July during the moorland incidents.  

 Sadly three people died as a result of a fire in quarter 2, compared with six fire related deaths 

in quarter 2 2017/18. All three were accidental in nature and occurred in dwellings, but the 

victims were known to other services.  

 Quarter 2 has seen a total of 3,830 false alarms recorded, an increase of 329 (9.4%) when 

compared to quarter 2 in 2017/18; 1427 of all false alarms were FADAs (non-domestic), 

compared with 1550 during the same period in 2017/18. 

 The overall sickness absence during quarter 2 was 4.16% which is a reduction of 0.95% when 

compared to quarter 2 in 2017/18. Mental health and Musculo-skeletal injuries remain the 

main reasons for time lost to sickness. GMFRS promotes stress counselling, employee 

assistance programmes, occupational health services and rehabilitation progressing, using 

flexible working options/ improved work life balance, make changes to working patters or 

environment and have a capability procedure to support employees.  

Page 43



6 

 

 There had been 27 hostilities towards GMFRS personnel reported during quarter 2. This 

measure was extended on 1 April 2018 to include hostilities towards all GMFRS personnel 

and property and is therefore not comparable to 2017/18 data.  

 The Home Office Fire Service Workforce and pensions report published in October 2018 

advises; that in 2017/18 10.5% of new firefighters in England were female. In GMFRS this 

figure is 31%, the second highest percentage of new female recruits in England, and the 

highest when compared to Fire services in other metropolitan authorities. In terms of BAME 

figures the England figures was 5% compared to the GMFRS figures of 41% which 

demonstrates that the talent and attraction work is having a significant positive impact.  

 

The following questions and suggestions were raised: 

 

 Has an analysis of the impact that amalgamating the North West Control has had on 

attendance times been conducted? It was confirmed that no specific analysis had been 

conducted, but it was highlighted that the technology used within the Regional Fire Control 

Centre was new and more advanced, noting that every fire engine has been fitted with GPS 

technology and the control centre will mobilise the quickest and nearest fire engine. In some 

cases this could mean mobilising a fire engine from another area. It was confirmed that 

further enhancements were planned to take place next year which would improve the 

location accuracy to five metres noting that further information would be provided in due 

course.  

 How long does the recruitment process take? It was confirmed that the overall process could 

take in the region of two to three months, as it encompasses a number of stages; from the 

filtering a high volume of applications, to conducting physical testing, and interviewing 

candidates at the assessment centre. To reduce the length of future recruitment processes 

shortlisted applicant’s details are retained who can be called upon when further vacancies 

arise.  

 Was the lack of resource having an impact on the attrition rate? It was confirmed that there 

were a variety of reasons affecting attrition rate, which included the service’s retirement 

profile. It was highlighted that firefighters are only required to give one weeks’ notice which 

poses a challenge when succession planning however, exit interviews are conducted and 

actively monitored.  In addition, the rail industry had recently been actively targeting 

firefighters.  

 A Member expressed his disappointment regarding GMFRSs withdrawal from the Emergency 

Medical Response trial and explored whether there were any negotiations underway with 

the Fire Brigade’s Union (FBU) which sought to reinstate their support of this work? It was 

confirmed that GMFRS still respond to a significant number of incidents were they work with 

paramedics as a team, and the training was still being maintained, however, unfortunately 

they are not responding on behalf of, and with paramedics to ‘red ones’. It was confirmed 

that negotiations were underway nationally and GMFRS are monitoring its progress with 

interest. It was highlighted that GMFRS are still running the ‘Survival Academy’ and there 

‘restart the heart campaign’ aiming to provide CPR training to the every member of the 

public. As part of their work with businesses, GMFRS are also registering the locations of 

defibrillators on to the national register.   

 What was the rationale for the considerable reduction in Safe and Well visits? It was 

confirmed that there were a number of elements which had impacted on the reduction which 

included the moorland fires. Following this incident, the service went into a period of 

recovery whereby they retrieved equipment, and gave staff time to recover, and catch up 

with staff training. It was advised that Safe and Well visits continue to be successful in 

Page 44



7 

 

reducing fires within the home, but it must be recognised that crews have to prioritise their 

fire protection work. Dealing with the outcomes related to the Grenfell enquiry was a 

continuing challenge for GMFRS, noting that crews had visited all 500 hundred high rise 

buildings in GM within three months. The importance of crews becoming familiar with their 

built environments was emphasised.   

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the update on be noted.  

 

 

CI69/18 UNWANTED FIRE SIGNALS (UWFS’S) 

 

ACFO Tony Hunter, Director of Prevention and Protection, GMFRS, introduced a report which 

provided an overview of the GMFRS’s response to Automatic Fire Alarms (AFA’s).   

 

The following key points were highlighted:  

 

 In 2005, a tragic incident occurred on Liverpool Road, which involved an Eccles fire engine, 

whereby a collision occurred on the way to a false alarm where by a member of the public 

tragically lost their life.  This made GMFRS question how we respond to incidents and in terms 

of the attending incidents striking the right balance between the safety of the firefighters and 

the public.  

 A significant number of incidents attended by GMFRS are due to unwanted fire signals 

(UWFS), which could be reduced if someone checked that there was an actual fire.  

 Sending fire appliances to calls of this nature has a significant impact on GMFRS, due to the 

following reasons: 

- Fire appliances are not available to respond to genuine life threatening emergencies 

- Responding to UWFS under blue light conditions poses an unnecessary risk to staff and 

other road users 

- Operational crews are disrupted whilst undertaking other core tasks such as training and 

community safety activities 

- Financial costs are incurred for fuel and there is an associated impact on the environment 

caused by the appliance movements.  

 To address the burden and manage the risk imposed by UWFS, FRS have been engaging with 

building occupiers and owners to help encourage them to reduce the number of false alarms 

in their premises, and modified the resources that it sends in response to a call originating 

from an automatic system.  

 There are a number of different approaches taken by other North West FRS’s which include; 

not responding to any AFA’s unless backed up by a 999 call and charging property owners for 

repeat UWFS. 

 

The following questions were raised:  

 

 A Member expressed his objection in relation to moving to a policy which did not respond to 

AFA’s. Has there been any legal challenge to clarify whether GMFRS are legally required to 

respond to AFA’s?  It was confirmed that as GMFRS were one of the few FRS that still 

responded to AFA’s, it was likely that the legal challenge had taken place, however 

clarification would be sought. It was highlighted that 40% of all incidents attended were false 

Page 45



8 

 

alarms and a high percentage of these were UWFS.  In these instances, between 4 and 8 

firefighters were attending premises to check fire alarms. It was agreed that the percentage 

of UWFS would be clarified and circulated to the Committee.  

 A Member highlighted that a high volume of the false alarms related to non-domestic 

premises, noting that historically repeat offenders included schools, student accommodation, 

and hospitals. How are we tackling repeat offenders in relation to prevention and should we 

be considering implementing charging? It was confirmed that there were different 

approaches adopted, which were dependent upon the premises and the risks which applied. 

It was confirmed that in relation to hospitals and schools, GMFRS had dedicated offices who 

work with their fire safety officers to try and reduce the number of false alarms. This worked 

included supporting them to develop their fire safety strategy, but also giving warnings where 

necessary. It was noted that charging had previously been considered but as many of the 

repeat offenders were in the public sector, it was felt that it would be more effective to work 

with them to reduce the number of false alarms.  GMFRS also engage with businesses to help  

reduce the number of false actuations in their premises.   

 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the report be noted. 

 

2. That further clarification be provided to the Committee with regards to whether GMFRS are 

legally required to attend AFA’s.  

 

3. That further clarification be provided to the Committee in relation to the percentage of 

UWFA’s.  

 

CI70/18 TFGM BUDGET FOR BUS COSTS 

 

Steve Warrener, TfGM Finance and Corporate Services Director, introduced a report which 

described the budgets managed by TfGM for the delivery of Bus Services including, the Supported 

Services and Concessionary Reimbursement budgets.  

 

The following key points were highlighted:  

 

 The Supported Services Budget consists of ‘general network services’ and the schools 

network. 

 The general network includes 240 services (as at September 2018) with an annual budget for 

2018/19, net of income, of £19.2 million. 

 The schools network includes 304 contracts (as at September 2018) with an annual budget of 

£8m. These are usually in the form of resource contracts with TfGM taking the revenue risk. 

School services are provided in cases where either there is no alternative service available in 

the commercial network services. Whilst schools are now attracting pupils beyond the 

traditional catchment areas there remains a general expectation that this additional demand 

and cost will be picked up by TfGM. TfGM therefore has to manage this within the existing 

budget envelope which means that difficult choices have to be made.  

 In addition to management through TfGM, oversight of the Supported Services Budget, and 

approval of any planned changes in the network, is through the TfGMC Bus Network and 

Transport for Greater Manchester Services Sub-Committee (‘BNTS’). BNTS meets six times a 

Page 46



9 

 

year and receives reports on network performance, performance against budget and details 

of any planned changes in the network, for review and approval.  

 The funding available for the Supported Services budget has reduced by 20-25% over the last 

five years as the TfGM Levy Budget has been either cut or ‘frozen’ at a ‘cash standstill’ level 

over much of the period. Over the same period there have been significant cost pressures on 

budget due to cost inflation and service deregistrations.  

 To date, TfGM has sought to manage these pressures from within existing budgets through a 

combination of initiatives such as; seeking to ‘commercialise’ existing subsidised services; 

reducing service frequencies, whilst maintaining the overall network; delivering additional 

efficiencies in service provision through the procurement process; and seeking efficiencies in 

the school services network.  

 Although the strategies have helped to limit the impacts on the network, some service 

reductions and removals have been necessary to manage within the budgetary pressures 

noted. These have been targeted on those services with the lowest usage.  

 In addition, TfGM also provides a grant to Greater Manchester Accessible Transport Limited 

(GMATL) which makes up the majority of the funding for the for the ‘Ring and Ride’ accessible 

transport service. This funding has also come under significant pressure in the last 5 years 

and has reduced from £6m to £4.3m in the 2018/19 budget. The grant reduction has been 

managed through a number of efficiencies in the delivery of the service, including depot 

consolidation, and through increases in certain fares. All changes to fares have been made in 

consultation with GMATL customers.  

 In terms of concessionary reimbursements, the majority of the cost relates to the English 

National Concessionary Scheme (ENCTS), which provides free off-peak bus travel for 

concessionary travellers (older persons, disabled) anywhere in England. TfGM is required to 

pay for all travel from and within its boundaries on eligible services, reimbursing operators 

on the basis that they are ‘no better, no worse off’ due to the existence of the ENCTS. This is 

a statutory obligation and the scope to control cost locally is very limited.  

 However, TfGM has sought to manage its ‘risk’ in relation to future costs by seeking more 

cost certainty through the agreement of ‘fixed cost’ or ‘fixed rate’ reimbursement 

agreements with the major operators.  

 The costs incurred in connection with Bus Reform are currently being funded from Earnback 

Revenue and Reserves and Mayoral Capacity funding. The forecast costs in 2018/19 are £6m.  

 

Members asked the following questions to Steve Warrener and Alison Chew, Interim Head of 

Bus Services who was also in attendance:  

 

 Further clarity was required in relation to ‘Ring and Ride’ and whether consolidating depots 

was a false economy due to the additional fuel costs and additional travel time for drivers. It 

was confirmed that TfGM had worked closely with GMATL regarding the proposed changes 

and the changes had been subject to a detailed appraisal. This work had concluded that it 

was more beneficial for GMATL to consolidate the depots.  

 Had staff retention been affected by the consolidation of the depots? It was confirmed that 

staff were consulted on the proposed changes and the changes had not resulted in a 

significant loss of staff. However, attrition was an ongoing challenge for the service in terms 

of recruitment.  

 How much does the enhanced GM concessionary schemes on Metrolink and Rail cost and 

was this sustainable? It was confirmed that there were additional concessions on Metrolink 

and Rail which were factored into the budgets. Further information on the costs would be 

circulated to the Committee.   

Page 47



10 

 

 How can the consultation process for changes to bus services be improved so that Members 

and the public have more time to respond to proposed changes to services? It was confirmed 

that providers have an obligation to inform the local authority of any proposed changes to 

their commercial services with 70 days’ notice. There is then a period of 28 days (within the 

70 days) where TfGM can request data from the provider. It was noted that TfGM do engage 

with Members, particularly with a focus on BNTS, and also receive a lot of Member 

correspondence which they take into account. It was confirmed that TfGM would consider 

what process could be implemented to provide more opportunity for Members to respond 

to proposed changes.   

 Further clarification was requested in terms of the reference to ‘difficult choices’ in relation 

to the schools network (detailed at p2.5). It was confirmed that TfGM consider each case in 

isolation, giving priority to minimising the number of times that passengers need to change 

service+. TfGM had not, to date, had to take into consideration the type of school, however, 

some analysis on the breadth of services had been conducted. It was confirmed that there 

were currently no plans to change the approach.  

 

 RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the report be noted. 

 

2. That the Committee receive further information in relation to the costs associated with the 

concessionary schemes on Metrolink and rail.  

 

3. The TfGM note the Committee comments in relation to the consultation of proposed 

changes.  

 

CI71/18 GMCA REGISTER OF KEY DECISONS  

 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the report be noted.  

 

CI72/18 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  

 

 Tuesday 22nd January, 1pm, GMCA Boardroom, Churchgate House, Manchester, M1 6EU  

 

Page 48



1 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY (GMCA) 

CORPORATE ISSUES AND REFORM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

22 JANUARY AT 1.00PM AT GMCA OFFICES 

 

 

Present:   Councillor Nathan Evans (Trafford) (in the Chair) 

Bolton:   Councillor Hamid Khurram 

Bury:   Councillor Stella Smith 

   Councillor Tim Pickstone 

Oldham:  Councillor Colin McLaren 

Rochdale:  Councillor Peter Malcolm 

Salford:  Councillor David Jolley 

Stockport:   Councillor Linda Holt 

Councillor Yvonne Guariento 

Trafford:   Councillor Bernard Sharp (Substitute) 

   Councillor Amy Whyte (Substitute)  

Tameside:  Councillor John Bell 

Wigan:   Councillor Joanne Marshall 

  

 

In attendance  

 

Stockport Council Pam Smith, Chief Executive Portfolio Lead for Age-friendly GM and 

Equalities 

Tameside Council Councillor Brenda Warrington, Portfolio Leader for Age-friendly GM and 

Equalities 

Councillor Allison Gwynne, Chair of Waste and Recycling Committee 

Wigan Council  Councillor David Molyneux, Portfolio Lead, Resources  

GMFRS   Jim Wallace, Chief Fire Officer 

TfGM   Steve Warrener, TfGM Finance and Corporate Services Director  

GMCA   Andrew Lightfoot, Deputy Chief Executive  

Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer 

David Taylor, Executive Director, Waste and Resources   

Lindsay Keech, Head of Finance, Waste and Resources  

Paul McGarry, Head, Greater Manchester Ageing Hub  

   Jamie Fallon, Governance and Scrutiny Officer  

    

CI73/18  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors, Mary Watson (Manchester), Annette 

Wright (Manchester), Gillian Peet (Tameside), and Anne Duffield (Trafford).    

 

CI74/18  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 

No urgent business was raised.  

 

CI75/18  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

Item 4 

Page 49



2 

 

Declarations of interest were received from Councillor Peter Malcolm on appendix 2 of the 

budget report re the fire service and pension funding (CI78/18).  

 

CI76/18  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 DECEMBER 2018 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2018 were submitted for approval. 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2018 be approved as a correct record.  

 

CI77/18 WORK PROGRAMME  

 

Andrew Lightfoot, Deputy Chief Executive, GMCA introduced the work programme.  

 

Members were informed that the work programme had been reconfigured, to incorporate the 

inclusion of the following items:  

 

 Waste Procurement Update (March & May)  

 GMFRS, Programme for Change (TBC possibly February or March)   

 GMCA’s Corporate Resilience & Brexit (February)  

 Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Update (February)  

 Transport Governance & Decision Making (April)  

 Drug and Alcohol Strategy (TBC February or April)  

 

Members were asked to contact the Governance & Scrutiny Officer with any further items for 

inclusion in the work programme.   

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the reconfigured work programme be agreed.  

   

CI78/18 GMCA BUDGETS 2018/19 

 

Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer, introduced a report which set out the Mayor’s proposals for the 

Mayoral General Budget and precept for 2019-20 for consideration, which was due to be 

considered by the GMCA on Friday 25th January 2019.  

 

Unique amongst Mayoral Combined Authorities, the proposals being made continue to include a 

significant element for the Fire Service which had previously fallen to the GM Fire and Rescue 

Authority to determine.  

 

In a parallel process, the Mayor would be making a proposal relating to his PCC functions to the 

Police and Crime Panel, which was due to meet on 31 January 2019.  

 

The following key points were highlighted:  

 

 The Mayor’s proposal was to set an overall Mayoral General Precept of £76.95 (Band D) 

comprising of £59.95 for functions previously covered by the Fire and Rescue Authority 

Page 50



3 

 

precept (no change) and £17 (an additional £9 for 2019/20 on the current £8) for other 

Mayoral General Functions, specifically bus reform.  

 The proposal was the second year of a 2-3 year strategy for setting the Mayoral precept 

baseline which would be adjusted in future years as further Mayoral functions are covered 

by funding raised, and that Governance had again provided flexibility on the level of the 

Mayoral (General) precept.  

 The proposal allowed £5.75 million of Earnback grant to be used to support GMCA costs 

relating to bus related activity, including bus reform.  

 The overall budget proposed for the Fire and Rescue Service, recognised that detailed 

proposals in relation to Programme for Change would be considered in the near future.  

 The proposal included the use of the reserves to support the revenue and capital budgets, 

and the assessment by the Treasurer that the reserves to March 2020 were adequate. 

 The proposed Fire Service capital programme, and proposals for funding the medium term 

financial position for all functions were covered by the Mayoral precept. 

 In the absence of the outstanding Parliamentary Order relating to Transport Functions, the 

Mayor is unable to raise monies directly for Bus Reform and related activity and such costs 

fall on Districts by means of the transport levy. It is envisaged that the Parliamentary Order 

would shortly be issued to Districts for their consent and would then be laid in Parliament. It 

was anticipated that the Order would be in force before the end of the financial year, but, as 

it was not in place in time for the budget decisions, it is proposed that grants totalling £8.3 

million would be made to District Councils to support their increased levy costs in relation to 

Bus Reform and the 16-18 Opportunity Pass. 

 A revised budget would be submitted to the Committee on 12th February 2019, and to the 

GMCA on 15 February 2019, consistent with the precept proposals, to reflect final tax base 

and collection fund calculations and the final Revenue Support Grant settlement.  

 

Members raised the following questions:  

 

 A Member queried how viable the Fire budget was, given the use of reserves. It was 

confirmed that given the current scale of activities falling on the General budget, the level of 

reserves held was felt to be appropriate. In considering the medium term financial position 

of the Fire Service, the ongoing level of reserves is falling, and whilst the short-term position 

is sustainable, this was not the case in the longer term without Programme for Change being 

implemented. Recent announcements by the Treasury concerning the changes to the 

discount rate for unfunded public sector pension schemes had increased employers’ 

contributions substantially, however, for 2019/20; the Home Office had confirmed a Section 

31 grant of £4.802 million, towards estimated costs for GMFRS of £5.3 million. The 

continuation of grant support for pension costs, would be considered by Government as part 

of the Comprehensive Spending Review.  

 When would the Programme for Change be complete? It was confirmed that the outcomes 

from the Programme for Change would affect the GMFRS Revenue Budget for 2019/20 and 

onwards, with decisions anticipated in March 2019. In light of this, there is a requirement for 

reserves to be used to underpin the Budget until approved proposals could be implemented.  

 A Member queried whether the amount budgeted for the Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework (GMSF) had increased. It was confirmed that £800,000 had been allocated to the 

Spatial Development Strategy (as detailed at paragraph 2.7) which included an amount to 

cover contingencies.  

 A Member requested clarification regarding the Mayoral General Precept. It was confirmed 

that the £59.95 for functions previously covered by the Fire and Rescue Authority Precept 

Page 51



4 

 

had not changed, however, the Mayor was proposing to increase the current £8 to £17 (per 

Band D property), which would raise (on the latest estimated tax band) £12.74 million. When 

taken with the estimated Mayoral Capacity Funding, surplus on Collection Funds and Bus 

Service Operators Grant (£13.1 million) this would give overall funding of £28.180 million (the 

allocation of this amount is detailed at page 7 of the report). 

 What happens if the Transport Order does not progress through Parliament? If Order is not 

in place then work can still proceed on the basis of the budget now proposed.  

 Would the Mayor be submitting his proposals in relation to the Police and Crime Precept to 

the GMCA for joint decision? The Mayor is consulting on increasing the PCC Mayoral precept 

by the maximum permitted of £24. 

 The Mayor’s proposal relating to his PCC functions would be submitted to the Police and 

Crime Panel on 31st January 2019, and sets out, the Mayor’s proposal to increase the police 

precept by £24 for a band D property with effect from 1 April 2019. The Mayoral Precept 

would be set on 15th February 2019.  

 Members raised concerns regarding how the increases would be communicated to the Public, 

in particularly, emphasising that the full increase would only be applied to each Band D 

household. It was confirmed that each household would receive a Council Tax bill, which 

would include a breakdown. The PCC element was currently out for consultation, which 

detailed how the additional funding would be spent.  

 Consideration was given to the breakdown provided at paragraph 2.7 within the report. A 

Member requested further information on what the reference to ‘Transport, Policy and 

Strategy’ encompassed. The funding allocated to ‘Transport, Policy and Strategy’ was related 

to the TfGM Policy and Strategy Team, which was previously funded by the Levy but had 

become a Mayoral function the previous year. It was confirmed that the Team were 

responsible for a number of policy and strategy functions, which recently included the 

development of the recently published 2040 Delivery Plan. The Committee recommended 

that the table (paragraph 2.7) be updated to succinctly describe what the funding related to. 

In addition, the Committee requested further information on the ‘Transport, Policy and 

Strategy’ function and the funding allocated over the past five years.  

 Members raised concerns regarding the timeframes associated with the publication of the 

reports, noting that it had left them little time to review and digest the intricate reports.  

 Members also felt that the reports were complex and not easy to understand. It was agreed 

that the February reports would be simplified and include a summary table. 

   

RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the report be noted. 

  

2. That a recommendation be submitted to the Mayor, to enhance the table at paragraph 

2.7 within the report to succinctly describe what the funding related to.  

 

3. That a recommendation be submitted to the Mayor, to simplify the budget reports, and 

include a summary table.  

 

4. That further information be provided to the Committee in relation to the ‘Transport, 

Policy and Strategy’ function and the allocation of funding over the past five years.  

 

 

 

Page 52



5 

 

CI78/18 UPDATE ON BUDGET AND LEVY 2019/20 OF GMCA WASTE SERVICES  

 

Members considered a report that outlined the proposed Budget and Levy 2019/20 for waste 

and resource management services for Greater Manchester.  

 

Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer, highlighted that this was the first time the GMCA had set the 

budget for waste, in particularly the Levy on Districts. It was noted that a further budget report 

would be presented to the GMCA on the 15th February 2019 and brought forward to the 

Committee on the 12th February 2019.  

 

The interim proposals for the 2019/20 budget and Levy had been prepared by building upon 

Contract and savings updates provided to GMWDA meetings in 2017/18 and the Waste and 

Recycling Committee, and GMCA meetings during 2018/19.  

 

The budget for 2018/19 was set by the GMWDA at £197.347m on 8th February 2018. After some 

£27.753m of support from the MTFP reserve and the return of £77/701m of additional GMCA 

levy, the levy was then allocated to Districts by way of a £91.893m Levy (62.8% decrease) and 

using the Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement (LAMA). The total budget in 2019/20 

replicates, the previous MTFP forecast by GMWDA of £174.6 m. It was highlighted that the 

introduction of the LAMA was delivering increased predictability in the allocations between 

districts.   

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the update on be noted.  

 

 

CI79/18 AGE-FRIENDLY GREATER MANCHESTER 

 

Brenda Warrington, Portfolio Leader, Age-Friendly Greater Manchester and Equalities, presented 

a report, which provided an update on the progress made on the Age-Friendly Greater 

Manchester Strategy since the February 2018 report.  

 

The following key points were highlighted:  

 

 An age-friendly Greater Manchester is priority ten of the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS). 

Delivering on this priority is a hugely collaborative undertaking involving partners from across 

the GM system working together on economy and work, housing and planning, transport, 

culture, age-friendly places and health ageing.  

 There are three key objectives for priority ten for 2020: 

- Put in place a network of Age-friendly neighbourhoods across GM 

- Design and deliver employment support programme for people aged over 50 

- Deliver a series of GM showcasing events, positioning GM as global leader in Ageing 

 In March 2018, GM because the UK’s first age-friendly city region as recognised by the World 

Health Organisation. This status acknowledges the plans we have in place to improve the lives 

of older people.  

 Future plans include:  

Page 53



6 

 

- On 13 February 2019, the second Greater Manchester Age-Friendly Conference ‘Doing 

Ageing Differently’ will bring together GM’s system leaders, older people’s groups, world-

leading academics and other partners 

- Launch ‘Doing Ageing Differently’ magazine to showcase work and stimulate critical 

thinking around age-friendly policy and practice, primarily targeted at policy makers and 

practitioners 

- An evidence review for an employability pilot which will inform the scope and focus for 

the development and testing of new approaches to support people aged 50 and over back 

into work 

- Age-friendly supplementary guidance document to support the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework 

- International Centre for Age-Friendly Culture at the Museum for Life (Manchester 

Museum) 

- Report by think –tank the International Longevity Centre on how GM can take advantage 

of the growth opportunities associated with an ageing population 

- Building new international partnerships around urban ageing, including with researchers 

- Expand membership of GM Older People’s Network, and launch new programme of 

activities 

 

Members posed questions to the Portfolio Leader, and Pam Smith, Chief Executive Lead, Age-

friendly Greater Manchester and Equalities, who was also in attendance:  

 

 How can we change the attitude of some employers and seek to eradicate ageism? The 

employment factor was being addressed, noting that the over 50’s Employability Pilot had 

been developed to provide employability support for over 50’s in GM. In addition, it was 

anticipated that a significant proportion of participants supported through the Working Well 

programme would be aged 50 and over.  

 How can we work with employers to develop more robust employment procedures that did 

not discriminate against older people who may have health problems? One of areas of work 

embodied within the strategy, was seeking to persuade people to live healthier lifestyles, 

through a number of initiatives such as cycling and walking. A GM age-friendly handbook for 

employers was also being developed.  

 A Member highlighted that communication was key to informing older people how they can 

access help such as interview skills, and CV support. The evidence from the Employability Pilot 

would inform the scope and focus for the development and testing of new approaches to 

supporting people aged 50 and over back into work.  

 Were opportunities for older people to retrain being considered, given the associated costs? 

The work was seeking to ensure that new opportunities were available for older people, 

which would include apprenticeships targeted at older workers.  

 Members welcomed the update and were in support of the approach.  

 

RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the progress made by the GM Ageing Hub and partners on the GM Age-Friendly 

Strategy since its launch in March 2018 be noted.  

 

2. That the strategic approach set out in the report be endorsed including the core features of: 

 

o Ensuring the voices of older people are represented in this work 

Page 54



7 

 

o Supporting the development of partnerships that bring together research institutions 

with policy makers, practitioners and citizens 

o Basing our GM approach on the World Health Organisations Age-friendly cities and 

communities programme, whilst acknowledging the social inequalities experienced by 

many old people in our city –region 

o Promoting a modern and positive narrative on ageing across public services, 

communities and business in GM that emphasises that contribution of older people 

rather than utilising a deficits approach 

o Positioning the Age-Friendly Strategy as part of the next phase of public service reform, 

doing ageing differently 

o Continuing to promote GM as a pioneering European and global city-region. 

 

3. That the Committee support the next phase of development of the GM Ageing Hub and the 

actions set out in the GM Age-Friendly Strategy. 

 

4. That the Committee support the second phase of GMCA’s five year partnership with Centre 

for Ageing Better 

 

CI80/18 UPDATE ON PROCUREMENT OF WASTE SERVICES – PART A  

 

Councillor Allison Gwynne, Chair of the Waste and Recycling Committee, introduced a report, 

which provided an update on the ongoing procurement process for waste and resource 

management services for Greater Manchester.  

 

The following key points were highlighted:  

 

 Procurement of future operating contracts commenced in November 2017 on a three lot 

basis with contract award programmed for February 2019 and service commencement in 

June 2019. The procurement route being used was Competitive Dialogue.  

 In order to maximise the competition and to attract specialist service providers, the 

procurement was originally divided into 3 Lots based on waste stream and facility type. The 

3 Lots identified were:  

 

Lot One Waste and Resource Management Services (WRMS) 

Lot Two Household Waste Recycling Centre Management Services (HWRCMS) 

Lot Three Biowaste Management Services (BMS) 

 

 The Invitation to Submit and Interim Tender (ISIT) stage, saw the withdrawal of FCC from Lot 

two and Biffa/Viridor from Lot three, based upon the strategic fit of this procurement into 

their wider business objectives.  

 Following the draft tender evaluation, further Competitive Dialogue was held with all 

Tenderers. During the latter stages, Viridor confirmed their intention to also withdraw from 

Lot one. 

 On 15 October 2018, following further analysis and in light of national policy uncertainty 

around biowaste, the delegated decision was made to cancel Lot 3 procurement and to place 

the management of this tonnage and the two associated Vessel Composting (IVC) facilities 

under the Lot one contractor.  

 The cancellation of Lot three and the withdrawal of Viridor from Lot one now means that 

there are two remaining Tenderers, Suez and Veolia. Final tender submissions were received 

Page 55



8 

 

from both organisations for Lots one and two were received on 20th December in accordance 

with the procurement programme.  

 Compliance checks have been undertaken and the tender responses are currently being 

evaluated and scored with this process including moderation to conclude by 14th February 

2019.  

 The decision to award the contract(s) is a key decision under the GMCA constitution. As such, 

a report is scheduled to go to the GMCA meeting on 15th February 2019 making a 

recommendation to award the Lot one and two contracts, and seeking delegation to officers 

in consultation with the GMCA Chief Executive and Chair, Waste and Recycling Committee, 

to conclude the biowaste procurement process.   

 

Members asked the following questions to Councillor Allison Gwynne, and David Taylor, 

Assistant Director, Waste and Resources, who was also in attendance:  

 

 A Member explored whether the withdrawal of Lot three had meant Tenderers had had to 

resubmit their tenders. It was confirmed that termination of Lot three had occurred in 

October 2018, prior to the final tender documents being released, and so they were updated 

to reflect the position. Both Suez and Veolia had submitted their tenders against the new 

documents.  

 What was the level of risk associated with the processing of green waste? It was confirmed 

that the two facilities originally included within Lot three would now be managed by the Lot 

one contractor. The GMCA are currently procuring third party facilities through a framework 

contract, noting that there would be multiple facilities with several companies.   

 

 RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the progress to date on the procurement of future waste services contracts be noted. 

 

2. That the Committee note the proposed governance arrangements leading up to the 

appointment of preferred bidder(s) in February 2019.  

 

CI81/18 GMCA REGISTER OF KEY DECISONS  

 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the report be noted.  

 

CI82/18 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  

 

 Tuesday 12th February, 6pm, GMCA Boardroom, Churchgate House, Manchester, M1 6EU  

 

CI83/18          EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 

RESOLVED: 

  

That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public should be 

excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on the grounds that this involves 

the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out in paragraph 3, Part 1, Schedule 12A of the 

Page 56



9 

 

Local Government Act 1972 and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 

the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

CI84/18          UPDATE ON THE PROCUREMENT OF GM WASTE SERVICES- PART B 

 

The Committee considered a report, which provided an update on the progress of the 

procurement of Lot 1 Waste and Resource Management Services and Lot 2 Household Waste 

Recycling Centre Management Services. 

 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the Committee note the evaluation framework for Lots 1 and 2. 

 

2. That the Committee note the Tenderer technical solutions for Lots 1 and 2. 

 

3. That the Committee note the added value proposals set out in the report. 

 

CI85/18         BUDGET AND LEVY 2019/20 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

2022/23M COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

 

The Committee considered a report, which set out commercial considerations in respect of the 

outturn for 2018/19 and budget for 2019/20 and beyond. The report also covered the process 

for scrutiny that the budget will follow. Following contract evaluation, a further report would be 

brought to the Committee on 12th February 2019.  

 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the report be noted.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

1 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT GMCA HOUSING, PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

10 JANUARY 2019 AT 6.00PM AT THE GMCA OFFICES   
 
 
Present:   Councillor Lisa Smart (Stockport) (in the Chair) 
Bolton:   Councillor Shamim Abdullah 
Bolton:   Councillor Andrew Morgan 
Bury:    Councillor Dorothy Gunther 
Manchester:   Councillor Paula Sadler   
Manchester:   Councillor John Leech (Substitute)  
Rochdale:  Councillor Linda Robinson  
Trafford:  Councillor Bernard Sharp (substitute) 
Trafford:  Councillor Graham Whitham   
Wigan:   Councillor Michael Winstanley  
 
In attendance  
 
Stockport Council Councillor Alexander Ganotis  
 
GM Cycling and Walking Commissioner Chris Boardman 
 
GMCA Officers  Julie Connor (Assistant Director Governance and Scrutiny) 

Amy Foots (Strategy Principal) 
Anne Morgan (Head of Planning Strategy) 
Mark Atherton (Assistant Director Environment) 
Jamie Fallon (Governance and Scrutiny Officer) 
 

TfGM Officers  Bob Morris (Chief Operating Officer) 
Michael Renshaw (Executive Director) 

   Simon Warburton (Transport Strategy Director) 
   Rod Fawcett (Head of Policy) 
   Martin Key (Senior Transport Adviser)  
   
M121/HPE  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Catherine Preston (Bury), James Wilson (Manchester), 
Steven Bashforth (Oldham), Laura Booth (Stockport), Mike Glover (Tameside), Stuart Dickman 
(Salford) and Lynne Holland (Wigan).  
 
M122/HPE  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
Members were informed that the next draft of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
(GMSF) had been published, and was due to be discussed at the GMCA meeting on Friday 11th 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 

2 
 

January. It was confirmed that the GMSF and the TfGM 2040 Transport Strategy would be 
considered by the Committee in in February.  
 
M123/HPE  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest received.  
 
M124/HPE  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 NOVEMBER 2018 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2018 were submitted for approval.  
 
The Chair requested that the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) Implementation Plan and 
Performance Dashboard Update (M116/HPE) be updated to reflect the fact that Mayor had 
acknowledged that his manifesto commitment to end rough sleeping had not been included as 
a dashboard objective.  
 
Amended Minute of the meeting held on 15 November 2018, Item M116/HPE: 
That the Mayoral Manifesto commitment to end the need for rough sleeping by 2020 was not 
included as one of the aims in the dashboard. The Mayor stated that the dashboard objectives 
were around initiatives which contributed to reducing rough sleeping.  The Mayor stated that he 
had been advised that ending rough sleeping as an absolute is technically not possible due to a 
number of factors such as some rough sleepers not accepting available held / support and 
choosing to sleep rough, but he still stands by his manifesto pledge to end rough sleeping 
defined as a substantial shift of improvement in this area. The Mayor also highlighted 
entrenched rough sleeping and the challenges associated with engaging and supporting a small 
cohort of rough sleepers.  
 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held 15 November 2018 be approved as a correct record.  
 
M125/HPE WALKING AND CYCLING UPDATE   
 
Chris Boardman, GM Cycling and Walking Commissioner, introduced a report which provided 
Members with an update on progress since the approval of the recommendations contained in 
Made to Move, approved by the GMCA in December 2017.  
 
Members received a presentation which contextualised the ongoing work and its purpose, and 
the following key points were highlighted:  
 

 In Greater Manchester, 30% of trips under 1km are made by car, that’s just 15 minutes on 
foot or a five minute bike ride. 

 Initial research had suggested that the health impacts resulting from inactivity were costing 
the NHS from £500,000 per week to NHS, totalling £3.75 billion per year.  

 The Made to Move report (December 2017) sets out a goal: ‘To double and then double again 
cycling in Greater Manchester and make walking the natural choice for as many short trips as 
possible.  

Page 60



 

3 
 

 The report recommends 15 steps to achieve the goals, including the development of a 
detailed infrastructure plan, a ten year £1.5 billion fund, a total highways design guide, 
ensuring new transport and housing developments have walking and cycling at their heart, 
making cycling and walking the first choice on the school run, reducing the risk of road 
casualties and delivering greater access to public bikes.  

 The GMCA had agreed to allocate £160 million of the Transforming Cities Fund to develop a 
Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund (MCF). The fund would be used to kick start the 
delivery of Greater Manchester’s cycling and walking infrastructure as part of a GM ‘Streets 
for All’ highways improvement programme. The Beelines proposal contains principles around 
the types of infrastructure that would meet the Commissioners standard as set out in Made 
to Move and the initial plan covering 1,000 miles across every community in Greater 
Manchester. These included the ‘usable by a competent 12-year-old’ and ‘usable by someone 
with a double buggy’ test in terms of traffic flow. 

 The network plans were subsequently made public to gather feedback over a 3 month period. 
Over 4,000 comments were received on the plan and these are now being processed with an 
aim of publishing an update of the plan in early 2019.  

 To date, 24 cycling and walking schemes had been approved, with a forecast total funding 
requirement from the MCF of around £39 million.  

 One of the key enablers to unlocking walking and cycling’s potential across Greater 
Manchester would be building safe, attractive spaces alongside high quality footways. Some 
of the proposed solutions to the highlighted severance/highways barriers involved simple 
cost effective interventions such as side road crossings with paint. The Chorlton cycle way 
(Chapel Street) was highlighted as a scheme which was out for consultation.  

 Work was underway to develop a sustainable and effective bike hire scheme in Greater 
Manchester to provide people with the tools to enable them to cycle.  

 
Members welcomed the update and raised the following questions and comments:  
 

 A Member requested more information on the role of the GM Cycling & Walking 
Commissioner. 
 
It was confirmed that originally the role had been focussed on defining GM’s mission but was 
now concentrating on holding GM accountable, so that we do not slip on achieving the 15 
objectives.  
 

 One Member sought clarity on how the additional funding to achieve the goal of developing 
a 10 year £1.5 billion fund would be sourced, and how local authorities would feature. 
 
It was confirmed that the first 3-4 years would be funded by the Mayoral Challenge Fund 
(MCF) (£160 million), on the premise that it is match funded. It was confirmed that £40 million 
of the MCF had been approved with another third, from local funding provided by districts. 
Work was also being done on existing Growth Deal schemes. In terms of future funding 
streams, conversations were ongoing with Government, and the Transport Fund was being 
considered. It was highlighted that the ultimate goal was for the approach to become normal 
and ‘how we do streets’ without the requirement for a specific fund.  
 

 A Member queried why scheme promoters were allowed to claim delivery costs prior to full 
approval (paragraph 3.1)? 
 

Page 61



 

4 
 

It was confirmed that scheme promoters were approved to claim scheme development and 
design to remove the financial constraints on scheme delivery. However, no funds were 
released if the schemes do not meet agreed the criteria; usable by a competent 12-year-old’ 
and ‘usable by someone with a double buggy’ test in terms of traffic flow. In terms of 
accountability, it was confirmed that there were weekly Delivery Board, which reports into 
the Cycling Board, TfGM and GMCA governance structures.   
 

 A Member highlighted that a major concern for parents would be the safety of their child. 
Had this aspect been considered?  
 
It was confirmed that GMP were represented on the Board which meets every two weeks, 
notwithstanding this, this was not within the Commissioners gift. Work was underway to 
develop a Road Danger Strategy noting that further information would be provided when 
appropriate. 
 

 Had metrics been developed which would help us measure the impact of the schemes?  
 
It was confirmed that the success measures were being developed and baseline studies would 
be conducted on all the schemes. The measures would include health, pollution reduction 
and happiness. A proportion of the MCF had been allocated to monitoring and evaluation 
through TfGM’s strategy team.  
 

 How are we going to change the perception, that drivers are being forced off the road?  
 
It was confirmed that it was the district’s responsibility to agree to the extent in terms of how 
much they want to adopt the changes and it is expected that the different districts will make 
progress at different rates.  In order to change the perception of some car users, there will 
be a need to create successful working examples that are local as a reference.  
 

 Was there a commitment to ensuring that developers incorporate walkways and cycle paths 
in to their development plans?  
 
It was confirmed that this was for districts to decide, however, the 2040 Transport Strategy 
and the GMSF would consider what policies could be established at city region level.  
 

 A Member requested clarity in relation to who was responsible for the schemes and the 
knock on financial impacts once developed? 
 
It was confirmed that the schemes must belong to districts. Did this also apply to 
maintenance? This was also a commitment of districts when developing the schemes.  
 

 How are you working with those who are unable to walk/cycle?  
 
The Disability Reference Group and wider groups were engaged. It was clarified that the aim 
of project was not to replace all car journeys, it was to reduce/ irradiate the unnecessary 
short journeys that could be made by walking/cycling.  
 

 When can we expect the first plan to be published?  
 

Page 62



 

5 
 

It was confirmed that it is envisaged that this would be published in March 2019.  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
M126/HPE TRANSPORT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Bob Morris, Chief Operating Officer presented a report which provided Members with an 
overview of the Capital Programme which TfGM is currently responsible, together with details of 
the current Member-led oversight and governance arrangements that are in place for the various 
elements of the programme.  
 
The following key points were highlighted: 
 

 The Capital Programme started 10 years ago, following the failed Tif bid which became 
the transport Fund.  

 This has lead to the successful delivery of £3 billion pounds worth of transport 
infrastructure (delivered on time and under budget).  

 The Programme is also involved in wider GMCA delivery such as digital, broadband and 
helping to deliver the clean air Programme.   

 In terms of TfGM taking the underlying schemes to this group, such as transport 
interchanges, bus priority, rail and Metrolink, it was suggested reporting on these 
individual issues separately at future meetings. 

 
Members posed questions to the Chief Operating Officer, and Simon Warburton, Transport 
Strategy Director who was also in attendance:  
 

 When was the outcome of the Access for All bid expected?  
 
It was confirmed that bids had been submitted in relation to ten stations,  noting that the 
outcome was expected to be received in March 2019.  
 

 Members asked for clarification on the role and composition of the GM Transport 
Strategy group.  
 
TfGM confirmed that the Group was chaired by the Transport Strategy Director, and 
attended by the 10 responsible directing officers from the 10 GM Boroughs. The role of 
the group was to manage and develop Local Transport Plan (2040 Strategy) and give 
stewardship to the management and periodic reporting of the approved smaller Growth 
Deal Programmes.  

 

 A Member asked for clarification on where the overall management and oversight of 
schemes takes place? 
 
It was stated that a complete list of schemes and their budgetary progress is submitted 
to the GMCA on a quarterly basis.    
 

 How are schemes selected in terms of addressing transport needs?  

Page 63



 

6 
 

 
It was confirmed that TfGM’s Strategy Team prioritise schemes by considering a full range 
of options with the best most viable option selected, which was supported by a business 
case, which addresses the specific transport needs or to future proof an existing asset.  
 
The meeting was advised that the delivery plan was measured against the 2040 Transport 
Strategy.  Planning was conducted by mapping what had been already delivered, what is 
being proposed, and what longer term elements may be brought forward.  Once the plan 
was agreed, it would inform the Capital Programme that comes forward as funding 
becomes available.  TfGM confirmed that they were continually working with colleagues 
from the 10 local authorities to develop an efficient process for obtaining funding. 
 

 One Member asked how knock-on impacts of revisions/ restrictions to the highways were 
managed to mitigate and manage expectations? 
 
It was clarified that this was done via running modelling, putting in place mitigation, and 
early and thorough consultation and engagement with stakeholders and the local 
community to manage expectations. 
 

 A Member requested a breakdown of how the new Wigan bus station had been funded 
by TfGM, Wigan Council and HM Government? 
 
TfGM confirmed that had been included in a quarterly report to the GMCA and also 
TfGM’s Capital and Policy Sub-committee.  
 
It was agreed that the figures would be circulated to the Committee.  
 

 Why had Bury not received investment to develop a new bus station?  
 
TfGM confirmed that Bury would receive funding for a new interchange, noting that plans 
were being developed.   
 

 Members queried whether commissioning arrangements could improve the standard of 
trains? 
 
It was clarified that TfGM do not have any contractual influence of rail resources but it 
was noted that Northern and Transpennine should be introducing new stock post May 
2019.  This was largely also reflected with buses however, TfGM do have contracts for 
20% of bus services and set standards as a minimum for GM, noting that every operator 
was scored and ranked through performance. 
 

 Members sought clarity regarding the process for members to raise complaints on behalf 
of constituents.  There was also confusion in relation to the governance arrangements 
and accountability mechanisms for TfGM. 
 
TfGM acknowledged the feedback and advised that they would welcome suggestions 
which would enable them to improve their interaction with Members. It was agreed that 
the Committee would receive the TfGM Member Induction pack.   

 

Page 64



 

7 
 

RESOLVED/- 
 

1. That the Committee note the TfGM Capital Programme. 
  

2. That the Committee receive an overview of the schemes to be submitted to the GMCA. 
 

3. That TfGM review and clearly articulate how Members should raise enquiries.  
 

4. That the Committee receive further information regarding governance arrangements and 
accountability mechanisms for TfGM.  
 

5. That TfGM circulate elected member briefing materials (induction pack) and the 
councillor enquiry service for comment.  

 
 

M127/HPE GM CLEAN AIR PLAN UPDATE  
 
Councillor Alex Ganotis, Portfolio Lead for Green City Region, introduced a report which provided 
an update on progress in the preparation of a GM feasibility study into the options available, 
subject to full funding by Government, to address NO2 exceedances, and to outline a broad 
direction of travel in relation to next steps and decision making. The following key points were 
highlighted: 
 

 Greater Manchester has a long standing track record in taking a balanced approach to 
policy development to promote sustainability, inclusion and growth. Therefore, whilst 
respecting the strategic importance of addressing pollution and attendant impact on 
public health to better understand all the implications, further work in relation to the 
feasibility study is required. This work has been requested to ensure in developing our 
plans to deliver air quality improvements we understand the impacts on growth and 
inclusion across the city region.  

 Undertaking this further work means that GM will be unable to submit its Outline 
Business Case (OBC) to government by the agreed deadline of 31 January 2019.  

 Submission of the OBC after the 31 January 2019 does not meet the ministerial direction 
which has been issued to seven of the ten GM local authorities. This could lead to a 
potential legal challenge against one or more of the GM local authorities under a 
direction.    

 It is anticipated that a report about the OBC will be brought forward in Spring 2019 to the 
GMCA and all ten councils.  

 A non-statutory public conversation will follow the completion of the OBC to seek wide 
ranging feedback on the options for achieving compliance in GM and the identified 
‘preferred option’ whilst at a formative stage. The outputs from this initial engagement 
activity will be used to inform the ongoing detailed design of any scheme, and build an 
understanding around the potential impacts of the ‘preferred option’ from a public and 
stakeholder perspective.  

 The outputs of this would inform the development of the scheme in the Full Business 
Case.  

 
In discussion, Member raised the following questions and comments: 
 

Page 65



 

8 
 

 A Member queried whether the deferment of the draft OBC would delay implementation 
and delivery of improved air quality presenting a failure in moral obligation? 
 
It was clarified that this work would not delay the submission of the full business case. It 
was noted that the OBC was crucial as it would also include our asks of Government. There 
were existing Air Quality Plans and strategies in place currently, which had resulted in 
some improvements to air quality. It was estimated that 1200 people die prematurely 
directly/indirectly because of poor air quality.   
 
It was highlighted that other cities including Birmingham had also rescheduled their 
delivery milestones.   

 Was there any disagreement amongst Leaders which had contributed to the delays?  
 
It was confirmed that GM were at one in the view that we should avoid charging individual 
motorists if possible, but to do that it required a lot more work to see if a Caz C model 
would be sufficient. GM was also committed to undertaking the socio economic work.  
 

 Would extra infrastructure be required to support the selected charging model? 
 
It was highlighted that Government had offered to fund capital costs for any required 
physical infrastructure to monitor vehicles for compliance (if this was required).  
However, we would have to provide assurance that it would not be used for other 
purposes.  It was confirmed that the test would be meeting the legal limits set out and be 
demonstrated by us bringing down the air quality to the legal limit into the shortest 
amount of time. It was advised that Government had put joint planning arrangements in 
place where this system was required.  
 

 Members raised concerns regarding the lack of focus on reducing particulates? 
 
It was clarified that the specific duties in regards to clean air reside with specific local 
authorities. It was not within remit of GMCA to apply a regime in regards to reducing 
particulates.  It was highlighted that particulates would still be present even if all vehicles 
were electric cars (because of tyres).  With the strategy focussing on 152 roads, it is 
inevitable that particulates would reduce, however, this was not within the remit in terms 
of reduction targets.   
 

 Following discussion, the Committee agreed that a recommendation be submitted to the 
GMCA to consider whether the 10 local authorities should work collectively to reduce 
particulate matter, and update the existing Clean Air Strategy.  
 

 Members asked around how Governments expectations would be managed in terms of 
GMs approach to tackling air quality? 
 
It was clarified that it was possible to scientifically test whether an approach was 
sufficient, and it was confirmed that Government officials were being engaged in GM’s 
approach. 
 
It was clarified that a public conversation had taken place in late October as part of the 
launch of the GM Clean Air website which acted as a contemporary portal. This had also 

Page 66



 

9 
 

enabled TfGM to have shared communication activity with Public Health England which 
had also led to additional engagement with specific business communities, and work with 
the bus industry to understand their views on how we can achieve a clean fleet quickly. 
Work was also underway with the small business community including taxis, and light 
goods vehicles.   
 
At the point that firm proposals were ready, a clear plan for fuller public consultation 
around proposals would be scheduled. If any penalty regimes were required, then a 
statutory consultation would be undertaken.  

 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the Committee note the report, setting out the implications of work so far led by the 

Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan Senior Leadership Steering Group. 
 

2. That the Committee note the further work that was now proposed to be undertaken to 
ensure that the future Clean Air Plan was agreed against a clear understanding of the impacts 
on growth and the inclusion across the city region.  

 
3. That the Committee note the changes to the plan development schedule that this will bring.  

 
4. That the GMCA be recommended to consider whether the 10 local authorities should work 

collectively to reduce particulate matter, by updating the Clean Air Strategy.  
 
M128/HPE WORK PROGRAMME  
   
Julie Connor, Assistant Director, Governance & Scrutiny, GMCA, introduced the Work 
Programme. Members were asked to contact the Governance & Scrutiny Officer with any 
suggested items for inclusion in the work programme or with any comments about scheduled 
items.  
 
Members were informed that the February 2019 meeting would focus on the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) and 2040 Transport Strategy.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Work Programme be noted.  
 
M129/HPE FUTURE OF GREATER MANCHESTER  
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
M130/HPE STOCKPORT MAYORAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION  
 
 

Page 67



 

10 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 
M131/HPE REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
Members received the register of Key Decisions for information only.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Register of Key Decisions be noted.  
 
M132/HPE DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Thursday 14th February 2019 at 10.30am, GMCA Offices, Churchgate House 

Page 68



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
To provide the Overview & Scrutiny Board with an an overview of the work of the Virtual 
School in 2017 / 18. 
 
Recommendations 
The Overview & Scrutiny Board are asked to note the report. 
 
 
 
 

Report to OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 

 
Virtual School Annual Report and Term 
Update 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Paul Jacques, Cabinet Member for Education & Culture 
 
Officer Contact:  Merlin Joseph, Director of Children’s Services 
(Interim) 
 
Report Author: Jennie Davies, Headteacher of the Virtual School 
Ext. 5098 
 
5th March 2019 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Virtual School for  

Looked-After Children 
 

 

Annual Report  

September 2017 - August 2018 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 71



 

2 | P a g e  
 

OLDHAM VIRTUAL SCHOOL FOR LOOKED-AFTER CHILDREN 

Executive Summary 

This report provides an overview of the work of the Virtual School in 2017 / 2018.  

In September 2018 the new Virtual School Headteacher took up post. Prior to this the post had 

been held on an interim basis since March 2016.  

During the year the Virtual School Team were involved in the wider service restructure of the 

Early Years and Education directorate. The outcome brought additional posts to the team and 

an opportunity to develop and recruit to new posts to support capacity demands and further 

develop the work that the Virtual School is doing. 

Following national consultation in Autumn 2017, new guidance was released in February, 

becoming statutory from September 2018, extending the duties to incorporate ‘previously 

looked-after children’. The Virtual School team have delivered training and briefing sessions to 

all key partners to ensure a clear understanding and roles and responsibilities in relation to the 

new duties. 

Promoting good attendance remains a priority for the Virtual School. Although the percentage of 

persistent absence for Oldham LAC (9%) remains below national (10%), regional (9.8%) and 

statistical neighbours (9.87%) the figure has increased and remains a case work focus for the 

Education Support Officers. 

As with LAC nationally, there has been an increase in % receiving at least 1 Fixed Term 

Exclusion (FTE). National data shows that Oldham LAC exclusion rate remains lower than the 

national cohort and based on current locally collated data, there is a slight decrease of 1.4% 

from 2017. However this still remains too high and continues to be a priority area for the Virtual 

School. To date there have been no permanent exclusions of Oldham LAC. 

The % of LAC with identified SEN, either at SEN Support (21.9%) or with an EHCP (21.1%) is 

lower than those nationally, regionally or against our statistical neighbour, despite the significant 

rise in numbers of looked-after children and an increase in the number of complex cases. This 

has raised concerns regarding the question of appropriate identification. Work has started with 

SEND support services to look at this in more depth and develop and implement systems to 

ensure early identification of SEN for the LAC cohort. 

Personal Education Plans are key documents in tracking the educational needs and provision 

for looked-after children, contributing to their care plan. The development and implementation of 

the ePEP system has been a priority over the past year. All school age PEPs (Reception to 

Year 11) are now completed electronically allowing for better tracking and each being Quality 

Assured by the Virtual School team. The introduction of this system has not been without 

challenge and remains a priority for the team. Average PEP completion rates are currently 70% 

(including Early Years and Post 16 PEPs). The Virtual School has worked with the Early Years 

team to  

An audit and review of Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) funding has led to an amendment in policy 

and allocation of the funding is now dependent on details of use and impact being clearly 

evidenced within a termly PEP, alongside compliance of quality and timescales. In April 2018, 

the DfE increased the allocation of PP+ funding to £2,300 per pupil. 

Page 72



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Outcomes at the end of Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 vary year on year with no clear pattern of 

improvement or decline as this is cohort specific. Generally Oldham LAC perform well in 

comparison to the cohort nationally.  

There is an improving picture in 2018 in Key Stage 2 with improved outcomes in Reading, 

Writing and Maths. In Key Stage 4, % of pupils achieving 4+ in Maths and English is lower than 

2018 at 24%, however the % of pupils achieving 5 or more GCSEs (including English and 

Maths) is higher at 21%. 

IMPACT OF THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL 2017 / 2018 

 In 2017 an improving picture of outcomes at Key Stage 2, ranking 19th (out of 151) 

nationally for % of LAC achieving expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths 

(38%) compared to National LAC (32%), Regional (35%) and our statistical neighbours 

(30.1%) 

 In 2017 increase in % of LAC pupils achieving grade 4 or above in English and Maths 

GSCE (30%) higher than LAC nationally (17.5%), regionally (16.8%) and against our 

statistical neighbour (18.6%); ranking 11th (of 151) nationally. 

 Re-launch of the ePEP system, providing training and support to key partners. Improved 

quality of PEPs for school age children, with better tracking and monitoring 

 No Permanent exclusions of looked-after children. 

 Admission support for social workers and carers for children starting in reception and 

moving into Year 7. 

PRIORITIES FOR 2018 /2019 

 Implementation of new statutory duties 

 Workforce Development with the Virtual School team and key partners 

 Develop work with Early Years partners to improve ‘school readiness’ for looked-

children 

 Develop work with Post 16 partners to ensure robust pathways to further education and 

employment 

 Develop work with SEND partners  to support the early identification of Looked-after 

children with SEND 

 Reduce levels of persistent absence for our looked-after children 

 Reduce levels of fixed term exclusions for our looked-after children 

 Contribute to the development and implementation of the ‘Collaborative Framework’ for 

Oldham 

 Further develop systems and reporting linked to new staff roles within the Virtual School 

therefore improving data management and school performance 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

4 | P a g e  
 

BACKGROUND 

As Corporate Parents to our children in care, Oldham’s Priority is to ensure the needs of 

looked-after children and care leavers are met and that we assist them in having healthy and 

fulfilling lives. It is our responsibility to keep them safe, make sure their experiences in care are 

positive and improve their on-going life chances. 

Oldham Virtual School works to promote the educational achievements of our looked-after 

children regardless of where they are placed. It does not itself provide education, but instead 

recognises that schools are responsible for the educational outcomes of its children and holds 

them to account for the provision they offer and to ensure that the life chances of each looked-

after child is improved.  

The aim of the Virtual School is to close the attainment gap between children who are looked-

after and their peers who are not. This includes work on supporting access to education, re-

engaging pupils and monitoring attendance and exclusions. 

Oldham Virtual School Team 

Headteacher of the Virtual School Jennie Davies 

Team Manager of the Virtual School Sarah Reddy 

Education Support Officers Jane Butterworth  
Debbie Edwards 
Rachel Kenealy 
Nicola Wood 

PEP Coordinator Kay Blair 

Business Support Karen Black 

 

There are further plans to expand the Virtual School Team in recruiting a ‘Performance and 

Improvement Officer’ and to increase the role of an Educational Psychologist to full time.  

In 2017 – 2018 the service was part of the wider restructure within the Early Years and 

Education Directorate. The Virtual School team increased in capacity with several new roles 

created to develop the work of the Virtual School. Developing these roles to support service 

improvement is a key priority over the next year. 

Key Priorities 2018 – 2019 

 Establish a Governing Body for the Virtual School for September 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



 

5 | P a g e  
 

THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL PROFILE 2017 - 2018: Overall Numbers and Demographics 

The total number of young people looked after by Oldham continues to increase and in August 

2018 the figure was at 592. This is an increase of 16.3% with 509 children reported to be looked 

after by Oldham in September 2017, (compared to an increase of 16.5% in the previous 

year)The CLA figures show an increase of 83 pupils from Sept 2017-August 2018 (compared to 

an increase of 72 pupils within the previous academic year).  

In September 2017- August 2018, 277 young people joined the LAC cohort, which has meant 

that a total of 786 young people between the ages of 0 and 18 were looked after by Oldham at 

some point in the 2017/18 academic year.   Over the same period 195 children ceased to be 

looked after and therefore the LAC cohort was 592 pupils in August 2018.  

 

 

School Phase 

The chart below shows a breakdown by LAC by each NCY in September 2017 and August 

2018, with an increase in numbers in all phases, with the exception of post 16. The number of 

school age children in September 2017 was 318, but by August 2018 this increased by more 

than two class sizes, 20% (66), totalling the number of school age LAC at 384 pupils. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

LAC Sept 2017 v Aug 2018 

Sep-17

Aug-18

0

500

1000

2015 2016 2017 2018

Total Oldham LAC 
Most notably, the LAC 

cohort has now increased by 

almost 50% since 2015 (396 

pupils) 

 

Page 75



 

6 | P a g e  
 

Early Years phase saw 1/3 increase of children being looked after by August 2018 compared to 

September 2017 (increase of 40 LAC).

 

 

 

School Ofsted Rating 

At the end of 2017 – 2018, 83% of school age LAC attended schools rated by Ofsted as ‘Good’ 

or ‘Outstanding’. This is broadly in line with the previous year. 

 

119 

163 155 

73 

159 
195 189 

49 
0

50

100

150

200

250

Early Years Primary Secondary Post 16

LAC by School Phase 

2017

2018

2% 

15% 

59% 

24% 

LAC School Ofsted Judgements 

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement

Good

83% of LAC are attending 

schools with an Ofsted 

judgment good or better.   

This data does not include 

schools currently awaiting 

Ofsted judgement and is 

accurate based on Ofsted 

data as of August 2018. 

 

A break down by each 

curriculum year for LAC in 

August 2018 

 

Page 76



 

7 | P a g e  
 

When a child comes into care whilst a school may be judged as less than good it is often 

inappropriate to simply move their school placement based on the current Ofsted rating. 

When a child is looked-after, all school moves must be agreed by the Virtual School and there 

is now a designated section within the ePEP to enable these moves to be more closely 

monitored. 

In instances where a request has been made for a child to attend a school that ‘Requires 

Improvement’ the VSH will review recent Ofsted inspection reports where appropriate and a 

member of the Virtual School team visit the school to meet with key staff regarding the 

educational provision that would be made to support the individual child. 

School Admissions: Reception and Year 7 

As part of their role, the Virtual School team provide direct support to Social Workers and carers 

regarding the admission of looked-after children when moving into Reception and Year 7. This 

ensures that all children were placed in suitable educational placements appropriate for their 

educational and pastoral needs. 

Key Priorities: 2018 - 2019 

 The Virtual School will complete a risk assessment of any child attending a school that 

‘Requires Improvement’. 

 School judgements will form part of the RAG rating criteria for the Virtual School Teams 

casework. 

 The VSH will provide an update report each term to the DCS on any children and young 

people that attend a school that is judged inadequate. 

 Further develop work with SEND service partners within the Local Authority to support 

the identification and ongoing support needs of looked-after children with SEND. 

ATTENDANCE 2017 - 2018 

The Virtual School commissions ‘Welfare Call’ to monitor the attendance and exclusions of 

Oldham’s looked-after children placed in educational provision both in and out of borough. 

Schools and where appropriate, alternative provision are contacted on a daily basis to check 

the attendance of every pupil. 

In 2018, locally generated data shows the overall average attendance of the full LAC cohort as 

92.05%. This figure is subject to change when reported by the DfE as only the OC2 cohort 

attendance will be reported. 

  

95.71% 87.02% 

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Primary Secondary

% Oldham CLA Attendance  
The chart shows attendance of 

LAC in primary and secondary 

phases, with primary 

attendance currently better than 

secondary. Oldham LA 

attendance data for 2017/18 is 

not yet available. 

 

Page 77



 

8 | P a g e  
 

Persistent Absence  

 Any child with attendance of under 90% is classed as ‘persistently absent’.  

 In 2016 – 2017, despite a rise in the % of persistent absence from 7.2% to 9%, Oldham 

LAC still remains lower than their statistical neighbours, regional and national LAC and 

is ranked 48th nationally. 

 In 2018 locally generated data indicates that 85 children out of the full cohort of 376 had 

less than 90% attendance. 66% of these children were in borough. 

 This percentage is too high and work with schools and social care professionals is 

ongoing to reduce this. 

 

 

EXCLUSIONS 2017 - 2018 

Permanent Exclusions 

The Virtual School has encouraged agreements from schools both in Oldham and out of 

borough that they will not permanently exclude looked-after children. Instead, where appropriate 

the Virtual School works closely with the school and young person to identify provision that will 

meet their individual needs. 

During 2017 – 2018 the Virtual School provided direct intervention for 5 LAC who were at risk of 

permanent exclusion and as a result no children were permanently excluded. Various support 

programmes were put in place that enabled the child to remain in education without the stigma 

of a permanent exclusion. No LAC have been permanently excluded over the last six years. 

 

Fixed Term Exclusions 

  

10.40% 
0.70% 

9.60% 

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

All Primary Secondary

Oldham LAC with 1+FTE 2018 

2018

The chart shows the data 

for LAC who have 

received at least one 

fixed term exclusion. 

 This is locally generated 

data taken from Welfare 

Call and is subject to 

change with OC2 cohort.  

 

Page 78



 

9 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Priorities: 2018 – 2019 

 Promoting training on attachment and trauma and working closely with wider 

professionals and the currently being undertaken through the Opportunity Area to 

ensure that provision for looked-after children is considered 

 Ensure that initial PEPs are held within statutory timescales and issues regarding 

attendance and exclusions forms part of the Virtual School case work 

 Contribute to the development and implementation of the collaborative framework for 

Oldham to ensure high quality alternative provision 

 Baseline attendance data on becoming looked-after 

 

 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

Looked after children and previously looked-after children are significantly more likely to have 

Special Educational Needs than their peers and of those there will be a higher proportion with 

and EHC Plan. 

Between 2015 and 2017 the % of LAC recorded as SEN support reduced which was similar to 

the national picture, however there was an increase in 2018. The % of Oldham LAC on SEN 

Support remains lower than CLA nationally.  

 

 

 

Oldham’s current 

exclusion data is at 

10.4% which has 

reduced by 1.4% 

compared to September 

2017 figures reported. 

National and statistical 

neighbour data not 

available for 2017 and 

2018. 

 

-5

15

35

2015 2016 2017 2018

% EHCP LAC 

OC2 Oldham

National CLA

0

20

40

2015 2016 2017 2018

% SEN Support LAC 

OC2 Oldham

National CLA

Page 79



 

10 | P a g e  
 

The Local Context 

 

    

 

The Virtual School are monitoring SEND provision more closely through the termly PEP and are 

cross referencing, where appropriate with the outcomes identified in a child’s EHCP. 

Further work is planned with the Qest team and SEMHs to develop the role of the SENCo when 

a child is looked- after and has special educational needs. 

 

 

Key Priorities 2018 – 2019 

 Commission online training on ‘Attachment’ and ‘Trauma’ for Desinated Teachers 

 Develop colaborative working with LA SEND services such and SEMHS and Qest Team 

 Virtual Schoool Headteacher to sit on EHCP weekly panel and advise on cases for 

looked-after children 

 Develop a Quality Assurance process with the SEND team to review EHCPs with PEPs 

to ensure approrpaite provision is in place and appropriate pathways are identified 

0

20

40

2015 2016 2017 2018

% Sen Support 
Oldham 

OC2 Oldham

Oldham

0

10

20

30

2015 2016 2017 2018

%EHCP Oldham  

OC2 Oldham

Oldham

45% 

35% 

8% 

4% 
8% 

LAC SEND by primary reason   
Aug 2018 SEMH

Cognition &
Learning
Communication
and Interaction
Sensory & Physical

other

A review of SEND needs for LAC found 

Social Emotional and Mental Health 

(SEMH) to be the highest primary need 

followed by cognition and learning (C & 

L).  

Almost of half of LAC with EHCP at 

secondary were identified the primary 

reason for the EHCP to be cognition and 

learning, followed by SEMH at 37%. 

 

Taken from locally collated data recorded in 

the ePEPs, the % of LAC on SEN Support is 

double that of the Oldham school age 

population. 

 

This higher proportion is also reflected in 

the % of looked-after children with an 

EHCP compared to all other Oldham 

school age children. 

 

Page 80



 

11 | P a g e  
 

PERSONAL EDUCATION PLANS (PEPs) 

The Local Authority has a statutory duty to maintain Personal Education Plans (PEPs) for every 

looked-after child in an educational setting up to the end of the school year that they turn 18 

(Year 13). On becoming looked-after a PEP must be initiated and completed within 20 working 

days to inform the first review meeting (held at 28 days) and then reviewed termly. 

The role of the VSH should be to ensure that effective systems are in place to; 

Ensure that social workers, designated teachers and schools, carers and IROs understand their 

role and responsibilities in initiating, developing, reviewing and updating the child’s PEP and 

how they help meet the needs identified in that PEP. 

Ensure up to date, effective and high quality PEPs that focus on educational outcomes and all 

looked-after children, wherever they are placed have such a PEP. 

 

In September 2017, having encountered difficulties the previous year in introducing the ePEP, 

the Virtual School re-launched the use of the web based PEP through Welfare Call.  

 

 

 Source of Data: Mosaic 

ePEP Data 2017 – 2018 

 2017 - 2018 In Borough Out of Borough 

Completed 866 589 277 

Red 19 2.1% 14 2.3% 5 1.8% 

Amber 425 49% 264 44.8% 161 58.1% 

Green 422 48.7% 311 52.8% 111 40.07% 
Source of Data: Welfare Call 

 Autumn Term Spring Term Summer Term 

Completed 214 300 352 

Red 17 3.2% 1 0.3% 1 0.2% 

Amber 86 40.1% 143 47.6% 196 55.6% 

Green 111 51.8% 156 52% 155 44.2% 
Source of Data: Welfare Call 

 

Percentage of PEP's Completed in Timescale

81.1 

62.7 

45.2 

69.1 71.7 

81.7 

74.0 75.4 
80.2 79.4 

50.0 

66.7 

Over last 12 months the 

average completion rate 

for PEPs was 70% 

 

Page 81



 

12 | P a g e  
 

Year Group Breakdown ePEP (2017 – 2018) (Welfare Call) 

 Autumn Term Spring Term Summer Term 

Com R A G Com R A G Com R A G 

Year 0 7 2 2 3 13 0 9 4 19 0 11 8 

Year 1 15 2 4 9 16 0 6 10 23 0 10 13 

Year 2 11 1 3 7 16 0 6 10 24 0 16 8 

Year 3 11 0 2 9 18 0 7 11 22 0 11 11 

Year 4 11 0 1 10 22 0 5 17 22 0 10 12 

Year 5 23 2 7 14 37 0 18 19 41 0 24 17 

Year 6 18 1 9 8 23 0 4 19 29 1 12 16 

Year 7 17 2 9 6 28 0 12 16 33 0 13 20 

Year 8 23 3 10 10 29 0 22 7 38 0 26 12 

Year 9 25 1 11 13 29 1 17 11 30 0 19 11 

Year 10 29 2 16 11 36 0 20 16 38 0 22 16 

Year 11 24 1 12 11 33 0 17 16 33 0 22 11 
Source of Data: Welfare Call 

 

Key Priorities for 2018 – 2019 

 Develop role of the PEP Coordinator. Establish procedures for tracking, monitoring and 

reporting on PEP initiation and completion. 

 Develop PEP toolkit to support all professionals  

- Completing a PEP 

- Quality Assurance Criteria 

- PEP meetings 

- PEP escalation procedure 

 Develop Quality Assurance process for Early Years PEPs in collaboration with Oldham’s 

Early Years Team 

 Release of PP+ funding allocation on receipt of quality termly PEP (in line with new PP+ 

Policy) 

 Improve completion of initial PEPs in line with statutory timescales 

 Consider implications for moving to ePEP for Early Years and Post 16 PEPs and action 

accordingly 

 

PUPIL PREMIUM PLUS (PP+) GRANT 2017 - 2018 

At the start of the academic year children who have been in local authority care for 1 day or 

more attracted £1,900 of Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) funding for school age children (reception 

to Year 11), In April 2018 the DfE increased this amount to £2,300 per pupil.  

The main purpose of PP+ funding is to improve educational attainment of looked after children 

and close the gap between them and their peers. This funding is managed by the Virtual School 

who has responsibility to allocate and use the funding in the best interests of individuals or the 

full cohort.  It is not intended to be used as a personal budget. 

At the start of 2017 the Virtual School maintained the allocation to all schools with Oldham LAC 

of £1,400 per pupil (£500 Autumn term, £400 Spring term, £500 Summer term). This does not 

include children who have an EHCP or who attend specialist or independent schools as the 

local authority are already funding high cost educational provision relevant to their individual 

Page 82



 

13 | P a g e  
 

needs, so do therefore not receive the PP+ funding. Schools are required to account for the use 

and impact of PP+ through PEPs. 

During the academic year a review of funding allocation and subsequent use was undertaken 

by the Virtual School. Despite schools receiving a specific allocation of funding there was 

limited detail of use or evidence of impact of PP+ in PEPs. Therefore, the Virtual School has 

amended the PP+ policy and although an automatic allocation is still made to schools, from 

September 2018 this funding will only be released on the receipt of a good quality PEP with 

clear details of use and impact of PP+ funding linked to identified needs and subsequent 

interventions.  

In the financial Year 2017 – 2018 the Virtual School received funding for 376 looked-after 

children. 

Automatic allocation Complex Needs Funding Additional Resources Central Resources 

£1,400 per pupil 

allocated to schools 

Additional funding 

requests from schools 

1:1 tuition 

Saddleworth EE 

Gain Focus 

Yipiyap 

Nisai online learning 

GCSE Pod 

Welfare Call 

NAVSH Membership 

Training: 

- DT Forum 

- ePEPs 

- North West VS 

Conference 

42% of PP+ budget 29% of PP+ budget 25% of PP+ budget 4% of PP+ budget 

 

Priorities for 2018 – 2019 

 Implement new Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) Policy 

 Continue to monitor and report how PP+ funding is being used to support and enhance 

the learning of looked-after children being educated both in and out of borough 

 Commission online training on ‘Attachment’ and ‘Trauma’ for Designated Teachers 

 Commission full time Educational Psychologist to work within the Virtual School 

 Develop a monitoring system to categorise use of PP+ in schools and track against 

impact on progress and attainment 

 

THE WORK OF THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL 2017 – 2018 

Training and Development 

Termly meeting for Designated Teachers 

 PEPs 

 Target Setting 

 Pupil Premium 

 New Statutory Duties- Roles and responsibilities 

 

 

 

Page 83



 

14 | P a g e  
 

North West Virtual School Conference 

This year for the first time the North West Virtual Schools came together and hosted 2 regional 

conferences in March 2018. The conference included speakers from the DfE, Ofsted and 

Adoption Charities and highlighted the challenges of supporting the educational needs of 

looked-after and previously looked-after children. 

Plans are now underway for the 2018 – 19 Conference. 

 

Welfare Call ePEP Training 

To support the re-launch of the ePEP the Virtual School commissioned the organisation to 

deliver 6 briefing sessions over 2 days, aimed at all professionals working with Oldham LAC 

who within their role are required to access and input into PEPs.  

 

Bespoke Training for schools and other organisations 

During 2017 – 2018 a range of training was provided at the request of individual schools, MATs 

and other groups. This included; 

 CSC briefings 

 MAT training- Designated Teachers for looked-after children 

 Governing Body Briefings 

 ePEP briefings (monthly) 

 Early Years managers and Designated Lead Training 

 

Additional Activities 2017 – 2018 
 

The Virtual School led and / or supported a number of additional activities, some of which were 

funded by the Pupil Premium Plus funding retained by the Virtual School. 

 
Programme Name 

 
Description 

 
Numbers 

Participating 

 
Outcomes 

Letterbox Club May 
2017- Oct 2017 

6 month project run 
through Booktrust which 
provides parcels of books, 
stationery, maths 
resources and games to 
children in nursery, year 1, 
3, 5 and 7. Parcels are 
sent out each month from 
May to October. Every 
child receives a parcel 
which is are age specific 
 

99 To develop the love of 
reading 
 
To improve Maths and 
English outcomes 

PGL Residential 
October 17 

3 day residential trip to an 
outdoor multi activity 
centre for KS3 and KS4 
children  

8 To raise self-esteem and 
promote team building 
 
To develop a working 

Page 84



 

15 | P a g e  
 

relationship with members 
of the Virtual School Team 
 

Little Owl Farm 
Holiday Club 
February Half Term 

4 day programme for KS2 
children to learn about 
animal husbandry and 
take part in craft activities 

13 To encourage young 
people to work in small 
groups 
 
To build social and 
emotional development 
skills 
 
To develop a working 
relationship with members 
of the Virtual School Team 
 

Laticzone Holiday 
Club - Easter 

4 day programme for KS3 
and KS4 children to 
complete Level 1 BTEC. 
To include: 

 work as part of a 
group 

 learn about 
healthy living 

 plan and run an 
enterprise activity 

 

7 Completed BTEC Level 1 
Course in Personal and 
Social Development 

Success 4 Life 9 week long project – 1 
night a week run by 
University of Manchester 
and Manchester 
Metropolitan University 
Widening Participation 
Teams. The project is for 
KS4 children and focuses 
on strengths and skills, 
confidence and aspiration 
building. Young people to 
visit Hopwood Hall 
College and Bolton 
University 
 
 
 
 

4 To motivate and inspire 
young people in their 
progression and 
development 
 
To raise awareness of 
Higher Education and post 
16 options 
 
To experience a 
Graduation Ceremony on 
completion of the course 
 
 

PGL Residential 
May 

3 day residential trip to an 
outdoor multi activity 
centre for KS2 children 

15 To raise self-esteem and 
promote team building 
 
To develop a working 
relationship with members 
of the Virtual School Team 
 
To support the transition 
from primary to secondary 
school 

Page 85



 

16 | P a g e  
 

 

Letterbox Club May 
2018 – Oct 2018 

As above 160 As above 

Laticzone Holiday 
Club -  Summer 

4 day programme for KS3 
and one KS4 who worked 
as a mentor to the group. 
Young people to complete 
a programme of AQAs 

12 Completed the following 
AQA’s: 
 
Basic Food Hygiene 
Hama Beads: Using heat 
seal beads 
Designing & Making a 
Badge 
Using Garage band to 
create dance music 
Designing a Comic Life 
page 
Making a Planter 
Team Building 
Recording Sound With 
Microphone 
Participating in a Land 
Based Activity 
Preparing a Fresh Fruit 
Salad 
Making a Healthy 
Smoothie 
 
(working as a mentor) 
Team Building and 
Leadership 
Volunteering with support  
Event volunteer 
Facilitation Skills 
Land Based Activity 
Making A Planter 
 

Saddleworth 
Environmental 
Education – Summer 
Holiday Programme 

4 day programme for KS2, 
KS3 and KS4 children to 
complete community 
based projects including: 

 orienteering and 
learning about the 
local environment 
in Dovestones 
Park 

 visit to ‘Little Owl 
Farm’ – learning 
about animal 
husbandry 

 Building and 
decorating 
birdboxes 

 Pond dipping and 
learning about 
local flora and 

16 To encourage young 
people to work in small 
groups 
 
To learn about the local 
environment 
 
To build social and 
emotional development 
skills 

Page 86



 

17 | P a g e  
 

fauna 
 

 
COLLABORATIVE WORKING 

A key area for the Virtual School Team is improving partnership working with all those involved 

in the education of looked-after children. This includes professionals from Children’s Social 

Care and across services with the Local Authority, Schools, carers, key partners and most 

importantly the children and young people. 

The Virtual School is participates and sits on a number of local authority working and strategy 

groups to ensure that the educational focus and provision for looked-after children is 

represented. 

 Attendance at the weekly ‘Access to Resource Panel’ so to ensure educational provision 

is considered when a child moves placement. 

 Sit on the Fostering Panel to ensure that educational provision is considered when 

placing matching children to carers 

 A member of the National Association for Virtual School Headteachers, and attendance 

at the national conference to be aware of National updates, initiatives and new 

legislation 

 Attends the North West Virtual School Headteachers meetings each term, ensuring 

networking with colleagues to share good practice, discuss challenges and plan 

collectively across Greater Manchester and North West Virtual Schools. 

 Positive Steps- to discuss and share updates to ensure that Key Stage 4 LAC are on 

appropriate pathways and are receiving correct guidance for post 16 opportunities 

 Phoenix Meetings- attend monthly meetings to highlight and discuss high risk CSE 

cases 

 Attend TAC, Strategy Meetings as appropriate to provide information and guidance 

regarding educational provision 

 Report to Corporate Parent Panel providing regular updates on the educational 

provision and outcomes for Oldham’s looked-after children 

 Attendance and contribute to the LSCB for education 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTAINMENT DATA: 2016 - 2017 

Please note that the statistics presented in these reports are based on low numbers of children. Although 

they may indicate difference compared with previous results, the low numbers involved mean that caution 

should be exercised when comparing data, or making generalisations about cohorts. 

Page 87



 

18 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

KS1 LAC OC2 Cohort: 13 Children 

At the end of Key Stage 1 

Reading All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional LAC 

EXS 77% 69% 52% 69% (13) 51% 

GDS 25% 17% 9% 23% 10% 

 

Writing All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional LAC 

EXS 68% 59% 39% 62% (13) 41% 

GDS 16% 11% 4% 15% 5% 

 

Maths All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional LAC 

EXS 75% 69% 46% 69% (13) 50% 

GDS 21% 15% 6% 15% 6% 
 

Combined (R,W & M) All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 

EXS 64% 58% 36% 62% (13) 

GDS 11%   3% 15% 
 

KS1 EXS  RWM 2016 2017 Trend 

Oldham OC2 41.70% 62.0%   

National CLA 33% 36.0%   

Oldham pupils 53% 58%   

 

Attainment Trends (OC2) 

 Performance of KS1 LAC in 2016 – 2017 was better than the previous year in Reading 

(65.2%) Writing (52.2%) and Maths (56.5%) 

 Oldham OC2 results were significantly above national average for CLA and above 

Oldham school pupils. 

SEN Context (OC2) 

 5 children have SEND (38% of reportable cohort) 

 1 child (8%) has an EHCP (Primary need MLD) 

 4 children (31%) have SEN Support (1 MLD, 3 SEMH). 2 children (15%) achieved EXS 

in Reading. 1 child (8%) achieved EXS in Writing, Maths and R,W & M combined 

 

KS1 Attainment by School Location 

 Of the 13 children in the reportable cohort, 10 (77%) were educated in Oldham schools 

and 3 (23%) out of borough. 

OC2 cohort refers to children who have been continuously looked-after for more than 12 months. 

Page 88



 

19 | P a g e  
 

OC2 cohort educated in borough: 

 6 (60%) out of the 10 children achieved expected standard in all areas (reading, writing 

and maths) 

 2 children (20%) achieved greater depth standard in reading, Writing and Maths 

 4 (40%) of the 10 children have an identified SEND; 3 (30%) at SEN Support and 1 

(10%) child with an EHCP. 

OC2 cohort educated out of borough: 

 2 (67%) out of the 3 children achieved expected standard in all areas (reading, writing 

and maths) 

 1 out of the 3 children was on the SEND register at SEN Support. 

Narrowing the Gap 

  2016 2017 2016 Gap with 

Oldham LAC 

2017 Gap with 

Oldham LAC 

1 year trend 

 

Oldham 

 

Reading 67.3% 69% 9% 0% -9% 

Writing 59.3% 59% 17.6% + 3% - 20.6% 

Maths 65.2% 69% 6.9% 0% - 6.9% 

Combined 53.7% 58% 12% 2% -10% 

 

National 

Reading 74.2% 77% 15.9% 8% -7.9% 

Writing 65.7% 68% 24% 6% -18% 

Maths 72.8% 75% 14.5% 6% -8.5% 

Combined 60.5% 64% 18.8% 2% -16.8% 

 The gap between Oldham OC2 cohort and all Oldham children and all national children 

narrowed in 2017 across all subject areas. 

KS2 LAC OC2 Cohort: 16 Children 

Reading All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional Stat N Rank 

EXS 71% 65% 45% 44% (16) 48% 42% 39 / 151 

GDS 25% 7% 10% 6% 8%     

Av S. Score 104.1 102.7 99.4 99.4       

Av Prog Sc 0 -0.4 -0.6 0.6 0 -0.91 31 / 151 
 

Writing All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional Stat N Rank 

EXS 76% 72% 48% 56% (16) 50% 47% 21 / 151 

GDS 18% 12% 5% 0%       

Av Prog S 0 0 -0.9 0.1 -0.2 -0.64 42 / 151 
 

 

Maths All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional Stat N Rank 

EXS 75% 71% 46% 50% (16) 50% 46% 29 / 151 

GDS 23% 17% 7% 13% 6%     

Av S. Score 104.2 103.7 99.2 100.6       

Av Prog Sc 0 0.4 -1.1 0.6 0.2 -0.89 24 / 151 

Page 89



 

20 | P a g e  
 

 

GPS All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional Stat N Rank 

EXS 77% 74% 50% 56% (16) 53% 47% 19 / 151 

GDS 31% 29% 13% 19% 19%     

Av S. Score 106 106 101.2 102.6       
 

Combined All Nat Oldham Nat CLA Old OC2 Regional Stat N Rank 

EXS 61% 55% 32% 38% 35% 30% 19 / 151 

GDS 9% 5% 1% 0% 0%     
 

KS2 EXS  RWM 2016 2017 ranking Difference Trend 

Oldham OC2 37.0% 38.0% 19 1.0%   

National CLA 25.0% 32.0%   7.0%   

Stat N CLA 29.9% 30.1%   0.3%   

Regional CLA 26.0% 35.0%   9.0%   

Oldham  pupils 47% 57%   10.0%   

 

 

Attainment Trends (OC2) 

Reading 

 7 children (44%) achieved expected standard in Reading. This is lower than last year at 

52.6%.  

 A higher percentage of Oldham’s OC2 Lac achieved expected standard in reading 

compared to our statistical neighbours. 

Writing 

 9 children (56%) achieved expected standard in Writing, this has improved from last 

year at 52.6%.  

 The percentage of Oldham OC2 LAC achieving expected standard in writing was higher 

than the Lac cohort nationally, regionally and that of our statistical neighbours. 

Maths 

 8 children (50%) achieved expected standard in Maths compared to 63.2% last year. 

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

Oldham
OC2

National
CLA

Stat N
CLA

Regional
CLA

Oldham
pupils

KS2 EXS RWM 2017 

2016

2017

The chart shows OC2 Oldham 

cohort results in 2017 compared 

to Oldham pupils, National CLA, 

Stat N CLA and regional CLA. 

Although OC2 cohort results 

remaining higher than national 

and stat N , Oldham pupils saw 

a 10% increase from 2016 to 

2017 compared to only 1% 

increase in OC2 Oldham. 

 

Page 90



 

21 | P a g e  
 

 The percentage of the Oldham OC2 cohort achieving expected standard in maths was 

equal to regional LAC and higher than national Lac and our statistical neighbours. 

Combined (Reading, Writing and Maths)  

 6 children (38%) achieved expected standard in combined Reading, Writing and Maths. 

This is a slight improvement from last year at 36.8%. 

 The percentage of Oldham OC2 LAC achieving expected standard in Reading, Writing 

and Maths is high than LAC nationally, regionally and against our statistical neighbours, 

ranking Oldham 19th nationally. 

Progress Trends (OC2) 

 Progress in Reading and Writing has improved this year, although there is a slight drop 

Mathematical progress.  

 Progress in Reading, Writing and Maths for Oldham’s OC2 cohort is better than the 

national, regional and statistical neighbour LAC cohorts. 

SEN Context (OC2) 

 7 children have an identified SEND (44% of OC2 cohort) 

 1 child (6%) has an EHCP with the primary need identified as SLCN. This child did not 

achieve expected standard in any subject area. 

 6 children (37.5%) have SEN Support. 1 child (6%) achieved expected standard in 

Reading, Writing and Maths. 2 children also achieved expected standard in Reading, 

GPS and Maths. 

- 2 children have primary need identified as SPLD 

- 1 child has primary need identified as MLD 

- 1 child has primary need identified as SLCN 

- 2 children have primary need identified as other 

KS2 Attainment by School Location 

Of the 16 children in Year 6 OC2 cohort, 11 (69%) were educated in Oldham and 5 (31%) were 

educated out of borough. 

OC2 cohort educated in borough: 

 3 children (19%) achieved expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths. 

OC2 cohort educated out of borough: 

 3 children out of the 5 achieved expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths. One 

of these children was SEN Support. 

 

Narrowing the Gap  

 The results for Oldham schools and all schools nationally have improved this year. In 

Writing the gap has narrowed slightly or Oldham’s LAC OC2 cohort in relation to other 

Oldham children and all children nationally. 

Page 91



 

22 | P a g e  
 

 The gap has increased in Reading, Maths, GPS and Combined when comparing against 

all Oldham and national children. 

 
  2016 2017 2016 Gap with 

Oldham LAC 

2017 Gap with 

Oldham LAC 

1 year trend 

 

Oldham 

 

Reading 59.1% 65% 6.5% 21% + 14.5% 

Writing 69% 72% 16.4% 16% - 0.4% 

Maths 68.2% 71% 5% 21% + 16% 

GPS 72.1% 74% 14.2% 18% + 3.8% 

Combined 46.9% 55% 10.1% 17% + 16.9% 

 

National 

Reading 66% 71% 13.4% 27% + 13.6% 

Writing 74% 76% 21.4% 20% - 1.4% 

Maths 69.8% 75% 6.6% 25% + 18.4% 

GPS 72.5% 77% 14.6% 21% + 6.4% 

Combined 53.5% 61% 16.7% 23% + 6.3% 

 

KS4 OC2 Cohort: 28 Children 

KS4  4-9 in  E&M or ( A*-C ) 2016 2017 ranking Difference Trend 

Oldham OC2 12.5% 29.6% 11 /151 14.2%   

National CLA 17.50% 17.5%  0.0%  - 

Stat N CLA 19.70% 18.6%  -1.1%   

Regional CLA 15.40% 16.8%  1.4%   

Oldham pupils 56.60% 59.2%  2.6%   
 

KS4  Attainment 8 2016 2017 ranking Difference Trend 

Oldham OC2 26.3 22 43 / 151 4.3  

National CLA 22.8 18  4.8  

Stat N CLA 22.74 19.21  3.53  

Regional CLA 22.9 19  3.9  

Oldham pupil 46 44  2  

 

KS4  Progress 8 2016 2017 ranking Difference Trend 

Oldham OC2 -0.78 -1.28 88 / 151 -0.5   

National CLA -1.14 -1.18  -0.04   

Stat N CLA -1.28 -1.28  0  - 

Regional CLA -1.27 -1.37  -0.1   

Oldham pupil -0.34 -0.2  0.14   

 

Other. Qualifications Nat CLA Oldham OC2 

2016 74.2% 83.3% 

2017 72% 70% 
 

Page 92



 

23 | P a g e  
 

 

Attainment Trends (OC2) 

 The English and Maths chart shows OC2 data for KS4 English and Maths compared to 

National, stat N and Regional CLA data and Oldham pupils.   

 There has been a significant increase in the % of the OC2 cohort attaining level 4 or 

above in English and Maths from 2016 (12.5%). 

 For English and Math GCSE outcomes the LA are ranked 11th nationally. 

 OC2 remains above average for CLA comparison but significantly lower compared to 

Oldham pupils. However the increase in OC2 in 2016 to 2017 was 14.2% compared to 

2.6%, reducing the gap with Oldham pupils reducing the gap from 41% to 29%. 

 Despite a drop from 2016, attainment 8 outcomes for OC2 cohort is still higher than 

national, regional and our statistical neighbours. 

 

Progress Trends (OC2) 

 KS4 progress 8 chart shows OC2 progress further reducing and falls below national 

CLA, but in line with stat neighbours and above regional. The reduction is significantly 

higher compared to all other comparisons. 

 

KS4 Attainment by School Location 

Out of the cohort of 28 pupils, 22 (78.5%) were educated in Oldham and 6 (21.4%) were 

educated out of borough. 

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

Oldham OC2 National
CLA

Stat N CLA Regional
CLA

Oldham
pupils

KS4 4-9 E&M 2017 

2016

2017

-0.78 
-1.14 -1.28 -1.27 

-0.34 

-1.28 -1.18 -1.28 -1.37 

-0.2 Oldham OC2National CLAStat N CLARegional CLAOldham pupil

KS4 Progress 8 2017 

2016

2017

Page 93



 

24 | P a g e  
 

 Attainment 8 Progress 8 E & M (9 – 4) Other 
Qualifications 

In Borough 20.4 -1.49 9.5% 66.7% 

Out of Borough 26.9 -0.50 16.7% 83.3% 
 

SEN Context (OC2) 

 6 (21.4%) of the 28 in the OC2 cohort were on the SEN register. All 6 had a statement 

or and EHCP. No children were SEN Support. 

 From the 6 pupils with EHCPs or Statements the primary needs identified were; 

- 1 had Profound Multiple Learning Difficulties (PMLD) 

- 3 had Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD) 

- 1 had Social, Emotional, Mental Health Needs (SEMH) 

- 1 had Severe Learning Difficulties (SLD) 

 5 pupils were educated in Oldham schools and 1 was educated out of borough. 

 3 children attended state funded maintained schools and 3 children attended state 

funded special schools. 

 For the 3 pupils attending special schools that make educational provision for young 

people with severe and complex learning needs, they were not entered for reportable 

national qualifications. 

 Progress for the SEN cohort (-0.82) was better than pupils with no SEN (-1.43) 

 50% of the SEN cohort achieved alternative qualifications, this is lower than LAV SEN 

nationally (73%). 

 No SEN pupils achieved level 4 or above in English and Maths GCSE 

 

Narrowing the Gap  

  2016 2017 2016 Gap with 

Oldham LAC 

2017 Gap with 

Oldham LAC 

1 year trend 

 

Oldham 

 

9 – 4 English and Maths 56.6% 59.2% 43.1% 29.6%  

Attainment 8 46 44 19.7 22  

Progress 8 -0.34 -0.2 0.44 1.08  

 

National 

9 – 4 English and Maths 59.5% 59.1% 47 29.5%  

Attainment 8 48.5 44.6 22.2 22.6  

Progress 8 0 0 -0.78 -1.28  

Note: 2016 and 2017 are not directly comparable due to a change in Maths and English GCSEs. 

Non Reportable Cohort: 15 children 

The Virtual School monitor the attendance and progress of all looked-after children, but only the 

results of those who have been in care for more than 12 months are published. 

In 2017, an additional 15 children were in the Year 11 cohort but were classed as non-

reportable as they entered care after 1st April 2016. 

Out of this cohort; 

Page 94



 

25 | P a g e  
 

 Average Attainment 8 was15.8% 

 Average Progress 8 was -2.36 

 % achieving English and Maths GCSE (9 – 4) was 13.3% 

 % achieving an alternative qualification was 66.7% 

 % on the SEN register- 20% (SEN Support) 

                                    - 0 EHCP / Statements 

 12 young people (80%) were educated in Oldham Schools with 3 (20%) placed out of 

borough 

 

POST 16  

 

Current levels of NEET for our LAC young people are too high and are higher than national, 

regional and our statistical neighbours. 

 

 
 
In July 2018 the Virtual School appointed an Education Support Officer (0.4) with the remit for 
Post 16 and Care Leavers. This role will work closely with the After Care Team, Positive Steps 
and Post 16 providers ensuring the needs of those young people accessing training and 
education are being met, liaising closely with the designated worker from Positive Steps who 
supports those who are not in education, training or employment. 
 

From 2016 to 2017 there is an improvement in the % of LAC in education, employment and 
training from 46% to 48%, although this remains slightly lower than national (regional and 
statistical neighbours. 
 

 

The information below shows the data for Oldham LAC from September 2017 – August 2018 

Page 95



 

26 | P a g e  
 

 

 

2017 – 2018: Year 11 destinations: Full Cohort 32 

Destinations No % Courses 

Training Provider 2 6.2%  

College 17 52.7%  

YMCA/ Mantra/ Rathbones 4 12.4%  

Specialist Provision 5 15.5%  

North Lancs Training 1 3.1% Employability and functional skills 

 

No Provision identified 

Current Provision No % 

On Remand 1 3.1% 

Working with careers service whilst awaiting ADHD assessment 1 3.1% 

Pregnant 1 3.1% 

 

In September 90.6% of the cohort are accessing education, employment or training 

Key Priorities 2018 – 2019 

 To develop the role of the Post 16 and Care leavers Officer, networking with similar post 

holders in other Virtual Schools to develop systems and processes in Oldham. 

 To monitor careers support through termly PEPs to ensure that LAC are prioritised and 

access the support needed to support pathway planning Post 16 

 To contribute to the amendment of the delivery plan for Positive Steps with regards to 

careers advice and support for looked-after children and care leavers. 

 

 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18

EET and NEET 2017 - 2018 

EET NEET

Page 96



 

27 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A- 2018 Provisional Data  
                    (un-validated) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A:  

ATTAINMENT 2017 – 2018 

Page 97



 

28 | P a g e  
 

 

Provisional Results 2018 (un-validated) 

National LAC validated data will be available from the DfE in Spring term 2019. 

‘OC2 cohort’ is children who have been in care for over 12 months. 

 

EYFS     OC2 Cohort: 9 

% achieving GLD 55.5% 

 

 This data has not previously been reported and does not form part of the national 

reporting data set. This will be tracked year on year by the Virtual School 

 

Year 1 Phonics Screening Check     Full Cohort: 26  

(reportable 25 as 1 child attends school in Wales where they do not completed the screening 

check)  

Standard Number of children % 

WT (Working towards) 6 24% 

WA (Working at) 19 76% 

 

 This data has not previously been reported and does not form part of the national 

reporting data set. This will be tracked year on year by the Virtual School 

 

 

KS1     OC2 Cohort: 14 

 % 

Working at expected standard in Reading 50% 

Working at expected standard in Writing 43% 

Working at expected standard in Maths 50% 

Working at expected standard in GPS 36% 

Working at expected standard in R, W & M 28% 

 

 % of pupils achieving Reading, Writing, Maths and R,W,M combined are all lower than  

2017 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

29 | P a g e  
 

KS2     OC2 Cohort: 22 

 % 

Working at expected standard in Reading 64% 

Working at expected standard in Writing 50% 

Working at expected standard in Maths 55% 

Working at expected standard in GPS 59% 

Working at expected standard in R, W & M 41% 

 

 KS2 performance in Reading, Maths and Combined (R,W & M) has improved from 

2017, but was lower in writing. 

 

KS4     OC2 Cohort: 29 pupils 

 % 

LAC achieved 9 – 4 in English and Maths (standard pass) 24% 

LAC achieving 9 – 5 in English and Maths (strong pass) 10% 

LAC achieving 5 or more GCSEs incl. Eng & Maths (9 - 4) 21% 

LAC achieving any 5 GCSE subjects (9 – 4) 24% 

 

 % of pupils achieving 4+ in Maths and English is lower 

 % of pupils achieving 5 or more GCSEs (including English and Maths) is higher. 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



OLDHAM VIRTUAL SCHOOL FOR LOOKED-AFTER CHILDREN  

Autumn Term 2018 

This report provides an overview of the work of the Virtual School during the Autumn term of 

2018 (September 2018 – December 2018) and complements the Virtual School Annual 

Report 2017-18.  

Summary 

Expansion of the Virtual School Team continued with the introduction of two new posts: 

 Education Support Officer for Post 16 

 PEP Coordinator.  

The introduction of these two roles has enabled the Virtual School to develop our work with 

regards to our statutory duties. 

Having previously seen an increase of almost 50% in the number of Looked-After Children 

between 2015 and 2018, there was a decrease of approximately 10% (from 582 to 524) in 

the Autumn term. 

In December 2018 the Virtual School cohort was; 

 Early Years: 21% 

 School Ages: 67%  

(Primary: 34%, Secondary 33%, In borough: 71%, Out borough 29%) 

 Post 16: 12% 

The Headteacher of the Virtual School has been working with Children’s Social Care (CSC) 

and health partners to further develop a notification system within Mosaic. This will ensure 

timely information at the point a child becomes looked after, thereby enabling swift liaison 

with schools so that provision and support can be put in place immediately. 

Un-validated figures for Looked-After Children in the Autumn term show: 

 91% attendance, 

 12% of the school age cohort currently have attendance under 90%,  

 6% of young people received 1 or more fixed term exclusion.  

During the Autumn term, 2 children were at risk of permanent exclusion. The Virtual School 

directly intervened and support programmes were put in place that enabled the young 

people to remain in education without the stigma of a permanent exclusion. To date no 

Looked-After Children has been permanently excluded from school. 

Issues regarding attendance, exclusions and alternative or reduced timetables are monitored 

and continue to inform the case work of the Virtual School Officers in working directly with 

the young people, schools, social workers and wider partners to ensure appropriate access 

to education.  

At the end of the Autumn term, 80% of school age Looked-After Children were attending 

good or outstanding schools. When a child comes into care, whilst a school may be judged 

Page 101



as less than good it is often inappropriate to simply move their school placement based on 

the current Ofsted rating. The Virtual School team monitor such provision to ensure that 

educational needs are being met. During the course of the term, of the school age children 

that became looked after, 20% were attending schools that were inadequate, 25% attended 

schools that Require Improvement and 55% were in good or outstanding schools.  

Personal Education Plans (PEPs) continue to be a focus area for the Virtual School to 

improve both quality and compliance. The PEP Coordinator came into post in October and 

the impact of the role is already evident. Initial PEP completion rates for children new into 

care have improved from 0% in July to 66% being completed within the statutory timescale 

of 20 working days in December. 89% of initial PEPs were completed in time for the first 

Looked-After Children review at 28 days. 

In September, the Virtual School commissioned online training on attachment and trauma to 

support Designated Teachers and key school staff in understanding the needs of Looked-

After Children. To date 48 professionals have accessed the training, with positive feedback 

received. The Autumn Term Designated Teacher (DT) focussed on Social Emotional and 

Mental Health. The forum was well attended with workshops on Adverse Childhood 

Experiences and Functional Behavioural Analysis. 

During the term the Virtual School continued to deliver monthly ePEP briefings to education 

and CSC staff to support their understanding of PEPs and the ePEP system. The first 

session of training was also delivered to Governors regarding their statutory duties in 

meeting the educational needs of Looked-After Children. This was positively received with 

further training planned each term. Briefing sessions have also been delivered across the 

CSC teams to provide an update of the new statutory duties, role and responsibilities in 

promoting the education of looked after and previously looked after children. 

 

Priorities for Spring Term 

 Development of CLAESS (Children Looked After Education Support Services) 

meeting to develop multi-service approach to meeting the educational needs of 

Looked-After Children 

 Development of PEP toolkit 

 Revise ePEP document 

 Termly Meeting with Secondary DTs in Oldham Schools (Challenge and Support) 

 Develop work with SEND team incorporating PEP and EHC planning 

 DT Forum: The Voice of the Child and Corporate Parenting 

 Development of the Virtual School Governing Body. 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
To provide a summary of the work of the Overview & Scrutiny Education Task and Finish 
Group on disadvantage. 
 
To provide an update of the work of the Opportunity Area to influence social mobility for 
disadvantaged children and young people. 
 
Recommendations 
To note the report. 
 
To seek an update in 12 months’ time on the educational impact of the work being carried 
out by the Education, Skills and Early Years Service, supported by Opportunity Area 
funding, to improve social mobility across the community.  
 
1. Background 

Overview & Scrutiny Education Task and Finish Group and disadvantage 
 

1.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Education Task and Finish Group are interested in local 
strategies on to reduce disadvantage and the use of the related Pupil Premium. 
They sought to gain an insight into the associated challenges and opportunities 
faced by schools and academies, and to consider how the group could assist. Two 
meetings took place with a selection of head teachers, officers and elected member 
representatives.  

  
1.2 On 20th September, 2017 a round table discussion took place on the theme of ‘how 

to support social mobility and the attainment and wider achievement of 
disadvantaged children & young people in Oldham’. The elected members present 
were keen to support the schools, academies and the local authority in whatever 
way possible to help support the outcome. (see Appendix 1). 

Report to Overview & Scrutiny Board  
 
Oldham Education Disadvantage and Social Mobility Update: 
 
Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor P Jacques, Cabinet Member for Education and Culture 
 
Officer Contact:  Andrew Sutherland, Director of Education, Skills & Early 
Years   
 
Report Author: Tony Shepherd, Head of Learning Service 
Ext. 3667 
 
21/2/2019 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 11



 

   

 
1.3 On 21st November, 2018 the Overview & Scrutiny Education Task and Finish 

Group met again to examine developments in the education of children and young 
people who are disadvantaged in the borough. At a meeting at the Oldham Sixth 
Form College, officers presented evidence relating to 2018 educational outcomes 
and the challenge for 2019 & 2020. This included SEND, the Opportunity Area and 
its focus on disadvantage. The ensuing discussion reflected on the improvements 
to provision since the previous meeting and it was agreed that a summary of the 
work reviewed on the day, including Opportunity Area support, should be presented 
to the Overview & Scrutiny Board (see Appendix 2). 

 
Background to Opportunity Area Support 

 
1.4 In autumn 2017 the Department for Education (DfE) identified Oldham as one of 

twelve Opportunity Areas. Oldham was chosen because the data indicated that 
children in the borough are less likely to have access to high quality education, 
employment opportunities and support when they need it than children from similar 
backgrounds, elsewhere. Oldham ranked as 294th out of 324 districts in the 2016 
Social Mobility Index, which compares the chances that a child from a 
disadvantaged background will do well at school and get a good job in areas across 
the country. Oldham was ranked 34th out of 326 areas in England, on the 2015 
Index of Multiple Deprivation, which compares areas by using neighbourhood level 
data on economic, educational, health and social outcomes.  

 
1.5 The Opportunity Area programme is a key part of the governmental priority of 

tackling social mobility and improving opportunities for young people in areas with 
both poor social mobility and schools that face challenges. The Oldham Opportunity 
Area is collaborative venture by national and local government, education leaders 
and teachers, voluntary organisations and employers, to give children and young 
people across the borough the opportunities and support they deserve. It directs 
additional resources towards the borough over a 3 year period from 2018-2020.  

 
1.6 Following initial data analysis and consultation with Oldham Council, local partners, 

school leaders, young people and others in early 2017; the three priorities below 
were agreed for the Opportunity Area: 

 Priority 1: Ensure all children are school-ready by the age of five 

 Priority 2: Raising attainment for all, and raising it fastest for disadvantaged 
pupils  

 Priority 3: All children and young people to be ready for life, learning and work 

2. Current Position 
 
Programmes and activities which focus on the 3 social mobility priorities set out 
above have been in place since early 2018. The most significant activities are 

Page 104



 

   

explained below, with descriptions of the target groups and areas in which the local 
authority seeks most impact. 
 

2.1 Early Years: 
 

 The Making it REAL home learning project in early years settings was 
developed by the National Children’s Bureau to improve children’s early 
literacy skills by teaching parents and carers strategies to support learning at 
home. It is designed for families with children aged three to five years old. 
The Oldham project is focussed on targeted wards and children, with the aim 
of increasing the percentage of children achieving a good level of 
development (GLD) by age five, and in particular for disadvantaged boys. It 
is funded in 31 schools across 11 wards (Alexandra, Chadderton Central, 
Chadderton North, Coldhurst, Crompton, Hollinwood, Medlock Vale, Royton 
North, Shaw, St Mary's and Werneth). To date 1053 home visits have been 
completed involving 260 enrolled children and 160 siblings. At least 57 
practitioners have completed the additional REAL approach to Maths CPD 
and 19 parents have completed the Sharing REAL with parents training. 

 
Additional programmes include: 
 

 Making it REAL literacy home learning project in children’s centres (0-2 
years) 

 Early Literacy Continuous Professional Development project in PVI settings 

 Speech, Language and Communication Team to support the early years 
workforce, parents and professionals 

2.2 Schools: 

 The best schools in Greater Manchester (GM) have been commissioned to 
support 24 of our most challenged primary and secondary schools in Oldham 
with long-term school-to-school activity 

 An ‘Improving the performance of disadvantaged boys at age 16’ project has 
taken place in Royton and Crompton Academy, Waterhead Academy, Oasis 
Academy, Saddleworth School, Newman College, and Co-op Academy 
Failsworth. Led by Advantage Teaching School, the project focusses on 
teaching and learning, using evidence-informed strategies to raise attainment 
standards in core subjects for 180 Year 11 disadvantaged boys 

 A literacy continuous professional development programme has been 
commissioned from 3 of the best  Teaching Schools in GM 

 Four local leaders in Maths Education have been appointed to work across 
Oldham schools, supported by the Maths Hub and the National Centre for 
Excellence in Teaching Mathematics 

 A leadership development pathway for aspirant and current school leaders is 
also in place 

Page 105



 

   

2.3 Mental Health and the wider curriculum 

 A team of new specialist mental health advisors have developed a cross-
Oldham programme of support and guidance for teachers and pupils. This will 
ensure that school staff have the skills and support they need on mental health. 
Over 100 schools are engaged with mental health self-assessments and action 
plans. 92 schools now have a designated mental health senior lead. 130 
teachers attended a best practice event in January 2019 and governor 
awareness training commences in March 2019. There are now in place a 
number of staff training programmes for over 50 schools. In addition our young 
people also benefit from and Essential Life Skills programme covering aspects 
of wider achievement for all Oldham schools. The Oldham Pledge which offers a 
wider curriculum opportunity is available in 43 schools. 

2.4 Summary and recommendation 
 
These programmes are designed to strengthen the capacity of the local educational 
system across each of the 3 priority areas and it is anticipated that these priorities, 
which are designed to increase social mobility, will continue to be important beyond 
the life span of the Opportunity Area in 2020.  

 
It is recommended that the Overview & Scrutiny Education Task and Finish Group 
maintain their interest in supporting social mobility by seeking an update on 
progress in 12 months’ time.  

3. Links to Corporate Outcomes 
             

The work described above supports the corporate outcome of thriving communities 

 
 
 

Page 106



Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Back

ground 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny committee was interested in exploring how to build better 
links with schools, academies and colleges across Oldham to gain a more detailed 
insight into the challenges and opportunities faced by head teachers and 
consequently consider how the work of the group could assist education across the 
borough. Discussion took place in September 2017 between the Director of 
Education and Early Years and the Chair of the Committee and it was agreed that a 
meeting be scheduled with a selection of head teachers and elected member 
representatives of the committee.   
 
An Overview and Scrutiny Task and finish group meeting was held on 20 September 
2017 and the head teachers, elected members and officers listed below attended the 
session.  
 
Head Teachers/Principals 
Helen Hampson – Higher Failsworth Primary School 
Dave McEntee – Hathershaw College 
Gillian Kay – Propps Hall Primary School 
Anne Redmond – Kingfisher Special School 
Jane Brierley – Glodwick N&I School 
Jayne Clark – Oldham 6th Form College 
James Haseldine – Waterhead Academy 
 
Elected members 
Cllr McLaren 
Cllr Roberts 
 
Officers 
Andrew Sutherland – Director of Education & Early Years 
Tony Shepherd – Head of Schools & Learning Service 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes on Overview & Scrutiny Education Task and Finish Group 
meeting on disadvantage 
 
Author: Andrew Sutherland,    Director of Education & Early Years 
 
21 November 2017 

Page 107



Programme for the session 
 
A programme for an elected member and head teacher round table discussion was 
set around the theme of “how to improve the attainment and wider achievement of 
disadvantaged children & young people in Oldham”. The session began with a 
presentation from the Director of Education & Early Years on the challenges and 
opportunities faced by schools in Oldham with an analysis of the data. A copy of the 
presentation is attached to this report. Following the presentation each head teacher 
summarised the issues faced in their establishments, describing their cohorts, 
communities and key groups of students. They went on to explain the strategies that 
they have adopted to meet the challenges that they face, and how these strategies 
have impacted upon educational and wider outcomes for their students. Some head 
teachers described their contributions as system leaders to the developing schools 
and academies framework in Oldham. 
 
This led to round table discussion on a range of topics: 
 

 The pupil demographics in Oldham. 
 

 The opportunities and challenges afforded by the high proportion of children 
arriving in school with English as an Additional Language, and in particular 
International New Arrivals. 

 

 The challenging educational performance of White Boys. 
 

 The best use of pupil premium funding to reduce gaps in attainment and 
progress between disadvantage students and their peers. 

 

 The health and wellbeing challenges in the community, including physical, 
physiological and psychological challenges.  
 

 Attainment levels and trends from Early Years good level of development; Key 
Stage 1 phonics and reading, writing and maths; Key Stage 2 reading, writing 
and maths and Key Stage 4. 

 

 A curriculum offer which meets national expectations and local requirements. 

 Appropriate post school destinations for students, in particular those in the 
groups identified above. 

 

 The nature of the developing school led system and the role of the local 
authority in supporting inclusion, pupil place planning and outcomes through 
school improvement.  
 

 The role of elected members in this system, given their democratic mandate 
for educational provision for the children and young people in the borough.  

 
 
 
 

Page 108



Outcome and next steps from the session 
 
The elected members present agreed to support the schools, academies and the 
local authority in any way possible. 
 
Key action points were: 
Elected members to promote integrated working across all council services where 
possible particularly where it supported the health and wellbeing of children young 
people and families. 
 
Elected members to support school governing bodies in their wards and promote the 
messages of inclusion and support at all levels from 0-19 in order to facilitate 
improved learning for all pupils. 
 
Elected members where appropriate to offer advice and share the work of the 
council as the democratic representative of families in the community.   
 
Head teachers to invite elected member in their wards to the school and utilise their 
expertise as appropriate.  
 
The O&S Committee to review the report and consider how to communicate the 
learning from the session across the council and better support schools and the 
colleges to deliver high quality outcomes for children, young people and families 
across the borough.  

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Purpose of the Report 

The purpose of this report is to update Overview and Scrutiny on progress in delivering the 
GM2040 Transport Strategy Delivery Plan 1 and the development of draft Delivery Plan 2.  
 
Executive Summary 

Section 1 of the report gives the background to the development of the GM2040 Transport 
Strategy and the first GM2040 Delivery Plan as well as the development of Delivery Plan 
2.  
 
The report then falls into two main parts:  

 Sections 2 and 3 consider the first GM2040 Delivery Plan, with section 2 detailing the 
content of the GM2040 Progress Report, a document published in November 2018, 
and section 3 giving examples of where implementation of the Delivery Plan has had 
an impact in Oldham.  

 Section 4 then turns to the content of Draft Delivery Plan 2, which is currently out for 
public consultation, and section 5 sets out what Draft Delivery Plan 2 could mean for 
Oldham. 

 
Recommendations 

The report is presented for information only. 

Report to OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 

 
GM2040 Delivery Plan Update 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Arooj Shah, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services 
 
Officer Contact:   Helen Lockwood,  Deputy Chief Executive – 
People and Place 
 
Report Author:  Joanne Betts, Principal Officer, Transport and 
Highways Policy  
 
Ext. 4346 
 
5th March 2018 

Page 111

Agenda Item 12



 

   

 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Board 5th March 2019 
 
GM2040 Delivery Plan Update 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 In 2017, GMCA published the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy (2040 

Strategy) which sets out a long-term approach to planning for the transport needs and 
aspirations of the GMCA, the ten individual GM Districts and the Greater Manchester 
Local Enterprise Partnership (GMLEP). The main statutory documents comprising Greater 
Manchester’s fourth Local Transport Plan (LTP4) are: 

 

 Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 - a document setting out the transport 
strategy for Greater Manchester giving details of policies, interventions and schemes 
to support delivery of a vision for transport in 2040, but with more detail provided for 
the period to 2025; and  

 A single five-year Greater Manchester Transport Delivery Plan – setting out more 
detailed delivery proposals, a spending plan and monitoring of the performance of 
transport delivery programmes, to be updated on an annual basis. 
 

1.2 The first GM2040 Delivery Plan covered the period 2016/17-2021/22. A  Progress Report 
was published in November 2018 and provides an update on progress made in 
developing and delivering the schemes identified as part of Delivery Plan 1 over the 
period February 2017 – October 2018. This is summarised in the context of changes to 
the external environment and governance arrangements in Greater Manchester. The 
Progress Report also includes an assessment of whether the interventions and policies 
are supporting delivery of the vision set out in the 2040 Transport Strategy in the form of 
an assessment against a series of key performance indicators (KPIs).  

  
1.3 The Progress Report is attached at Appendix A. 
 
1.4 A second draft Delivery Plan for 2020–2025 has been developed in conjunction with the 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) and is a statement of Greater 
Manchester’s transport investment and reform priorities for the next 5 years. It has been 
published alongside GMSF for consultation purposes. The closing date for responses, 
which can be made by email to 2040@tfgm.com or by making comments on the GMSF at 
www.gmconsult.org, is 18th March 2019.  

 
1.5 Together the GMSF and the Delivery Plan documents demonstrate an integrated 

approach to transport and land use planning, which identify the strategic transport 
interventions required to deliver growth. Following consultation on the GMSF and the draft 
Delivery Plan 2, a final version of Delivery Plan 2 will be prepared for publication later in 
2019. It will ultimately form part of the GMSF evidence base. 

 
1.5 A copy of the draft Delivery Plan 2 Executive Summary is attached at Appendix B and the 

full version can be viewed at https://www.tfgm.com/2040.  
 
2 Progress Report - Summary 
 
2.1 This Progress Report begins by outlining GM’s current transport priorities and providing 

an overview of how new governance structures, policies and plans will influence and 
support them.  

 

Page 112

mailto:2040@tfgm.com
http://www.gmconsult.org/
https://www.tfgm.com/2040


 

   

2.2  Subsequently, the Report details work undertaken to date on major national and local 
policy agendas, including: GM’s Clean Air Plan, GMSF, national and local industrial 
strategies, bus reform, HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) and strategic studies 
undertaken by Transport for the North and Highways England.  

 
2.3  The Progress Report then provides details of work on new infrastructure, services and 

maintenance/renewals completed and significantly progressed since February 2017.  
 
2.4  Delivery Plan 1 schemes outlined in the Report include: the Cross City Bus Priority 

Package, Bolton Interchange, the Ordsall Chord, the A6 to Manchester Airport Relief 
Road and the Salford-Bolton Network Improvements Programme. GM-wide programmes 
detailed in the Report include: safety and security programmes across the city-region’s 
transport networks; Travel Choices measures; access to employment schemes; active 
travel initiatives and innovation projects.  

 
2.5  Alongside this, the Progress Report describes the main infrastructure and revenue funding 

sources made available to enable the continued delivery of GM’s transport priorities, 
especially the elements of funding which have emerged since the publication of the 2040 
Strategy.  

 
2.6  The Progress Report also reports on performance against Key Performance Indicators 

(KPIs) in comparison to the 2015/16 baseline position. However, due to the short time 
frame, many of the KPIs will not have altered significantly from the 2015/16 baseline as 
they are intended to monitor longer term outcomes. 

 
3 Progress in Oldham 
 
3.1 Some examples of changes and progress that are impacting directly on Oldham are listed 

below: 
 

 The election of the GM Mayor in Mayor 2017, which has resulted in a number of new 
transport initiatives and priorities such as: 

 the appointment of the UK’s first ever Cycling and Walking Commissioner, and the 
launch of the Made to Mover Report in December 2017; 

 the publication of the first version of the Bee Network map, an aspirational network 
for cycling and walking, for public consultation last summer. The public’s comments 
are being analysed and a revised version of the map is being produced; 

 the publication of the Greater Manchester Congestion Deal which identifies 14 of 
the busiest routes in Greater Manchester for special focus, including: 

 the A62 between Manchester City Centre and Oldham Town Centre; and 
 the short stretch of A663 Broadway between the A62 and the M60 under local 

authority control. 

 The appointment of dedicated Corridor Managers who are now working with the GM 
local authorities to develop and implement measures that will keep routes moving; 

 The allocation of £15,000 to all the GM local authorities to be spent by the end of 
March 2019 on measures to address congestion. We are using ours to refresh 
yellow box junction markings at a number of locations across the borough (12 in 
total). 

 The introduction of the Bus Services Act in April 2017, which has given Mayoral 
authorities like Greater Manchester powers to improve bus services. Work is ongoing 
to assess options for reform, while in the meantime TfGM are looking at the existing 
bus network to identify what gaps or deficiencies exist and what they might be able to 
do in the short term to address some of those. 

Page 113



 

   

 The purchase of 27 additional Metrolink trams to increase capacity on the network, 
including on the Shaw-Didsbury line, with funding from GM’s Transforming Cities Fund 
allocation of £243 million allocation. 

 Investment in additional security support on the Metrolink network by the new operator, 
including additional activity on the Oldham-Rochdale line through Operation Infinity, the 
multi-agency operation which targets the Rochdale-Oldham line with a high visibility 
uniformed presence in response to the levels of Anti-Social Behaviour along the route. 
The initiative ran over a three week period in August 2018: over 30,000 passengers 
were checked, 1,500 standard fares issued and 8 arrests made including for drug 
possession, public order offences and a male on warrant for thefts from the ticket 
machines. Positive feedback has been received from residents and customers who 
have reported feeling safer as a result of a heightened police presence and partnership 
deployment strategy. 

 The introduction of an new simplified zonal fares system on the Metrolink network in 
January 2019.     

 The opening of two new cycle hubs in Oldham at Hollinwood and Oldham Mumps 
Metrolink stops. 

 Ongoing delivery by TfGM of a £10 million programme of investment on the Key Route 
Network through the Growth Deal  minor works programme, including: 

 Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements to ensure that existing bus infrastructure 
complies with current accessibility standards by, for example, raising kerb heights, 
the provision of clearway and bus stop markings, and replacement of bus stop poles 
and plates (where necessary), including at a number of stops across Oldham. 

 Traffic signal upgrades to ensure that junctions are operating as efficiently as 
possible and delays are minimized through the use of adaptive technology (MOVA 
at isolated junctions or SCOOT as part of a co-ordinated network of signals) 
including:  

 Two junctions in Oldham upgraded to operate with MOVA technology - A663 
Shaw Road / High Barn Road, Royton and Oldham Road / Ashton Road West, 
Failsworth: and 

 The following corridors/area signals upgraded to operate under SCOOT:  
A671 Oldham Road, Royton, A627 Ashton Road Corridor, King Street 
Roundabout and A663 Crompton Way. 

 As part of the development of the individual junction improvements, additional works 
are being identified where these would enhance the signal technology work, such as 
pedestrian and cyclist enhancements. Oldham has been allocated £43,000 to invest 
in such works on the A627 Ashton Road Corridor. 

 Ongoing development of our Growth Deal 3 Major Scheme Oldham Town Centre 
Regeneration and Connectivity which has been allocated £6 million of Devolved 
Funding by GMCA. Stakeholder engagement, including public consultation, on design 
options around the Civic Hub and Tommyfield Market is scheduled for March 2019.  

 Ongoing development and delivery of our Growth Deal minor works programme of 
schemes including: 

 Completion of design work and preparation of a business case to release £800,000 
Growth Deal grant towards the delivery highway infrastructure within the Albert 
Street, Hollinwood site in 2019/20; 

 Completion of design work and preparation of a business case to release £3.5 
million Growth Deal grant towards the cost of works at Mumps, including costs 
previously incurred in relocating the Metrolink Park and Ride to release land for 
development at Mumps and connectivity and public realm works at Mumps to be 
delivered in 2019/20; 

Page 114



 

   

 Completion of a £450,000 scheme in Oldham Town Centre comprising 
improvements to Yorkshire Street, Queen Street and Retiro Street; 

 Completion of a £220,000 programme of sustainable access improvements that 
included: 

 Shaw Road Cycle Track; 
 Rochdale Canal – cycle facility improvements; 
 Egerton Street Cycle Tracks; 
 Featherstall Road North / Ellen Street Cycle Tracks Connectivity; 
 Royal Oldham Hospital Cycle Access Scheme; 
 Upgrade of a pelican to toucan crossing on Rochdale Road, south of 

Sheepfoot Lane; and 
 Pedestrian/cyclist safety improvements on Union Street West / St John Street 

close to Oldham 6th Form College. 

 Investment of £230,000 by Highways England on Broadway Trunk Road, which 
was designed and delivered on their behalf by Oldham Council and Unity 
Partnership. This included: 
 improvements to tactile paving, road markings and cycle signage at various 

locations;  
 improvements to the cycleway/footway surfacing, segregation of cycleway and 

provision of a new green area at Middleton Road North; 
 a raised crossing to assist non-motorised users and slow drivers entering and 

exiting the Thatch Leach/ Broadway junction; and  
 improvements to the cycleway/footway surfacing, the subway and provision of 

a new green area at Burnley Lane. 
 

 Completion of the Middleton Road Bridge scheme. 

3.2 The Progress Report also refers to Network Rail’s long-awaited Trans Pennine Rail Route 
Upgrade, which has been delayed again. The Department for Transport is currently 
considering two options for the Route Upgrade, as shown below, and a decision is 
expected in late February 2019. Option 1 is the preferred option as the necessary 
modifications to Greenfield Station would incorporate the provision of full disabled access. 

 

 Option 1: Full electrification; or 

 Option 2: Full electrification except for the section between Stalybridge and 
Huddersfield (on cost grounds) and the use of dual powered units. 

 
3.3 We have also continued to deliver our own transport capital programme of works since 

February 2017, which contributes towards delivery of the GM2040 transport vision and 
outcomes. Our 3-year programme comprises many different funding streams and has a 
value of around £37 million. The 2018/19 programme includes over 20 different funding 
streams amounting to approximately £20 million and includes, for example: 

 

 £1,973,000 devolved Local Transport Plan funding, which is being used to deliver a 
programme of highway maintenance, bridges and structures, road safety, traffic 
management and cycling and walking schemes; 

 A £1,400,870 Pothole Fund allocation; and 

 £411,000 from the Incentive Fund for highway maintenance, which is the maximum 
allocation available to Oldham awarded on the basis of an assessment of the quality of 
our highway maintenance service. 
 

3.4 The programme also includes the £18 million Highway Improvement Programme that the 
Council is funding with Prudential Borrowing to improve the condition of the network over 
the period 2018/19 – 2021/22.  

 

Page 115



 

   

3.5 We are also working closely with the Environment Agency to develop and deliver a 
programme of flood management schemes as part of their six-year programme to protect 
300,000 homes from flooding by March 2021 which helps to deliver the GM2040 ambition 
around network resilience, and have: 

 delivered a scheme at Pencil Brook and will be doing over £1 million of work at 
Broomes Park and Delph New Road over the next two years; 

 Secured EA funding to prepare a business cases for a scheme at Grasmere Road, 
Royton and three schemes in Greenfield. 

 
3.6 We have also secured a DfT Safer Roads Fund award for the A670 in Oldham and 

Tameside, where Oldham led on a joint bid of which our share will be £762,000 in 2019/20.  
 
3.7 Securing additional funding to maintain and enhance our network and influencing other 

delivery partners such as TfGM, Highways England and public transport operators to invest 
in improving transport infrastructure and services across all modes in Oldham is, and will 
continue to be, a priority. 

 
4 Content of Draft Delivery Plan 2  
 
4.1 The second Draft Delivery plan consists of an introduction and observations on the 

challenges and opportunities for transport in Greater Manchester. The background section 
is structured around the four ‘pillars’ of the 2040 Transport Strategy vision: economy, 
environment, quality of life, and innovation – and references the ambitions of the Greater 
Manchester Strategy, the GMSF, the Local Industrial Strategy, Congestion Deal, the 
Green Summit and the Clean Air Plan, amongst others. 

 
4.2 The document sets out the 2040 transport mode share ambition for 50% of all journeys in 

Greater Manchester to be made by public transport, cycling and walking, especially the 
shorter journeys around local neighbourhoods. This will mean a million more sustainable 
journeys every day. The ambition is shown in figure 1 below. 

 

Figure 1: GM2040 Modeshare Ambition 

 
 

Page 116



 

   

4.3 The document sets out the link between the Draft Delivery plan and the GMSF, and the 
vision for 2040, along with the transport investments that support and are supported by 
the new housing and commercial development sites. The “delivery” section of the plan – 
which is structured around public transport, streets for all, and integration – outlines the 
interventions that, in the next five years, Greater Manchester: 

 

 Is committed to delivering; 

 aims to complete investment cases for early delivery; and 

 will further develop in order to identify options and determine feasibility. 
 
4.4 The plan also highlights those areas/interventions that will need to be investigated beyond 

2025. 
 
4.5 The final sections of the Draft Delivery Plan look at the funding and devolution ‘asks’ of 

government, and set out the current KPIs which will be used to measure success. 
 
5 What the Draft Delivery Plan could mean for Oldham 
 
5.1 The table below gives examples of some of the interventions that will benefit Oldham 

directly. 
 

Key interventions for Oldham 

i) Committed to delivering by 2025 

Oldham Town Centre Regeneration and Connectivity Package Phase 1 (£6 
million Growth Deal 3 programme to improve transport and the public realm). 

Increased tram capacity on the Shaw – East Didsbury Metrolink line. 

Cycling and Walking Infrastructure, including the refurbishment of King Street 
foot/cycle bridge and completion of Union Street West bridge refurbishment. 

Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade to Leeds (pre-Northern Powerhouse Rail) 
(Network Rail). 

Station accessibility improvements at Mills Hill Rail Station. 

ii) Investment cases for early delivery to be completed by 2025 

A new Metrolink Stop at Cop Road. 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus corridors: Oldham-Rochdale. 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus corridors: Oldham-Ashton. 

Improved Metrolink capacity between Piccadilly and Victoria stations, including 
to address the GMCA’s intention to provide direct Metrolink services from 
Rochdale and Oldham into Piccadilly. 

A663 Broadway / M60 J21 junction upgrade (Highways England). 

iii) Further work to be undertaken to identify options & determine 
feasibility 

The Oldham Town Centre Regeneration and Connectivity Package Phase 2.  

Oldham Mumps Interchange redevelopment. 

iv) To be investigated beyond 2025 

Rapid transit corridor Ashton-Oldham. 

Rapid transit corridor Ashton-Stockport. 

 
5.2 There are also many Greater Manchester-wide interventions in the Plan that have the 

potential to benefit Oldham, such as: 
 

 Bus reform; 

 Delivery of the GM Congestion Deal; 

Page 117



 

   

 Streets for All; and 

 Expansion of the GMEV network (electric vehicle charging points). 
 
5.3 Our aim is to achieve the maximum possible investment in, and benefits for, Oldham from 

any GM wide interventions. 
 
3 Key Issues for Overview and Scrutiny to Discuss 
 
3.1 The report is presented for information only and Overview and Scrutiny is invited to 

comment or request further information on any aspect of the update. 
 
4 Key Questions for Overview and Scrutiny to Consider 
 
4.1 The report is presented for information only. 
 
5. Links to Corporate Outcomes 
 
5.1 The GM2040 Delivery Plan contributes towards achieving the Oldham Vision and in 

particular to creating an Inclusive Economy where people and enterprise thrive. 
 
6 Additional Supporting Information 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7 Consultation 
 
7.1 The report is presented for information only.  
 
8 Appendices  
 
8.1 Appendix A Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 Progress Report (February 

2017 – October 2018); and 

 Appendix B Draft GM2040 Delivery Plan 2 Executive Summary. 

 

Page 118



1 

 

 

 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER 

TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 

 

Progress Report 1: 

(Feb 2017 to Sept 2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22 Oct 2018 - 

Page 119



2 

  

Page 120



3 

Contents 

Foreword ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Chapter 1: Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 5 

Scope of the Document ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Chapter 2: Our Current Transport Priorities ........................................................................................... 7 

A new elected Mayor for Greater Manchester................................................................................... 7 

Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposal ...................................................................................... 8 

Congestion Deal .................................................................................................................................. 8 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework ............................................................................................ 8 

Clean Air Plan ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

Greater Manchester Local Industrial Strategy .................................................................................... 9 

Bus Reform ........................................................................................................................................ 10 

Rail Station Devolution ..................................................................................................................... 10 

High Speed 2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail Growth Strategies .................................................... 10 

Transport for the North .................................................................................................................... 11 

Chapter 3: Delivery Programmes & Funding ........................................................................................ 13 

Infrastructure Programme ................................................................................................................ 13 

Highways England Programme ......................................................................................................... 15 

Network Rail Capital Programme...................................................................................................... 17 

Rail Franchises ................................................................................................................................... 17 

Revenue Funding .............................................................................................................................. 18 

Chapter 4: Greater Manchester-wide Schemes ................................................................................... 19 

Safety and Security Programmes ...................................................................................................... 19 

Integrated Fares and Ticketing System ............................................................................................. 19 

Travel Choices Programmes .............................................................................................................. 19 

Innovation Project Updates .............................................................................................................. 21 

Studies and Scheme Development ................................................................................................... 23 

Chapter 5: Progress on Delivery Plan 1 Schemes ................................................................................. 24 

Case Studies ...................................................................................................................................... 24 

Schemes Update ............................................................................................................................... 27 

Future Delivery .................................................................................................................................. 42 

Chapter 6: Measuring Success .............................................................................................................. 42 

Chapter 7: Introduction to Our Next Delivery Plan .............................................................................. 49 

 

Page 121



4 

Foreword 

As chair of the TfGM Committee, which is the body responsible for monitoring the 
delivery of the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy, I’m delighted to introduce 
its first Progress Report. 

This document provides an update on action taken, so far, to develop and deliver the 
transport schemes needed to create a cleaner, greener, more prosperous Greater 
Manchester for everyone to enjoy.  

From transport interventions that have improved travel right across Greater Manchester 
- such as our safety and security programmes, and measures to help people access jobs 
and education - to those that have made a real difference in a particular community - 
including the Cross City Bus Priority Package and brand new interchanges - I hope that 
you will share in my delight at the huge amount of progress made over the past 18 
months.  

There is still a great deal of hard work to be done, however, if we are to address the 
significant environmental, social and economic challenges facing our city-region over the 
next 25 years.  

I am confident that through continued co-operation - between the ten local authorities, 
the Greater Manchester Mayor, GMCA and TfGM - we will build on the excellent 
achievements described in this first Progress Report to achieve our vision: for Greater 
Manchester to have world class connections that support long-term, sustainable 
economic growth and access to opportunity for all. 

Councillor Mark Aldred 
Chair of the Transport for Greater Manchester Committee (TfGMC) 

 

  

Page 122



5 

Chapter 1: Introduction  

1. Greater Manchester is changing. In 2017, we published the Greater Manchester 2040 
Transport Strategy which sets out our long-term approach to planning for the successful 
future movement of people and goods. The 2040 Transport Strategy aims to establish a 
fully integrated, high-capacity transport network, which will help to shape a successful, 
resilient city-region, ready to tackle the challenges and opportunities of the twenty-first 
century. 

2. Over the next twenty years, Greater Manchester’s transport network will need to 
support major growth in employment leading to a rapidly increasing population and an 
urgent need to build new homes. It is estimated that, by 2040, Greater Manchester’s 
population will reach three million.  

3. It is clear that, to support this growth, we will need to invest in infrastructure and ensure 
our transport networks are organised in a coherent, aligned and responsive way. We will 
also need to influence travel behaviour and provide accessible transport options so that 
Greater Manchester’s residents and visitors can make smart and sustainable travel 
choices. This will enable us to tackle congestion, meet challenging air quality standards 
and targets, improve the quality of life of all residents and sustain and increase Greater 
Manchester’s economic success.  

4. The election of a new Greater Manchester Mayor in May 2017 has resulted in stronger 
local governance arrangements and a louder voice when it comes to making the case to 
Government for increased funding and powers. The Mayor, alongside the GMCA and the 
ten Greater Manchester local authorities, oversees the continued development of the 
Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy and is well placed to ensure that it is linked 
with ongoing work - on the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) - to provide 
enough land for new jobs and homes across the city-region.   

5. In April 2017, the Bus Services Act became law, giving Mayoral authorities like Greater 
Manchester powers to improve bus services by reforming the current bus market. Work 
is ongoing to assess options for reform, following the Mayor’s manifesto commitment to 
use these powers to make local bus services affordable, reliable and accessible.  

6. Alongside work on the GMSF and bus reform, Greater Manchester has continued to 
address major national and local policy agendas, including: clean air, national and local 
industrial strategies, High Speed 2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail.  

7. Significant new funding has recently been secured for transport in Greater Manchester, 
including £243m on a devolved capita basis to invest on strategic transport priorities. 
This came from a £1.7bn Transforming Cities Fund, which was made available in March 
2018. 

8. A major infrastructure programme has continued to be delivered in Greater Manchester. 
Projects which have recently been completed include the Cross City Bus Priority 
Package, Bolton Interchange, the Ordsall Chord and the A6 to Manchester Airport Relief 
Road.  

Page 123



6 

9. The delivery of the 2040 Transport Strategy’s vision - ‘World class connections that 
support long-term, successful economic growth and access to opportunity for all’ - is 
supported through a series of five-year Delivery Plans. 

10. The Delivery Plan is reviewed and refreshed on a regular basis to ensure that, alongside 
our partners, we are continuing to develop and deliver the right transport schemes to 
support the city-region’s priorities. We will publish the second of these Delivery Plans in 
early 2019.  

Scope of the Document 

11. This document - our first Progress Report - will provide an update on progress made in 
developing and delivering the schemes identified in Delivery Plan 1, covering the period 
2016/17-2021/22. 

12. This Progress Report will also:  

 Consider changes in the external environment, especially in terms of governance 
arrangements; 

 Examine the funding which has been made available to support the delivery of 
policies set out in the 2040 Transport Strategy; 

 Measure Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) against the 2015/16 baseline position 
and identify potential new KPIs; and 

 Outline the scope of our second Delivery Plan.  

 

Page 124



7 

Chapter 2: Our Current Transport Priorities 

A new elected Mayor for Greater Manchester 

13. Changes in the way Greater Manchester is governed have enabled TfGM - on behalf of 
the GMCA and the Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership (GMLEP) - to take a 
long-term strategic view of the city-region’s needs, and to deliver a transport network 
that maximises economic and social benefits for people living, working and doing 
business across the conurbation. 

14. The increased ability to determine investment and policy priorities at a city-region level 
was secured in 2014, when the Chancellor and local authority leaders agreed to devolve 
powers and some funding from central Government to Greater Manchester. It was 
agreed that the city-region should have its own directly elected Mayor, with powers to 
oversee the further development of the 2040 Transport Strategy (our fourth Local 
Transport Plan), alongside responsibility for housing, planning and policing. Further 
powers – relating to health and social care and business growth – have been devolved to 
the GMCA. Following the appointment of an interim mayor in 2015, Andy Burnham was 
elected as Mayor of Greater Manchester, and appointed Chair of the GMCA, in May 
2017. 

15. The Mayor’s broad agenda is set out in the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy 
(GMS) launched in autumn 2017. The Strategy prioritises tackling climate change; 
creating a thriving economy and supporting ‘world class connectivity that keeps Greater 
Manchester moving’. In this document, the Mayor makes clear his commitment to a 
transport system which will improve quality of life for all by being integrated, affordable 
and reliable, reducing congestion and improving air quality.  

16. To help Greater Manchester become one of the leading green city-regions in Europe, the 
Mayor called a landmark Green Summit in March 2018. This resulted in the Springboard 
to a Green City Region action plan which emphasises the importance of the switch to 
low carbon mobility. This will require: increasing electric vehicle use, establishing ‘zero 
emissions’ public transport fleets and increasing public transport use and active travel. 
The increased electricity demand created by electric buses and cars will need to be met 
through low carbon and renewable energy generation. 

17. In 2017, the Greater Manchester 
Mayor appointed the UK’s first ever 
Cycling and Walking Commissioner. In 
the same year the Commissioner 
launched his first report, Made to 
Move, and it is TfGM’s role to work 
(in partnership with others) to deliver 
the document’s 15 steps to embed a 
culture of active travel. Made to 
Move has an overall goal of doubling, 
and then doubling again, the number 

Page 125



8 

of cycling trips made in Greater Manchester, and of making walking the natural choice 
for as many short trips as possible.  

Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposal 

18. In June 2018, the Cycling and Walking Commissioner - in 
collaboration with Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities, 
local cycling, walking and community groups and TfGM - 
published proposals for city-region-wide walking and cycling 
infrastructure to create more than 1,000 miles of routes, 
including 75 miles of Dutch-style segregated bike lanes. Once built, the network will 
better connect every community in Greater Manchester, benefitting 2.7m people and 
making cycling and walking a real alternative to the car. 

Congestion Deal 

19. Making active and sustainable modes of transport a real alternative to the car is 
especially important following the publication of the Greater Manchester Congestion 
Deal (in March 2018). The Deal forms a response to the Greater Manchester Mayor’s 
Congestion Conversation, which took place in 2017. The Conversation asked members of 
the public how congestion affects them, and what they thought the priorities for tackling 
it should be. Following this, the Congestion Deal was developed to enable transport 
bodies, local authorities, businesses and individuals to work together to address the 
problems created by congestion across Greater Manchester. The Congestion Deal 
introduces measures to improve the management of the transport network, to give 
people more choice about when and how they travel and to make better use of existing 
road space to provide more capacity for moving people and goods. This Annual Progress 
Report contains details of our progress in delivering a number of the early measures in 
the Deal.  

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

20. The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) is a plan to establish the amount 
and location of land needed to accommodate the new jobs and homes needed across 
our city-region until 2035. This growth will lead to increased demand for transport and 
this will have to be carefully managed to avoid congested highways and overcrowded 
public transport.  

21. TfGM has been working closely with the GMCA to develop a transport evidence base 
and supporting transport delivery plan to ensure that the GMSF and Greater Manchester 
2040 Transport Strategy - including the measures in the 2040 Transport Strategy 
Delivery Plan (2020-2025) - are fully aligned. This has been achieved by reaching 
agreement on the most significant challenges and identifying the best solutions for 
different types of journey: within neighbourhoods, around the wider city region, to and 
from the Regional Centre and between cities.  

Page 126



9 

Clean Air Plan  

22. In April 2015, ClientEarth (an environmental law organisation) won a Supreme Court 
ruling against the UK Government which ordered ministers to come up with a plan to 
bring air pollution within legal limits as soon as possible. ClientEarth took the 
government back to the High Court in a Judicial Review in 2016 and the High Court ruled 
that the Government’s 2015 Air Quality Plan failed to comply with the Supreme Court 
ruling or relevant EU Directives.  

23. The UK Plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide (NO2) concentrations (the ‘National 
Plan’) (DEFRA, July 2017) identified 29 local authorities, including seven in Greater 
Manchester with areas likely to exceed the statutory NO2 annual mean EU Limit Value of 
40 μg/m3 (the EU Limit Value) beyond 2020. In March 2018, 33 more local authorities 
were defined as having ‘shorter-term NO2 problems’ - including Oldham in Greater 
Manchester. 

24. Government guidance from the Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) sets out a process for these 
local authorities to follow to develop plans to deliver compliance with the EU Limit Value 
in the ‘shortest possible time’. 

25. Working closely with the local authorities, TfGM has been coordinating the development 
of the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan on behalf of the GMCA and the ten local 
authorities.  The purpose of taking a Greater Manchester-wide approach was to avoid 
introducing measures in one part of the conurbation that simply displace NO2 
concentrations to other locations, and to ensure that (as far as possible) the eventual 
Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan complements other Greater Manchester-wide 
strategies including the existing Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan and Greater 
Manchester Low Emission Strategy. 

26. Government guidance positions charge-based Clean Air Zones as the standard measure 
for achieving legal compliance. Greater Manchester will consider this as the Plan is 
developed, alongside measures such as the retrofitting or upgrading of the public 
transport fleet as well as promoting the uptake of electric vehicles and supporting 
charging infrastructure.   

Greater Manchester Local Industrial Strategy 

27. Further proposals to boost growth across the city-region will be set out in the Greater 
Manchester Local Industrial Strategy (GM LIS). When published, the GM LIS will contain 
interventions that deliver the aims and grand challenges set out in the UK’s national 
Industrial Strategy. Together with increased productivity and economic growth the 
Strategy also aims to: lower nitrogen dioxide levels and carbon emissions; improve 
people’s health and safety; improve their access to jobs and services and employers’ 
access to skills. All of this can be aligned to our work in improving Greater Manchester’s 
transport networks. Work to develop several proposed ‘missions’, as part of the Future 
of Mobility Grand Challenge, is underway. The overall aim is to create a more efficient 
and integrated transport system in Greater Manchester, capable of playing a leading 
role in contributing to the delivery of national priorities. 

Page 127



10 

Bus Reform 

28. The Bus Services Act (2017) provides Mayoral authorities, including Greater Manchester, 
with new powers to improve bus services. These powers have the potential to create 
significant benefits for Greater Manchester residents, enabling greater local control over 
routes, frequencies, timetables, fares and quality standards for all of Greater 
Manchester’s buses.   

29. On behalf of Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), TfGM is currently 
preparing an assessment of a proposed bus franchising scheme for Greater Manchester. 
The ‘Vision for Bus’ has been developed into more detailed objectives and, as well as 
developing a model of franchising, has seen engagement with bus operators in Greater 
Manchester on what might be achieved through a partnership approach. 

Rail Station Devolution 

30. Following the devolution agreement secured by GMCA in November 2014, TfGM 
submitted the Case for Change: GMCA Stations Transfer proposal to Government. The 
document recommended the full transfer of responsibility for rail stations in Greater 
Manchester from Government to GMCA over a long time period and set out the major 
benefits that this could deliver. This included sustainable economic growth, improved 
customer experience and more efficient asset management.  

31. In December 2017 the Secretary of State for Transport wrote to the Mayor confirming 
that he had considered Greater Manchester’s proposal and, although he shared our 
ambition for better, more accessible stations, he had concerns that separating control of 
stations from the rail industry had potential to create difficulties.  

32. TfGM will now work in partnership with Network Rail and the train operators to try to 
deliver the same benefits that the Case for Change would have helped provide for 
customers and communities.   

High Speed 2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail Growth Strategies  

33. Between 2026 and 2035, the Greater Manchester transport network will be transformed 
by the arrival of HS2 at Manchester Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Wigan and Stockport. 
New high-speed services on the HS2 network will better connect Manchester to 
Birmingham and London, and free up capacity on the existing rail network.  

34. Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) involves significantly upgrading railway lines between 
major northern cities. It will place Greater Manchester at the heart of a new high-speed 
rail network for the North, boosting the region’s economic growth while improving 
capacity, journey times and service frequencies and enhancing links with Liverpool, 
Leeds, Newcastle, Sheffield and Hull.  

  

Page 128



11 

35. GMCA, supported by TfGM, has developed an HS2 and NPR Growth Strategy for 
Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport. It prioritises:  

 Station design and infrastructure requirements; 

 Wider connectivity to ensure that the benefits are shared beyond the immediate 
station vicinity; 

 Regeneration around the stations; and 

 People, skills and employability. 
 

36. The HS2 and NPR Growth Strategy for Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport can 
be found here: https://www.tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy  

Transport for the North  

37. Transport for the North (TfN) became the UK’s first sub-regional statutory transport 
body - with legal powers and duties - in April 2018. TfN’s draft Strategic Transport Plan 
(STP) was published earlier in the year. It sets out a vision for ‘a thriving North of 
England, where modern transport connections drive economic growth and support an 
excellent quality of life’. It includes pan-Northern objectives which comprise 
improvements in the North’s: economic performance, transport system efficiency, 
reliability and resilience; access to opportunities and the built and natural environment.  

38. To date, two strategic studies outlined in the STP, with direct relevance to Greater 
Manchester, have been advanced: the Manchester North West Quadrant Study and the 
Trans Pennine Tunnel Strategic Study.  

39. Whilst the M60 around Manchester fulfils a similar role to the M25 around London, no 
part of it is further than five miles from Manchester city centre and it is therefore also an 
integral part of Greater Manchester’s local road network. The North-West Quadrant of 
the M60 between junctions 8 and 18 contains some of the busiest stretches of road 
outside the M25.  The Manchester North-West Quadrant study is considering potential 
improvements to transport infrastructure in this area, to provide travellers with better 
options for both local and long-distance journeys, thereby supporting economic growth 
and addressing issues such as poor journey time reliability, congestion and air quality. To 
date, the study (which is being undertaken jointly by Highways England, TfGM and TfN) 
indicates that there is a strong case for these infrastructure improvements to be made. 
Work is now ongoing to develop and appraise a multi-modal package of interventions 
which can be taken forward through future investment programmes by Highways 
England, GM authorities and other partners.  

40. The journey time between two of the North’s major cities, Manchester and Sheffield 
(which are less than forty miles apart) is the worst per-mile journey time for any UK city 
pair. Average speeds are regularly below 30 miles per hour.  The Trans Pennine Tunnel 
study has been investigating the feasibility, cost and benefits of constructing a direct, all-
weather road between Greater Manchester and Sheffield City Region which would 
improve journey times and network resilience.  Initial stages of the study indicated that 
constructing a road tunnel under the Peak District was feasible in engineering terms.  
Work is continuing to consider the scope of such a tunnel and supporting interventions, 

Page 129

https://www.tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy


12 

and to better quantify the costs and benefits arising from them. This current work, 
which is being led by Highways England and TfN, is expected to be completed around 
the end of 2018, at which point a report will be submitted to the Department for 
Transport.   

41. TfN’s STP will be refined in light of comments made during the consultation period, 
before being formally adopted in 2019. The STP will be reviewed in 2020, and every five 
years thereafter. TfGM will continue to work to ensure that the STP remains aligned 
with Greater Manchester’s strategic priorities, as set out in the 2040 Transport Strategy 
and the five-year Delivery Plans. 

 

 

 

  

Page 130



13 

Chapter 3: Delivery Programmes & Funding 

Infrastructure Programme 

43. Greater Manchester continues to be heavily reliant on Government grant funding to 
deliver capital infrastructure schemes despite a move towards more devolved funding.  
Greater Manchester has been successful in securing Government funding however, due 
to its good record on delivering schemes.  

44. Greater Manchester is reviewing scope to agree a further multi-year financial settlement 
with Government that would give greater certainty and enable us to develop a future 
pipeline of schemes.  

45. Table 1 summarises the GMCA’s Capital Programme for the period to 2020/21. 

Local Growth Fund (LGF) 

46. The Greater Manchester City Deal was signed in 2014. The Government has since been 
negotiating a Growth Deal with every LEP in the UK, enabling them to bid a share of this 
£12bn fund, targeted at local growth priorities. Following a competitive bid processes in 
2012 and 2014 Greater Manchester was awarded c.£350m for major transport schemes 
(those costing more than £5m) and nearly £50m for minor works (those schemes costing 
less than £5m) for the period 2015/16 to 2020/21. These schemes are now at various 
stages of delivery. 

47. In April 2016, a further round of LGF bidding was announced (for the remaining 
£4.275bn). Greater Manchester was awarded £40m which was combined with £7m 
awarded from the first round of the National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) 
(aimed at improving productivity). A further £8.5m of NPIF funding was secured in 2017. 

48. In 2015, Greater Manchester was successful in its bid for phase 2 of the Cycle City 
Ambition Grant for a further £22m to fund schemes in the Cycle City Programme.  

49. Greater Manchester was also awarded funding for scheme development of the 
Metrolink Western Loop in 2016. 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

50. In March 2018 a £1.7bn Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) was made available from the 
Government’s £31bn NPIF pot. The first £840m of the fund was allocated to the six 
Mayoral Combined Authorities empowered to deliver schemes that will make commuter 
journeys faster, better and safer.  

51. Greater Manchester was allocated £243m on a devolved per capita basis to invest on 
strategic transport priorities. This funding will provide 27 additional Metrolink trams to 
increase capacity across the network and will deliver £160m walking and cycling 
infrastructure to help meet the ambition set out in Made to Move. 

Clean Bus Technology Fund  

52. In February 2018, Greater Manchester, was awarded £3m from the national Clean Bus 
Technology Fund to help reduce harmful emissions from the region’s bus fleet. In 

Page 131



14 

Greater Manchester the funding will be used to allow bus operators to retrofit vehicles 
with technology to reduce tailpipe emissions of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and contribute to 
better air quality. 

Greater Manchester Local Full Fibre programme.  

53. In March 2018 GMCA successfully secured £23.8m from the Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) to deliver full fibre broadband to 1,500 public sector 
sites across Greater Manchester including local authority buildings, the Fire and Rescue 
Service and NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups.   

54. The aim is to increase full fibre coverage across Greater Manchester from 2% to 25% by 
the end of 2020. Uses of full-fibre broadband in the public sector would deliver service 
solutions that are currently not possible, for example, hospitals sharing high-definition 
images with GP surgeries to aid diagnosis. It could also stimulate private sector 
investment in full-fibre across Greater Manchester, particularly as fibre will underpin 5G 
rollout and the city-region’s overall Digital Strategy and vision of becoming a world-
leading digital city-region.  

Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) 

55. In March 2018 the Greater Manchester Housing Package included commitment from 
Government to progress key Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bids through to co-
development stage. These HIF bids included the development of transport infrastructure 
schemes that will aid the delivery of new housing in Wigan/Bolton, Manchester/Salford 
and Stockport/Cheshire East. 

 

 

 

  

Page 132

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiw5Lb-36nfAhX_SBUIHTeSDkYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://twitter.com/OfficialTfGM/status/986173692186185728&psig=AOvVaw1YZ65U3XIiAk1Z05aOoYRu&ust=1545235206438640


15 

Table 1: GMCA’s Capital Programme for the period to 2020/21. 

  
Actual  

2016/17 
£’000 

Actual 
2017/18 

Forecast 
2018/19 

Forecast 
2019/20 

Forecast 
2020/21 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Greater Manchester Transport 
Fund Capital Programme 

63,520 22,892 16,575 50,483 56,517 

Road Schemes:           

A6 MARR/SEMMMS 51,149 48,377 25,315 4,130 8,810 

Stockport Town Centre Access 
Plan (DfT retained scheme) 

16,288 14,202 14,119 8,725 3,355 

Other Metrolink Schemes:           

Trafford Park Line 39,255 76,313 74,455 67,738 35,406 

Sub-total  170,212 161,784 130,464 131,076 104,088 

Other Committed Capital 
Schemes: 

          

Wythenshawe Interchange 36 256       

Transforming Cities     28,778 96,901 75,425 

Cycle Safety     120 1,200 222 

Early Measures Fund     468 2,516    

Other 3,832 1,075 3,148 451   

Local Sustainable Transport Fund 1,367         

Cycle City Ambition Grant 1 434         

Cycle City Ambition Grant 2 1,829 2,956 8,839 4,536 2,998 

Sub-total 7,498 4,287 41,353 105,604 78,645 

Minor Works Funding (Integrated 
Transport Block and Growth Deal 
1& 2) 

6,357 7,862 12,492 13,662 6,291 

Growth Deal Major Schemes & 
GD3 

12,262 19,473 37,162 75,176 108,038 

Traffic Signals (Externally Funded) 2,777 1,978 2,500 2,500 2,500  

Highways Maintenance   29,272 34,577 27,200 27,200 

Transport for the North   1,999       

Sub-total 21,396 60,584 86,731 118,538 141,529 

Total Capital -Transport 199,106 226,655 258,548 355,218 324,262 

 

Highways England Programme 

56. A long-term programme for England’s motorways and trunk roads is outlined in the first 
Road Investment Strategy (RIS1) which covers the period 2015-2020. 

57. A first set of route strategies were published in April 2015 by Highways England (HE) to 
inform RIS1 which includes nine major schemes in Greater Manchester (and another on 

Page 133



16 

the boundary with Cheshire East). In its High Speed North report in March 2016 the 
National Infrastructure Commission recommended that a number of RIS1 schemes 
should go ahead sooner than planned. These recommendations were accepted by 
Government. Since 2016, however, there have been further adjustments to the 
timetable for the RIS1 schemes. An updated RIS delivery plan was published in October 
2017. 

58. HE has made an Initial Report to Government on its requirements for RIS2. Consultation 
on the Strategic Road Network Initial Report, which sets out HE’s assessment of the 
current state of the SRN, potential future needs, and Government’s proposed priorities, 
was undertaken in January 2018. RIS2 will be finalised in 2019 and it is proposed that it 
will deliver a balanced programme of small and medium schemes alongside 
transformational investments.  

59. HE currently controls five Designated Funds across environment; cycling, safety and 
integration; innovation; air quality, and growth and housing. They are intended to 
support activity beyond HE’s ‘business as usual’, for example through improving the 
surroundings of the SRN.  

60. Greater Manchester has benefitted from just under £1m from the Designated Funds in 
the last financial year provided to our local authorities. Examples of schemes supported 
include: 

 £558,000 for a water outfall adjacent to the M62 in Salford 

 £118,500 to Manchester for a safety scheme at M60 J6 

 £111,800 for a biodiversity scheme in the Rochdale Canal SSSI in Oldham 

 £21,700 for a wildflower corridor adjacent to the M67 in Tameside. 

61. Smart Motorways - which use an increasingly sophisticated technology-driven 
techniques, including variable speed limits, ‘all lane running’ and variable message 
signing – to smooth traffic flows, increase capacity and reduce delays have been rolled 
out on key sections of the M60, M62, M6 and M56. In late 2018, Highways England will 
report on the performance of the M60 Smart Motorway throughout the first few 
months of its existence. There are early indications that journey times have been 
significantly reduced.  

62. The A556 Link Road opened in 2017 providing a major trunk road in north Cheshire and 
south Manchester, between the M6 junction 19 near Tabley/Knutsford and the M56 
Junction 7 near Bowdon. 

63. Some £2.9m of Designated Funds expenditure is planned in Greater Manchester during 
the current financial year, largely on cycling schemes.  

64. Detailed information on work led by Highways England, between 2017 and 2018, can be 
found here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/highways-england-
delivery-plan-2017-to-2018  

Page 134

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/highways-england-delivery-plan-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/highways-england-delivery-plan-2017-to-2018


17 

Network Rail Capital Programme  

65. During Network Rail’s current Control Period, CP5 (2014 to 2019) it was originally 
planned that a number of schemes focussing on Electrification and the Northern Hub 
programme would be completed in Greater Manchester. 

66. However as a result of the Hendy Review (2016) elements of the Electrification 
programme and the Northern Hub programme have been delayed or deferred. In 
particular the following schemes are subject to further assessment and delay: 

 Castlefield corridor upgrade including Oxford Road Station re-modelling and 
Piccadilly Station Platforms 15 and 16; 

 Trans Pennine Route Upgrade; 

 Electrification between Lostock and Wigan; and 

 Electrification between Manchester Victoria and Stalybridge. 

67. There is a pressing need for Network Rail to give Greater Manchester certainty on the 
delivery of these rail schemes. TfGM will continue to work with Network Rail and 
TfN/Rail North to resolve these issues. 

68. Network Rail’s five-year Control Period funding and planning will change under CP6 
(2019 to 2024). The Network Rail Strategic Business Plan for this period will only cover 
maintenance and renewals, with infrastructure enhancements being assessed separately 
by DfT on a case-by-case basis within available public sector funding. 

69. To support this DfT, in March 2018, published the first Rail Networks Enhancements 
Pipeline, which details the submission process for enhancement schemes. TfGM is 
working closely with TfN/Rail North and Network Rail to develop detailed rail 
enhancement projects that can be submitted under this new process, building upon the 
ongoing TfGM-led Quadrant Rail Studies. 

Rail Franchises 

70. The TransPennine and Northern franchises awarded in April 2016 committed to 
implementing improvements that would benefit Greater Manchester. They are all due to 
be in place by December 2019 at the latest. These are as follows: 

TransPennine 

 66% increase in peak capacity; 

 Improved Sunday services and longer hours of weekday operation; 

 More tickets that can be used on train and  bus, tram and light rail; 

 New vehicles and existing trains refurbished; 

 Free Wi-Fi at all TransPennine stations and on all trains. 

Page 135



18 

Northern 

 37% increase in peak capacity; 

 2,000 more trains per week (a 12% increase); 

 Vastly improved Sunday service and better start and end of weekdays; 

 New through services across cities (e.g. Bradford-Leeds-Nottingham, Macclesfield-
Blackpool, Bradford-Manchester Airport/Liverpool) 

 45 unmanned stations re-staffed; 

 New vehicles, existing trains refurbished and Pacer units replaced by October 2019. 

71. To date - and due, in part, to late infrastructure delivery by Network Rail - many of the 
promised enhancements have not been delivered by the train operating companies to 
their previously advertised timescales. Recent rail disruptions have had a significant 
impact on customers, and on the 2040 Transport Strategy’s aspirations for a more 
sustainable and integrated transport system. External issues, such as late completion of 
infrastructure upgrades, and late transfer of rolling stock from Scotrail and Great 
Western, and internal issues which operators failed to resolve in a swift manner, such as 
RMT guard disputes and delayed driver training, resulted in the introduction of an 
emergency timetable from early June until driver training and timetable analysis can be 
fully completed by Northern. 

Revenue Funding 

72. The TfGM revenue budget for 2018/19, outlined in the TfGM Business Plan 2018-211 
was approved by the GMCA in January 2018. TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, funds 
concessionary fares for children, elderly and disabled people. It also subsidises parts of 
the bus network that operators consider insufficiently profitable (especially in the 
evenings and on Sundays) but that are essential to connect people with work and other 
local services.  TfGM funds and manages the delivery of the Ring and Ride accessible 
transport service, which provides door-to-door, demand responsive transport to Greater 
Manchester residents who find it difficult to use conventional public transport due to 
disability or limited mobility. Additionally, TfGM supplies flexible transport services 
under the Local Link brand for journeys in areas where fixed route public transport 
services are limited.  

73. Operational costs are the overheads for providing the services TfGM deliver, such as: 
staff costs; operating and maintaining infrastructure and the traffic signal network. 
Financing costs include repayment on loans that have been taken out by TfGM (or on 
finance costs recharged by GMCA) to deliver major transport capital programmes. 

 

  

                                                           
1 TfGM Business Plan 2018-21, pages 30-33 

Page 136



19 

Chapter 4: Greater Manchester-wide Schemes 

Safety and Security Programmes 

74. TfGM has been working closely with bus operators, the Metrolink operator (KeolisAmey 
Metrolink), Greater Manchester Police and others within the TravelSafe Partnership to 
address crime and anti-social behaviour on the city-region’s transport networks.  

75. TravelSafe Officers, Customer Service Representatives and TfGM security staff are all 
now equipped with body-worn cameras. A greater number of Police Community Support 
Officers (PCSOs) and police officers have been recruited to the TravelSafe Unit, and the 
TfGM control centre has been expanded to a 24-hour operation. Since July 2017 KAM 
has introduced 900 hours per week of additional security support on to the Metrolink 
network. TfGM has applied for the necessary powers to issue civil injunctions against 
persistent trouble makers. This measure has gained the support of the Home Secretary 
and is now awaiting parliamentary approval. 

76. We continue to work in partnership with local authorities, Greater Manchester Police 
and other road safety stakeholders to deliver road safety campaigns and physical 
measures to improve the safety of the Greater Manchester’s road network. A recent 
pedestrian safety campaign for 10 to 14-year-olds, Heads Up, used Instagram, YouTube 
and Facebook to reach its audience. 

Integrated Fares and Ticketing System 

77. TfGM is working in partnership with TfN, transport operators and DfT to deliver a 
scheme that will make it easier for passengers to travel seamlessly (using their preferred 
payment method) while feeling confident that they have paid the best value fare for 
their journey. Pan-Northern smart cards for rail will be rolled out in December 2018, and 
account-based ticketing via contactless payments will be possible in 2019. 

78. A new zonal fares system has been subject to consultation, and will be introduced on 
Metrolink in early 2019. It will be easier to understand than the current system, and will 
offer simpler, more flexible fares to make using Metrolink more convenient and better 
value for money. It will also help to pave the way for a more integrated ticketing system 
across Greater Manchester. 

Travel Choices Programmes 

79. In the 2017/18 financial year, 87 organisations joined Greater Manchester’s business 
travel network. 714 businesses are now members of the network, and 321 of these have 
travel action plans in place. TfGM Travel Advisors have worked closely with local 
authorities’ economic development units, and their public health teams. Some examples 
of this partnership working include: 

 Organisations relocating; 

Page 137



20 

 Delivering a bespoke package of Travel Choices to support Wigan Metropolitan 
Borough Council,  the Stockport Town Centre Access Plan and the Oldham Town 
Centre Growth Fund package;  

 Incorporating travel choices measures into Bury Metropolitan Borough Council’s 
framework for care providers, to help tackle recruitment shortages.  

80. The following provides a summary of some of the key elements of the Travel Choices 
Programme.  

Access to Employment 

81. Jobseekers and apprentices continue to take up the offer of free and discounted tickets 
and reconditioned bikes. During 2017/18, 12,776 discounted tickets and 359 
reconditioned bikes were issued to jobseekers. An awareness raising campaign of the 
apprentice offer generated increased interest and the number of registered providers 
increased from 43 to 77. In 2017/18, we issued 348 discounted tickets and 99 
reconditioned bikes to apprentices.  

Travel Choices Schools Programme 

82. A schools pilot to increase active and sustainable travel to school concentrating on the 
transition of Year 6 primary school pupils to Year 7 at secondary school was undertaken 
at Werneth High School and four feeder primary schools in Stockport. The project will 
help to inform further work, with schools, being planned for 2018/19 and beyond. 

Active Travel 

83. We continue to deliver active travel initiatives in partnership with local authorities, 
schools, colleges and other stakeholders, through programmes of business support; 
community engagement; information, events and marketing; cycle parking; and cycle 
training. Examples include: 

 The Bikes for Business scheme loans bikes to businesses in order to encourage and 
enable cycling. There are 75 regular bikes and 22 electric bikes in the fleet and these 
can be used by staff for commuting, business trips and leisure. In 2017/8 24 
workplaces participated in the scheme and 130 bike loans took place; 

 Partnering with national walking charity Walking for Health to pilot the Every Step 
Counts project, which included lunchtime walks, with 12 workplaces in Greater 
Manchester.  

 TfGM continue to work in partnership with Sustrans to deliver the Cycle Schools and 
Colleges project, with five secondary schools and five colleges. We also continued to 
work with Living Streets to deliver two Walk to School projects with 136 primary 
schools across the city-region; 

 Women on Wheels grants were awarded to 12 community groups for activity in 
February and March 2018. This was part of a wider #RideWithUsGM campaign that 
took place over this period; and 

Page 138



21 

 TfGM and British Cycling partnered for a fourth and final year to deliver activity 
across Greater Manchester. In total 730 rides took place throughout the year with 
over 4,300 participants.  

Cycle Parking and Training 

84. In 2017/8 over 1,000 new cycle parking spaces were provided, including four new cycle 
hubs at East Didsbury, Bolton Interchange, Hollinwood and Oldham. 

85. As part of the CCAG 2, grants of up to £10,000 were offered to charities and not-for-
profit organisations to install high-quality cycle parking. Eight schemes were approved 
with installation taking place throughout the year. The scheme was later extended to 
Leisure Trusts with a further three schemes being taken forward. 

86. Salford City Council and TfGM are piloting a residential cycle parking scheme. This 
involves the purchase of 12 bike hangars, lockable, secure units that contain cycle stands 
and can hold up to six bicycles. They provide shelter from the weather, security from 
theft, and take up about the same amount of space on the street as a car parking space. 
They are operated via a membership scheme that opened in June 2018.  

87. Between 2017 and 2018, TfGM has delivered 3,445 cycle training sessions, including 
1,748 group skills sessions and 880 maintenance courses. 

Innovation Project Updates  

 

2018 Key 
Innovation 
Priorities

Bike 
Sharing

Car 
Sharing

Autonomous 
Vehicles

Demand 
Responsive 
Transport

Mobility 
as a 

Service
Internet 
of Things

Intelligent 
Transport 
Systems

Health & 
Air Quality

Disrupters 
& New 

Thinking

Secure 
Funding

Page 139



22 

88. Greater Manchester has identified ten innovation priorities that aim to ‘Establish a 
programme of smart and innovative transport solutions that: are fit for the future, 
improve residents’ mobility choices in Greater Manchester and help to deliver a cleaner 
transport system.’  Due to the dynamic nature of innovation projects, these priorities 
will be refreshed every year to support project legacies and build on policy areas that 
are most pressing at the time.  

89. To ensure the work we are involved in is relevant and to an international standard we 
work with a rich portfolio of international associations and collaborating project 
partners by speaking at conferences and taking part in plenary sessions.  

90. In the past year we have continued working on projects already allocated to TfGM 
through a competitive funding process while also developing new partnerships and 
writing proposals for new ideas.  

91. The following is a list of ongoing projects (commenced before 2017).  In Table 2 is a 
summary of new projects that were started in 2018.  

 RESOLVE: Supports sustainable mobility and the transition to a low-carbon retailing 
economy. To engage with the regional centre retail sector on low carbon transport 
and monitor impacts.  

 REFORM: Supports the implementation and deployment of Sustainable Urban 
Mobility Plans (SUMPs) as an instrument for shifting mobility towards low-carbon.  

 CityVerve: A £16m project part-funded by InnovateUK under the Internet of Things 
Programme for Smart Cities.  

 UPBEAT: Involves the development of an app that tracks user movements and 
nudges users to choose sustainable transport modes.  

  

Page 140

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiqop_73qnfAhWARxUIHU9hDu8QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://archive.tfgm.com/buspriority/Pages/guided-busway.html&psig=AOvVaw3YDVZpdnI1Uc8aHZVmK4ZQ&ust=1545234960607351


23 

Table 2: New Projects (commenced in 2018) 

Project 

Name 

Description New 

funding 

secured 

iMove Accelerates the deployment of MaaS schemes in Europe. £144,553 

Maas4EU End-to-End approach for Mobility-as-a-Service offering tools, models, 

frameworks and evidence for seamless mobility.  
£189,869 

Handshake Cycling Innovation project: entails exchanging best practice and 

learning on cycling innovation. 
£251,416 

SPACE Shared Personalised Autonomous Connected Vehicles - sharing 

knowledge and data to put public transport at the heart of 

developments related to autonomous vehicles.  

£10,000 

PROSFET Promoting Sustainable Freight Transport in Urban Contexts - project 

aims to support local authority planning needs with regards to 

urban/city logistics activities. 

£7,964 

LEVITATE Aims to forecast the impacts of Connected and Autonomous Transport 

Systems on urban areas.  
£43,416 

Synergy Testing autonomous vehicles for serving Manchester Airport on the 

A6MARR with a focus on creating a policy framework.  
£313,067 

CitySpire Aims to use a larger volume of better quality data relating to people 

movement to influence behaviour change for the uptake of 

sustainable transport modes.  

£122,764 

 

Studies and Scheme Development 

92. In Delivery Plan 1 we also set out a summary list of studies and scheme development by 
each of the 2040 spatial themes. Progress on these studies and scheme development 
activities has been ongoing over the last year.  

93. We have also undertaken additional studies and scheme development activity over this 
period that are informing how we invest in transport and support the vision set out in 
the 2040 Transport Strategy. We will provide further details on the Studies and Scheme 
development activities in our second Delivery Plan.   

  

Page 141



24 

Chapter 5: Progress on Delivery Plan 1 Schemes 

94. The following is a summary of key projects that have been completed or which have 
seen significant progress since the publication of Delivery Plan 1. 

Case Studies 

Cross City Bus Priority Package & Wilmslow Road/Oxford Road Cycle Scheme 

95. This multi-modal package of investment was a £122m programme to deliver quicker and 
more reliable bus journeys across the city-region by improving infrastructure, along with 
significantly improved walking and cycling facilities. Completed in September 2017 it 
included new and improved 
bus links through the city 
centre and across 25 miles of 
the network, the Leigh guided 
busway, bus priority measures 
and a completely overhauled 
Oxford Road. 

96. The new look Oxford Road was 
delivered in partnership with 
Manchester City Council, the 
University of Manchester, 
Manchester Metropolitan 
University, the Royal Northern 
College of Music, Central Manchester Hospitals and local businesses. The improvement 
works included Dutch-style segregated cycles lanes, new bus facilities, improved 
pedestrian spaces and better public transport links. The Oxford Road corridor is now a 
benchmark for highway design in Greater Manchester. Oxford Road is now quieter and 
cleaner, safer for pedestrians and cyclists. The new environmentally sustainable 
boulevard complements the University’s Campus Masterplan, a major investment in 
new world-class facilities across the University estate. 

97. More than one million cycle journeys had been made by November 2017 on the Oxford 
Road Cycleway since recording began in September 2016.  In the same month the digital 
cycle counters outside Manchester Royal Infirmary recorded over 5,000 two-way cycle 
journeys on a single day for the first time. By June 2018 the Cycleway was being used for 
approximately 4,000 two-way cycle journeys each day. 

Page 142



25 

Bolton Interchange 

98. The new Bolton Interchange opened in September 2017. Delivered by Bolton Council 
and TfGM the Interchange offers a step change in quality for passengers, including 
better customer information and enhanced waiting and ticketing facilities in a light, 
bright and safer environment with accessible public toilets. The concourse features a 
café, convenience store, cash machine and free Wi-Fi. The Interchange is a truly multi-
transport mode facility, with a Skylink bridge to the nearby rail station offering easy 
transfer between bus and 
trains. A new 48 space cycle 
hub outside the main 
Interchange entrance on Great 
Moor Street offers secure 
storage for bikes, with CCTV 
and swipe card access. The 
Interchange also links 
passengers to upgraded 
pedestrian facilities throughout 
the town centre supporting 
wider regeneration. 

Ordsall Chord 

99. As part of the Northern Hub major rail scheme to increase capacity, Network Rail 
completed the Ordsall Chord scheme in November 2017. The scheme involved track 
layout changes west of Victoria Station, junction capacity and performance 
improvements at Castlefield 
and Ordsall Lane, and 300 
metres of new track on the 
world’s first asymmetrical rail 
bridge. This created a link 
between Victoria, Oxford Road 
and Piccadilly Stations for the 
first time, as well as enabling 
direct services to Manchester 
Airport from the North.  

The A6 to Manchester Airport Relief Road  

100. The A6 to Manchester Airport Relief Road scheme provides 10 km of new two-lane dual 
carriageway from the A6 near Hazel Grove (south east Stockport), via the 4 km of 
existing A555 to Manchester Airport and the link road to the M56. The scheme bypasses 
heavily congested district and local centres, including Bramhall, Cheadle Hulme, Hazel 
Grove, Handforth, Poynton, Wythenshawe, Gatley and Heald Green. The scheme has 
been delivered by Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council and opened in October 2018. 

  

Page 143



26 

Metrolink Capacity Enhancements 

101. In December 2017, following 
significant investment by TfGM 
into new substations along the 
Bury and Altrincham lines, four 
additional trams were 
introduced allowing more 
single unit services to run as 
doubles. This has delivered 
space for around 400 extra 
passengers an hour at peak 
times on both lines. 

Salford – Bolton Network Improvements Programme 

102. The Salford-Bolton Network Improvements (SBNI) programme provides a 
comprehensive package of road and junction improvements across Salford and Bolton to 
make the local transport network more efficient. It aims to make travel safer, easier, 
quicker and more reliable for everyone, including public transport users, drivers, 
pedestrians and cyclists. The improvements will also help encourage economic growth 
by providing better access to employment, and health, education and leisure facilities.  

103. The first set of works in Pendleton and Walkden were completed in 2017. Further works 
have been completed in 2018 in Bolton at Raikes Lane, Loxham Street/Green 
Lane/Manchester Road, Higher Market Street/Longcauseway, Farnworth Bus 
Facility/Town Centre and bus stop upgrades. All these schemes have improved vehicle 
capacity and passenger journey times through the junctions and have also enhanced 
pedestrian and cycling facilities and passenger waiting facilities. Further schemes are in 
development. 

Case Study: City Verve 

City Verve is a programme delivered by Manchester City Council, the University of 
Manchester, private sector partners and TfGM. It brings together projects linked to the 
Internet of Things (IoT) with the overall aim of building a smarter, more connected 
Manchester. City Verve coordinates projects linked to a variety of themes. The Travel and 
Transport theme is focused on ‘delivering more efficient, reliable and attractive public 
transport, reducing congestion and enhancing public safety’. Current projects include: 

 Talking Bus Stops: Through the use of technology, including location-based services 
and mobile apps, bus stops will deliver location relevant content. Passengers will have 
the ability to ‘check-in’ to their bus stop and let bus operators know they are waiting 
for their service. This will lead to a more responsive service and improved experience 
for travellers. 

 City Concierge: The development of wayfinding services which will integrate 
transportation and visitor services to allow users to make informed travel choices. 
Using mapping data detailed down to street furniture level, this wayfinding service 

Page 144



27 

will provide a level of accuracy previously unseen and of particular value for those with 
limited mobility e.g. the disabled or parents with pushchairs. 

 Smart Parking: We are developing ‘parking space tracking’ providing car drivers with 
information about parking availability based on their driving route. It will notify drivers 
of nearby parking spaces close to public transport such as buses and trains, to 
encourage them to continue their journey via sustainable modes.  

 See.Sense Cycling Trial: Working closely with private sector partners See.Sense and 
BT, TfGM recruited 180 participants to trial See.Sense Icon bike lights. The smart bike 
light provides cyclists with added visibility and the connected app provides additional 
security and safety. The bike light captures both quantitative and qualitative data that 
is stored on a BT platform. This data enables us to better understand the routes cyclists 
take and the reasons why. The trial was awarded the Internet of Things Impact Award 
at the 2018 Big Chip Awards. We are now exploring how the data could assist future 
cycling provision planning and how cyclists can help us co-create the future of active 
travel. 

 Tracsis & Vivacity Trial: TfGM and Manchester City Council worked with private 
partners Tracsis and Vivacity to use different technologies to understand movement 
within the city centre. One of the key projects was a set of smart cameras that used 
cutting-edge Artificial Intelligence and computer vision technology to monitor the 
movement of street users. They captured both the amount and flow of people around 
the city centre across different modes of transport, with a focus on pedestrians and 
cyclists. This created a much more detailed dataset than was previously available, 
which will be used to better manage people’s movement in Manchester. 

 

Schemes Update 

104. The foundation of our current capital programme is set out in the Table 3 below.  
Schemes highlighted in green have been completed in the last year. An update for all 
schemes is provided in the right hand column.  The capital programme will be developed 
in more detail as future funding, currently the subject of discussions with the 
Government, is finalised. 
 

 

  

Page 145



28 

Our Spatial Themes 

Table 3: Progress on Delivery Plan 1 Schemes  

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

Global Connectivity – schemes which support growth at Manchester Airport and the adjacent 
Enterprise Zone. 

Committed Schemes 

G.05.01 A6 Manchester 
Airport Relief 
Route  

10km new two-lane dual 
carriageway from A6 near 
Hazel Grove to Manchester 
Airport via A555 

Improve connectivity to 
Manchester Airport, 
particularly from SE of the 
conurbation and 
neighbouring areas, and 
relieve congestion in local 
centres. 

Stockport 
Metropolitan 

Borough 
Council 

2018 

Completed and 
opened 

October 2018 

Potential Schemes (subject to funding) 
G.08.01 Metrolink 

Airport Line 
Western Loop 

Extend Metrolink in a loop 
from the existing line to the 
west of the Airport.  

Reduce congestion by 
providing an alternative to 
car travel and improve 
connectivity to Terminal 2, 
HS2, Wythenshawe Hospital 
and the western part of the 
Enterprise Zone. 

TfGM TfGM was 
awarded Large 
Major Scheme 
Development 
Funding for 
2017/18 to 

progress this 
scheme. Now 

awaiting 
funding 

announcement 

Page 146



29 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

G.6 Western 
Gateway/Port 
Salford 
Infrastructure 

Road, rail and port 
infrastructure for Port 
Salford 

Improve access to Port of 
Liverpool via Manchester 
Ship Canal and enable more 
freight to be carried by 
sustainable modes. 

TfGM/Local 
Authorities/Developer  

Work was 
completed 

earlier this year 
to explore the 

possible 
options for Full 
WGIS (involving 
TfGM/HE/TMB

C/SCC). 

 

City-to-City Links – Greater Manchester’s links to other cities across the UK are critical to our 
long-term success. 

Committed Schemes 

W.12 Ordsall Chord West of Victoria track layout 
changes, Castlefield and 
Ordsall Lane junction 
capacity and performance 
improvements 

Part of the Northern Hub 
rail scheme to increase 
capacity. 

Network 
Rail 

December 
2017 

Opened in Dec 
17. 1 train per 

hour (tph) from 
Dec 2017, 3tph 
from May 2018 

W.13.01 Manchester-
Preston 

Manchester-Preston 
electrification and journey 
time improvements 

Improve journey speeds, 
reduce emissions. 

Network 
Rail  

December 
2017 

Opening due in 
2018 

C.02.02 Manchester-
Stalybridge 

Manchester Victoria-
Stalybridge electrification 
and journey time 
improvements 

Improve journey speeds, 
reduce emissions. 

Network 
Rail  

December 
2017 

Electrification 
now 

incorporated 
into Trans 

Pennine Route 
Upgrade – 
delivery by 

2022. 

W.12 Platform 
Lengthening  

Platform extensions of 
5x23m on the North 
TransPennine (Manchester-
Huddersfield-Leeds), 
Manchester-Clitheroe and 
Manchester-Southport 
routes. Other stations will 

Network 
Rail 

December 
2019 

Progressing – 
franchise 

commitment. 

Page 147



30 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

see extensions which allow 
4-car trains to stop.  

Supports improved capacity 
by allowing longer trains to 
operate.  

W.12 Calder Valley Calder Valley journey time 
Improvements: Manchester-
Bradford via Calder Valley 

Faster journey times 

Network 
Rail  

December 
2019 

In progress. 
Some line 
speed and 
signalling 

improvements 
now complete. 
Benefits likely 
to be realised 
following the 

December 2019 
timetable 
change. 

C.02.02 Guide Bridge-
Stalybridge 

Guide Bridge-Stalybridge 
electrification and journey 
time improvements 

Improve journey speeds, 
reduce emissions. 

Network 
Rail  

December 
2022 

Now 
incorporated 

into Trans 
Pennine Route 

Upgrade 
(below) 

C.02.02 Trans Pennine 
Route Upgrade 

Trans Pennine route 
upgrade Electrification 
Stalybridge-Leeds-
York/Selby, line speed 
improvements 

Improve journey speeds, 
reduce emissions. 

Network 
Rail  

December 
2022 

Under review 
by Network Rail 

including 
potential of 

dual powered 
units. Decision 
expected later 

in 2018. 

C.1 Wigan A49 Link 
Road 

A link road to complete a 
dual carriageway link 
between J25 of the M6 and 
Wigan 

Improve access to the 
southern part of Wigan 
Town Centre, and 
Westwood Park 

employment area. 

Network 
Rail  

2020 

Full approval 
granted Feb 
2018. Works 

due to 
commence on 

site later in 
2018. 

Page 148



31 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

C.1 Wigan M58 
Link Road 

A link road between 
Junction 26 of the M6 and 
the A571 

Provides an alternative link 
into Wigan from the M58, 
relieving congestion on the 
A577, and supporting new 
employment development.  

Wigan 
Council  

2021 Planning 
permission 
granted Feb 

2018. Full 
Business Case 
scheduled for 

submission 
2019. 

C.05.01 M60 Junction 8 
to M62 
Junction 20 
Smart 
Motorway 

Smart motorway M60 J8 to 
J18; Smart motorway with 
all lane running M62 J18-20 

Improve capacity and 
reliability of motorway. 

Highways 
England  

2017 

Completed 
September 

2018 

C.05.03 M62 Junctions 
10-12 

Smart motorway including 
hard shoulder running 

Improve capacity and 
reliability of motorway. 

Highways 
England 

2019/20 

Started 2018 

C.05.02 M6 Junctions 
21A-26  

Smart motorway including 
hard shoulder running 

Improve capacity and 
reliability of motorway. 

Highways 
England 

2021 

Start 2019 

C.5 M60 Junctions 
24-27 & J1-4 

Smart motorway with hard 
shoulder running from J24 
to J4 

Improve capacity and 
reliability of motorway. 

Highways 
England 

2022/23 

Start 2019 

C.05.05 M56 Junctions 
6-8 

Smart motorway including 
hard shoulder running 

Improve capacity and 
reliability of motorway. 

Highways 
England 

2021 

Start 2019 

C.5 M60 Junction 
18 

Improvement to Simister 
Island interchange  

Reduce congestion. 

Highways 
England 

2025 Likely to be a 
RIS2 scheme 
delivered by 

2025 

C.05.04 M62 Junctions 
20-25 

Smart motorway 

Improve capacity and 
reliability of motorway. 

Highways 
England 

 Start 2019, no 
completion 

date provided 

Page 149



32 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

C.03.01 Mottram Moor 
Link Road  

New link road from the M67 
to A57(T) at Mottram Moor. 

Reduce congestion in the 
Longdendale area. 

Highways 
England 

Late in 
RP1 

Start 2019/20 

C.03.01 A57T – A57 
Woolley Bridge 

New link road from A57(T) 
to A57 

Reduce congestion in the 
Longdendale area. 

Highways 
England 

Late in 
RP1 

Start 2019/20 

C.7 

 

A556 Knutsford 
to Bowdon 
(Cheshire East) 

Replacement of A556 from 
M56 J7/8 to the M6 J19 

Reduce congestion and 
improve safety. 

Highways 
England 

2017 

Completed and 
open 

Potential Schemes (subject to funding) 

C.01.03 M6/M58 
Interchange 

Improve M6/M58 junction 
to accommodate new M58 
link road (committed 
scheme) 

Wigan Council Currently in 
development 
with a view to 

being delivered 
as part of the 
M58 Link Rd 
scheme. HE’s 
Growth and 

Housing 
Designated 

Fund approved 

C.06.01 Stockport 
Station 

Implementation of the 
Stockport Station 
Masterplan.  

 

Enhance passenger facilities 
and reduce severance for 
non- rail users, through: 
redeveloped concourses; 
better access to platforms 
via a new footbridge and 
significantly improved links 
between the rail station and 
the town centre.  

 

 

 

Network Rail / TfGM / 
Stockport 

Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

 

Page 150



33 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

Regional Centre - Manchester city centre and the wider regional centre is a major driver of 
economic growth in Greater Manchester and key hub of our public transport network.  

Committed Schemes 

RC.01.0
1 

Salford Central 
Additional 
Platforms 

Three additional platforms 
to accommodate increased 
passenger numbers and 
additional services post 
completion of the Ordsall 
Chord.  

Improve access to the rail 
network from the Central 
Salford/Spinningfields area. 

TfGM/ 

Network Rail 
/ Salford City 

Council 

2019 

Phased delivery 
from 2019 

RC.4 Cross City Bus 
Package 

Bus Priority measures. 

Improving journey times 
and access for bus 
passengers into and across 
the Regional Centre. 
Pedestrian and cycleway 
improvements 

TfGM / 
Manchester 
City Council/ 
Salford City 

Council 

2017 

Oxford Road 
measures 
completed 

2017 

RC.5 Metrolink 
Additional 
Priorities 
Package 

Stop upgrades, operational 
improvements, local access 
and signage 

TfGM 2020 A number of 
initiatives 
proposed. 
Remaining 

schemes are 
currently in 

development 

C.02.01 Piccadilly 
Station 
Platforms 15 
and 16 

Two additional platforms to 
provide additional capacity 
as part of the Northern Hub 
package (Note: Subject to 
Transport and Works Act 
approval) 

Enable more trains to travel 
through the city centre. 

Network 
Rail  

tbc Awaiting 
outcome of 

TWAO 
conclusion and 

further NR 
work on digital 

signalling 
solutions 

C.02.01 Manchester 
Oxford Road 
Station 
Remodelling 

Widening of the railway 
viaduct and lengthening of 
platforms (Note: Subject to 
Transport and Works Act 
approval) 

Accommodate longer trains. 

Network 
Rail  

tbc Awaiting 
outcome of 

TWAO 
conclusion and 

further NR 
work on digital 

signalling 
solutions 

Page 151



34 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

RC.02.0
2 

Manchester 
and Salford 
Inner Relief 
Route: Great 
Ancoats Street 

Measures to improve 
routing of traffic around the 
north-east side of the 
Regional Centre 

Reduce congestion and 
severance.  

Manchester 
City Council 

2020 

Construction to 
start Summer 

2019 

RC.02.0
1 

Manchester 
and Salford 
Inner Relief 
Route: A57 
Regent 
Road/Water 
Street 

Measures to improve the 
Regent Road junction on its 
approaches and at adjacent 
junctions (Trinity Way/Irwell 
Street, Chapel Road and the 
merge from Chester Road 
roundabout). 

Reduce congestion. 

Manchester 
City Council/ 
Salford City 

Council 

2019 

Full approval by 
GMCA June 

2018. 
Construction  

started August 
2018 

RC.3 Metrolink 
Service 
Improvement 
Package 

Additional light rail vehicles 
(LRVs) and supporting 
infrastructure to provide 
increased resilience across 
the network. 

Increase capacity to 
encourage a shift from car 
use. 

TfGM 2019 
All new trams 

now delivered, 
supporting 

infrastructure 
to be 

completed in 
2019 

RC.10 Minor Works 
Programme 

Programme of schemes 
costing <£5 million 

Improve Regional Centre 
connectivity and access to 
development sites.  

TfGM/ Local 
Authorities 

2021 

30% of 
schemes 

completed 

RC.02.0
4 

Mancunian 
Way Package 

Princess Street / Mancunian 
Way Junction improvements 

Reduce congestion. 

TfGM / 
Manchester 
City Council 

2021 
NPIF funding 

confirmed 

RC.10.0
5 

City Centre 
Salford 
Infrastructure 
Improvements 

Highway modifications in 
the New Bailey area 

Improve sustainable 
transport links and support 
new development. 

TfGM / 
Salford City 

Council  

2019 Joint funding 
from Growth 

Deal 2, ECF and 
Salford CC. 
Completion 
2019. Work 

underway on 
New Bailey 

Gateway 

 

Page 152



35 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

RC.02.0
3 

Trafford Road Junction 
improvements/signal 
optimisation and 
pedestrian/cycle 
improvements 

Reduce congestion and 
improve access to 
MediaCityUK and Salford 
Quays. 

Salford City 
Council  

2021 

Conditional 
Approval 

Business Case 
submitted in 
September 

2018 

Wider City-Region – Greater Manchester is polycentric in nature and has strong links to 
neighbouring areas, resulting in highly complex travel patterns and high levels of car use which 

cause congestion and pollution. 

Committed Schemes 

W.01.01 M62 J19 Link 
Road 

Link road between M62 
Junction 19 and the 
Hareshill Road/Manchester 
Road junction to provide 
access to existing and 
planned employment sites 
and relieve congestion in 
and around Heywood Town 
Centre. 

Reduce congestion, improve 
access to development. 

Rochdale 
Borough 
Council/ 

Highways 
England  

2021 

Subject to 
securing all 
powers and 

consents work 
due to 

commence 
2019 

W.02.01 Salford-Bolton 
Bus Network 
Improvements 

Improvements to bus 
routes, passenger 
interchange and waiting 
facilities to improve quality, 
frequency, journey times 
and reliability. 

Improved services and 
facilities to encourage mode 
shift. 

TfGM/ 
Salford City 

Council 

/Bolton 
Council  

2020 Programme 
progressing 

well. Six 
schemes have 
secured Full 

Approval and 
have been 

completed or 
are in 

construction, 
further 

schemes are in 
development 

 

W.3 Bolton 
Interchange 

New Interchange to improve 
passenger facilities and bus-
rail interchange. 

TfGM/ 

Bolton 
Council 

2018 
Completed and 

Operational 

Page 153



36 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

W.03.02 Stockport 
Interchange 

Replacement of the existing 
Interchange to improve 
passenger facilities and bus-
rail interchange, and make 
provision for the future 
extension of Metrolink.  

Improved passenger 
facilities, encouraging mode 
shift. 

 

TfGM 2021 

Planning 
application to 
be submitted 
late in 2018 

W.03.01 Tameside 
Interchange 

New Interchange with bus 
and Metrolink on a single 
site, replacing the existing 
bus station  

Improved passenger 
facilities, encouraging mode 
shift. 

 

TfGM 2020 

Works 
commenced 
June 2018 

W.03.03 Wigan Bus 
station 

Improvement of the existing 
Wigan bus station, including 
telemetry with the two rail 
stations and connections to 
key town centre 
destinations. 

Improved passenger 
facilities, encouraging mode 
shift. 

TfGM 2018 

Opened Oct 
2018 

W.04.01 Stockport Town 
Centre Access 
Plan (TCAP) 

Measures to improve access 
for sustainable modes (bus 
priority, cycle and 
pedestrian links, public 
realm enhancements and 
signage), rationalise traffic 
movements and improve 
access to interchanges and 
development sites.  

Improve connectivity to 
support town centre 
regeneration. 

 

Stockport 
Metropolitan 

Borough 
Council  

2021 

Schemes 
currently on 
track to be 

completed by 
2021 

Page 154



37 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

W.05.01 Trafford Park 
Line Metrolink 
extension 

Extend Metrolink to Trafford 
Centre 

Reduce congestion by 
providing an alternative to 
car travel and enabling 
future extension to the AJ 
Bell Stadium and potentially 
Port Salford. 

TfGM 2020 Significant 
enabling works 
and track laying 
continue to be 

completed. 
Subject to 
continued 

satisfactory 
progression, 

the TPL 
extension will 

become 
operational 
during 2020 

W.07.01 Cycle City 
Ambition Grant 
2 

Programme of measures 
including cycleways to 
encourage mode shift to 
cycling. 

TfGM/ Local 
Authorities 

2019 

All schemes 
committed 

W.8 Rail Additional 
Priorities 
Package 

Rail station upgrades 

Improved access and 
parking 

TfGM 2018 A number of 
initiatives 

proposed to 
delivery stage. 

Remaining 
schemes are 
currently in 

development 

W.9 Bus Stations 
Additional 
Priorities 
Package 

Bus station Safety, Security 
and Information Upgrades 

TfGM 2019 A number of 
initiatives 

proposed to 
delivery stage. 

Remaining 
schemes are 
currently in 

development 

W.10 Bolton station Bolton station remodelling 
and extra platform 

Additional capacity to 
encourage mode shift. 

Network 
Rail 

2019 New Rail 
Station 

entrance 
connecting to 

the Skylink 
bridge and new 

Interchange 
completed in 

mid-2017. 

Page 155



38 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

Platform 5 
works have 

been 
completed. 

Electrification 
scheduled to 
complete in 

2018 

W.13 Rochdale 
capacity 

Turnback at Rochdale 
station  

Additional capacity to 
encourage mode shift. 

Network 
Rail  

December 
2017 Complete and 

operational 

W.10, 
W.8 
W.15 

Minor Works 
Programme 

Rolling programme of 
schemes costing <£5 million, 
covering town centre 
connectivity, local access to 
public transport, access to 
development sites and 
active travel schemes. 

TfGM / 
Local 

Authorities 

2021 

30% of 
schemes 

completed 

 

W.06.03 KRN A560 
Corridor 
Package 

Package of measures on the 
A560 corridor  

Provide congestion relief, 
enhance access to 
employment, improve bus 
reliability, safety and 
facilitate active travel.  

Stockport 
Metropolitan 

Borough 
Council  

2021 

NPIF funding 
confirmed 

W.09.13 Carrington 
Relief Road 

New highway 

Improve access to 
development, improve 
resilience of highway 
network. 

Trafford 
Council  

2021 Conditional 
Approval 

Business Case 
to be 

submitted in 
November 

2018 

W.04.02 Merseyway 
Stockport Town 
Centre 
Structure 
Enhancement 

Repairs to the Merseyway 
Bridge, supporting the 
Merseyway shopping 
precinct 

Stockport 
Metropolitan 

Borough 
Council  

2021 Merseyway 
Structures 

scheme 
allocated 

funding from 
Growth Deal 3. 

Stockport 
Council is 
currently 

Page 156



39 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

developing the 
scheme and 
associated 

business case 

C.07.01 M60 J13/A572 
Improvements 

Vehicular access for RHS 
Bridgewater and 
modifications to M60 J13 
roundabout 

Provide additional capacity 
to accommodate visitor 
traffic. 

Salford City 
Council/ 

Highways 
England 

2020 Scheme 
allocated 
funding 
through 

Growth Deal 3. 
Salford CC is 
progressing 

scheme 
development. 
Construction 

due to 
commence in 

2018 

W.12.01 Key Route 
Network 
Package  

Upgrade of traffic signals, 
bus priority  

Reduce congestion, improve 
bus reliability 

TfGM/ 

Local 
Authorities 

2021 
Design work is 

currently 
progressing 

W.15.01 Oldham Town 
Centre 
Regeneration 
and 
Connectivity 
(Part 1) 

Measures to improve 
pedestrian/cycle access 
within the town centre, 
reduce severance of arterial 
routes, improve traffic 
circulation and improve 
access to development sites 

Reduce congestion, 
encourage active travel, 
support new development. 

 

Oldham 
Borough 
Council 

2021 

Conditional 
Approval 

Business Case 
to be 

submitted late 
2018 

Potential Schemes (subject to funding) 

C.01.04 Bolton and 
Wigan Key 
Route Network  

New highway forming east-
west road link between 
Bolton and Wigan 

Provide access to 
development sites, improve 
resilience of highway 
network, reduce congestion. 

 

Bolton Council / Wigan 
Metropolitan Borough 

Council 
Joint Bolton 

and Wigan HIF 
bid progressed 

to co-
development 

stage 

Page 157



40 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

W.11 A6 Structures Repairs to viaduct, 
supporting the A6, 
incorporating improved 
provision for pedestrians 
and cyclists  

Ensure resilience of the 
highway network, improve 
pedestrian/cycle facilities. 

Stockport 
Metropolitan 

Borough 
Council 

 
A6 Structures 
delivered as 

part of 
Highways 

Challenge Fund 
during summer 

2017. 

W.15.02 Oldham Town 
Centre Access 
Package  
(Part 2) 

Remaining measures to 
improve pedestrian/cycle 
access within the town 
centre, reduce severance of 
arterial routes, improve 
traffic circulation and 
improve access to 
development sites. 

Reduce congestion, 
encourage active travel, 
support new development. 

Oldham Borough 
Council  

 

Neighbourhoods – The places we live have a major influence on our overall quality of life 

Committed Schemes 

N.01.01 Rail Station 
Improvement 
Strategy 
Tranche 6 

Improvements to passenger 
help points, CCTV, real time 
information screens and 
public announcement 
systems at smaller rail 
stations  

TfGM 2018 
Works 

underway and 
completion due 

in 2018. 

W.12.04 Minor Works 
Programme 

Programme of schemes 
costing <£5 million, covering 
town centre connectivity, 
local access to public 
transport, access to 
development sites and 
active travel schemes.  

TfGM/ 

Local 
Authorities 

2021 

See Wider City-
Region Minor 

Works 
Programme 

W.07.01 Cycle City 
Ambition  
Grant 2 

Programme of measures 
including cycleways, Cycle 
Friendly District Centres, 
Partner Schools Programme, 
cycle parking, cycle and ride 
stations and promotional 
activity 

TfGM/ 

Local 
Authorities 

2019 

See Wider City-
Region Minor 

CCAG 2 
Programme 

Page 158



41 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

N.01.13 Rail Station 
Access 
Improvements  

Provision of step-free access 
at prioritised rail stations 

Improve accessibility, 
encourage mode shift. 

TfGM/ 

Network 
Rail  

2021 Work is 
progressing to 
enhance the 
existing P&R 
facility and 

improve 
pedestrian 

access at Mills 
Hill station to 
complement 
the Network 

Rail designs for 
step-free 

access at Mills 
Hill. 

N.02.04 Bus Stop 
Enhancements 

Kerb raising at bus stops to 
allow level access 

Improve accessibility, 
encourage mode shift. 

TfGM/ 

Local 
Authorities 

2021 Scheme 
allocated 
funding 
through 

Growth Deal 3. 
TfGM is 

progressing 
scheme 

development 
and the 

associated 
business case 
submission. 

Greater Manchester-wide Schemes 

Committed schemes 

Policy 
13, 
Policy 
14 

Safety and 
security 
programmes 

Ongoing programmes to 
reduce road accidents and 
improve personal safety and 
security for passengers 

TfGM/Local Authorities 

Ongoing 

Policy 3
  

Travel Choices 
programmes 

Targeted interventions 
(including work with 
businesses and schools) to 
support mode shift 

TfGM 

Ongoing 

Page 159



42 

Strategy 
Ref 

Scheme Name Description Delivery 
Agency 

Forecast 
Delivery 

Date 

Oct 2018  
Progress 
Update 

Policy 2 TfN integrated 
fares and 
ticketing 
system 

Develop an integrated fares 
and ticketing system and 
work with Transport for the 
North to develop a cross-
modal payment system, 
compatible across the North 

TfGM/TfN 

Ongoing 

 

Future Delivery 

105. We will continue to implement schemes that were funded through Local Growth Fund 
rounds 1, 2 and 3, as well as the National Productivity Investment Fund, alongside the 
Highways England and Network Rail schemes within Greater Manchester. 

106. We will build on our successes by continuing to develop and consistently apply our 
Network Principles (set out below) across our transport system. Our Network Principles 
are centred on the needs of our customers and allow us to set a strategic framework so 
we can tackle issues and deliver projects that have a real impact on the lives of people 
across Greater Manchester. 

Our Network Principles 

   

Page 160



43 

Chapter 6: Measuring Success  

107. We need to assess whether the measures and policies we develop are ultimately helping 
to deliver the 2040 Transport Strategy. In order to do this we are measuring 
performance through a series of key performance indicators (KPIs). This Progress Report 
compares our 2016/17 and 2017/18 performance against the baseline position in 
2015/16. 

108. The 2040 Transport Strategy identified a number of challenges that we face in achieving 
our vision and for each of these challenges there is a particular outcome that we would 
like to see. We will measure the extent to which we are achieving these outcomes 
through the key performance indicators (KPIs). 

109. Table 4 below shows some of the KPIs we are currently using as we aim to secure 
desired outcomes by addressing the challenges (such as supporting sustainable 
economic growth and protecting the environment) outlined in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy. 

 

Table 4: Key Performance Indicators  

 

Desired 

Outcome 

 Current Key Performance Indicators 

Key 

Performance 

Indicator (KPI)  

2015/16 Baseline  2016/17 Position  2017/18 Position 

Reduced 

congestion 

Annual Vehicle 

Km on the KRN, 

and on other A 

and B roads 

7,128 million 

vehicle kilometres 

(A&B roads) 

7,224 million 

vehicle kilometres 

(A&B roads) 

 7,321 million 

vehicle kilometres 

(A&B roads)  

 

Public transport 

capacity 

11.4% trains and 

trams arriving in 

Manchester City 

Centre at capacity 

during the AM 

peak period 

10.9% trains and 

trams arriving in 

Manchester City 

Centre at capacity 

during the AM 

peak period 

 Currently no 

update available 

 

More reliable 

journey times 

 

Reliability of 

key strategic 

highways  

89% reliability in 

2015 (12 month 

average) 

89% reliability in 2016 

(12 month average) 

 

 

 

85.5% reliability in 

2017 (12 month 

average)   

 

Page 161



44 

 

Desired 

Outcome 

 Current Key Performance Indicators 

Key 

Performance 

Indicator (KPI)  

2015/16 Baseline  2016/17 Position  2017/18 Position 

Resilient and 

well 

maintained 

network 

 

Maintenance of 

major roads 

5% of Greater 

Manchester A, B & 

C classified roads 

where 

maintenance 

should be 

considered (DfT 

road condition 

stats, 2014/15). 

5% of Greater 

Manchester A, B & C 

classified roads where 

maintenance should 

be considered (DfT 

road condition stats, 

2015/16).  

 

6% of Greater 

Manchester A, B & 

C classified roads 

where 

maintenance 

should be 

considered (DfT 

road condition 

stats, 2016/17). 

 

People see 

Greater 

Manchester as 

a good place 

to visit & 

invest 

Customer 

satisfaction  

82% of public 

transport users 

‘fairly’ or ‘very’ 

satisfied with their 

journey today: 

Bus 82% 

Rail 72% 

Metrolink 89%  

83% of public 

transport users 

‘fairly’ or ‘very’ 

satisfied with their 

journey today: 

Bus 83%  

Rail 75% 

Metrolink 90%  

 85% of public 

transport users 

‘fairly’ or ‘very’ 

satisfied with their 

journey today: 

Bus 86% 

Rail 76% 

Metrolink 89% 

 

Better access 

to services 

 

 

 

Access to public 

transport 

services  

 

84% of the 

population having 

>Level 4 

accessibility2 to the 

public transport 

network.  

83% of the 

population having 

>Level 4 

accessibility to the 

public transport 

network. 

 82% of the 

population having 

>Level 4 

accessibility to the 

public transport 

network. 

 

DDA compliant 

vehicles and 

infrastructure 

98.8% of buses 

with low floor 

access.  

100% of buses with 

low floor access. 

 100% of buses with 

low floor access. 

 

More people 

travelling 

actively  

 

 

 

Short trips 

made by 

walking and  

cycling 

52% of trips  <2km 

made by walking 

and cycling: 

Walking 50.7% 

Cycling 1.6% 

53% of trips <2km 

made by walking 

and cycling: 

Walking 51.4% 

Cycling 1.8% 

 52% of trips  <2km 

made by walking and 

cycling: 

Walking 50.4% 

Cycling 2% 

 

                                                           
2 ‘Level 4 Accessibility’ refers to a measure of public transport accessibility for every postcode in GM.  The measure takes into account: 
walking time to a stop, how many services are available, and how frequent they are. A score is then assigned, and these scores are 
grouped into 8 levels.  1 is ‘very low’ and 8 is ‘very high’. 

Page 162



45 

 

Desired 

Outcome 

 Current Key Performance Indicators 

Key 

Performance 

Indicator (KPI)  

2015/16 Baseline  2016/17 Position  2017/18 Position 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of 

cycling and 

walking trips 

27% of all trips in 

Greater 

Manchester are 

made by walking 

and cycling: 

Walking 25.6% 

Cycling 1.5% 

28% of all trips in 

Greater 

Manchester are 

made by walking 

and cycling: 

Walking 26.4% 

Cycling 1.7% 

 28% of all trips in 

Greater 

Manchester are 

made by walking 

and cycling: 

Walking 25.8% 

Cycling 1.9% 

 

School journeys 

by walking and 

cycling 

51% of education 

trips (5-16 year 

olds) made by 

walking and cycling  

50% of education 

trips (5-16 year 

olds) made by 

walking and  

cycling  

 51% of education trips 

(5-16 year olds) made 

by walking and cycling 

 

Km of cycle 

infrastructure  

571km of cycling 

infrastructure  

616km of cycling 

infrastructure 

 633km of cycling 

infrastructure 

 

Improved 

safety and  

personal 

security 

 

 

 

 

People killed or 

seriously 

injured (KSI) on 

roads 

653 people were 

killed or seriously 

injured on roads in 

2015  

678 people were 

killed or seriously 

injured on roads in 

2016  

 788 people were 

killed or seriously 

injured on roads in 

2017 

 

Casualty rates 

per 100,000 

head of 

population 

24 casualties per 

100,000 population  

25 casualties per 

100,000 population  

 28 casualties per 

100,000 

population 

 

Personal 

security on 

public transport 

27 incidents of 

crime or anti-social 

behaviour reported 

to TfGM per million 

public transport 

trips 

25 incidents of 

crime or anti-social 

behaviour reported 

to TfGM per million 

public transport 

trips 

 29 incidents of 

crime or anti-social 

behaviour 

reported to TfGM 

per million public 

transport trips 

 

More people 

travelling by 

non-car modes 

 

Number of trips 

and mode of 

travel to 

Manchester 

City Centre  

26% of peak trips 

into Manchester 

city centre made by 

car 

24% of peak trips 

into Manchester 

city centre made by 

car 

 23% of peak trips 

into Manchester 

city centre made 

by car 

 

Page 163



46 

 

Desired 

Outcome 

 Current Key Performance Indicators 

Key 

Performance 

Indicator (KPI)  

2015/16 Baseline  2016/17 Position  2017/18 Position 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of trips 

and mode of 

travel to key 

town centres 

51% of peak trips 

into key town 

centres made by 

car 

51% of peak trips into 

key town centres 

made by car 

51% of peak trips into 

key town centres 

made by car 

Number of trips 

and mode of 

travel to 

Manchester 

Airport 

16% of departing 

passengers use 

public transport to 

access the airport 

18% of departing 

passengers use 

public transport to 

access the airport 

 18% of departing 

passengers use 

public transport to 

access the airport 

 

Use of 

sustainable 

modes for 

travel to work 

27% of Greater 

Manchester 

residents use non 

car modes for 

travel to work 

 29% of Greater 

Manchester 

residents using 

non-car modes for 

travel to work   

 Currently no 

update available 

 

Bus patronage  209 million 

journeys per 

annum  

202 million public 

transport journeys  

per annum  

194 million public 

transport journeys 

per annum  

 

 
Metrolink 

patronage  

34 million journeys 

per annum  

38 million journeys 

per annum  

41 million journeys 

per annum  

 

 

Rail patronage 40 million journeys 

per annum  

 

44 million journeys 

per annum  

43 million journeys 

per annum 

 

Reduced 

emissions of 

CO2
3 

Transport 

emissions in 

GM (C02)  

4,267 kilotonnes   4,307 kilotonnes  4,329 kilotonnes   

Reduced 

emissions of 

NO2  

NO2 emissions 

from vehicles 

9,000 tonnes of 

N02 emissions from 

road traffic (2014, 

EMIGMA model) 

This data is currently under review and will 

be updated once a Clean Air Plan is 

published for Greater Manchester  

 

                                                           
3 The data available for CO2 emissions in GM is 2 years’ in arrears, i.e. the 2017/18 position is a result of analysing 2016 data. Emissions 

also originate from other major sectors in GM. Emissions from transport have grown since 2013 (GM’s transport emissions previously 

declined, between 2008 and 2013).  

 

Page 164



47 

110. It is important to remember that many of the desired outcomes we are attempting to 
deliver are long term, and it will not be possible to deliver on them within a year or two.  

111. It should also be recognised that we are attempting to improve performance in the 
context of a rapidly growing population which is resulting in thousands more trips on 
Greater Manchester’s transport network. Unfortunately the potential for highways 
congestion - and overcrowding and anti-social behaviour on public transport - increases 
alongside increased trip numbers.  

112. The impact of rapid population growth, combined with the short time frame involved in 
this comparison, means many of the KPIs have not altered significantly from the 2015/16 
baseline, and where there has been any positive or negative change this has only been 
slight.  

113. There has been an increase in the number of people killed or seriously injured (KSI) on 
roads in Greater Manchester from 653 people (2015/16) to 678 people (2016/17). We 
believe that efforts to make improvements to the reporting and recording of KSI 
incidents are partly responsible for this increase. We anticipate that efforts by Greater 
Manchester Police to continue improving the reporting of incidents; injury severity 
classification; and an anticipated new electronic recording system, may lead to further 
reported increases in future years. 

114. TfGM will continue to monitor this trend carefully, investigating the cause as further 
data is released, and lobby for further investment in roads policing and road safety for 
vulnerable road users. TfGM acknowledges there is more that needs to be done in 
addressing road safety, and significant investment is being deployed in improving safety 
of some of Greater Manchester’s most vulnerable road users, including those who 
choose to travel by foot and by bicycle. In addition to this, it is acknowledged that better 
data on the level of cycling and walking is needed to normalise trends in absolute 
figures, to reflect their increased popularity. 

115. While the indicators above provide some continuity from previous Local Transport Plan 
reporting, our 2040 Transport Strategy represents a new approach to planning our 
transport system that demands a broader range of indicators. In particular, our focus on 
the customer requires that more KPIs directly reflect their experiences and levels of 
satisfaction. We will work towards presenting each indicator with a balance of output 
data and customer perceptions. We will also be using technological advances in data 
collection to improve insights and evidence of progress not previously available. All KPIs 
will be kept under review to ensure their continuing relevance. In our next Delivery Plan 
we will set out work underway to identify further performance measures.  

Page 165



48 

Our Modal Principles 

 

  

Page 166



49 

Chapter 7: Introduction to Our Next Delivery Plan  

116. In 2019, we will publish our next Delivery Plan (covering the period 2020-2025) which 
support the 2040 Transport Strategy and GMSF.  

117. Producing these medium-term delivery plans, with regular updates, enables us to 
address transport needs arising from development and regeneration, changing customer 
needs as well as providing a rapid response to new innovations, regulation changes and 
funding opportunities. 

118. The Delivery Plan will look at what we are planning to deliver over the next five years. It 
will include information on: 

 Committed transport schemes; 

 Potential transport schemes to come forward in the five-year period subject to 
business case development and funding; 

 Studies and scheme development that will begin in the next five years to deliver our 
long-term priorities; and 

 How Greater Manchester is developing its future transport programmes in terms of 
strategic planning, funding and delivery. 

  

Page 167



50 

 

Page 168



GREATER MANCHESTER 
TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040

Draft Delivery Plan 2020-2025: 
Executive Summary 

Page 169



Transport is the lifeblood of every town and city. It’s how people get to work, get to 
school, meet their friends and ultimately live productive and fulfilled lives. It’s also 
closely linked to some of the top issues facing our city-region, including congestion, 
air quality, our health and the attractiveness of our streets and town centres.

That is why I have made transport one of my top priorities. I am committed to pushing 
for continual improvements to our transport network so it can help make Greater 
Manchester one of the best places in the world to grow up, get on and grow old. 

Building on our past successes, this Delivery Plan sets out the shorter-term measures 
and schemes our city-region so desperately needs. As is the Greater Manchester 
way, it has been developed in close co-operation with TfGM, GMCA and the local 
authorities to ensure our transport investments support and are supported by the 
new housing and commercial development sites in our draft Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework. 

It also outlines some of the key measures that we will need to 
develop and implement if we are to clean up our air. By dealing 
with the key challenges on our transport network – poor air quality, 
congestion and improving public transport, cycling and walking 
– this joined-up plan sets a clear direction for achieving better, 
cleaner and more connected transport for all.

Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester

Introduction by the Greater Manchester Mayor Our vision for 2040

Our vision for 2040: World-class connections that support long-term, sustainable 
economic growth and access to opportunity for all. 

To achieve this we want 50% of all journeys in Greater Manchester to be made on 
foot, by bike or using public transport by 2040.

Draft Delivery Plan 2020-2025

This Delivery Plan sets out the practical transport actions that we are planning to take 
over the next five years. It explains the strategic background to the plan, and includes 
information on both committed and potential schemes over the five-year period. It 
also highlights the studies, schemes and further transport reforms that will be needed 
to deliver our long-term priorities. 

The Delivery Plan has been prepared in conjunction with the Greater Manchester’s Plan 
for Homes, Jobs and the Environment – the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
(GMSF). Both documents are the subject of consultation – to find out how to 
comment please see the back page of this summary.

To read the full Delivery Plan 2020-2025, please go to tfgm.com/2040

1 MILLION MORE 
SUSTAINABLE 
JOURNEYS PER DAY

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 32GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 170



The strategic context

In autumn 2017 the Mayor launched the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy, 
which sets out the city-region’s vision ‘to make Greater Manchester one of the best 
places in the world to grow up, get on and get old’. One of its ten priorities is to ensure 
Greater Manchester has world-class connectivity.

The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 focuses on how a more 
integrated and reliable transport system can help to tackle the critical long-term 
challenges facing the city-region – including anticipated population growth, 
productivity, air pollution, health and social inclusion.

This five-year Delivery Plan provides an opportunity to ensure that the long-term 
challenges outlined in the overarching 2040 transport strategy are being tackled 
effectively in the near term, by taking emerging trends and new priorities into account.

These plans are underpinned by our transport vision:

OUR VISION 5

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2 Our vision

12. Our vision is for Greater Manchester to have ‘World class connections that support long-term, sustainable 
economic growth and access to opportunity for all’. 

13. Our transport system needs to help the local economy to prosper. It also allows our residents to more fully 
contribute to and benefit from that prosperity. 

14. It also needs to play a part in creating better places and a better natural environment, and in improving 
people’s quality of life. 

15. And, finally, the role of technology and innovation will be even more important in the period up to 2040, 
enabling us to improve transport performance and quality of life, to reduce costs and resource consumption, 
and to provide tailored information and pricing to transport users, providing a much better customer 
experience.

16. The four key elements of our Vision are set out here:

Transport Vision
World class connections 
that support long-term, 

sustainable economic 
growth and access to 

opportunity for all

Supporting sustainable 
economic growth

Improving quality 
of life for all

Protecting our
environment

developing an 
innovative city-region

Figure 1: GM transport vision, 2040 Transport Strategy (2017)

Support sustainable economic growth and tackle congestion

Greater Manchester has ambitious plans, with major growth in employment leading to a rapidly 
expanding population and an increase in demand for housing. We need to: 

• Support the Greater Manchester Strategy, the GMSF Plan for Homes, Jobs and the 
Environment, and the forthcoming Local Industrial Strategy.

• Develop an increasingly successful Northern Powerhouse economy, with Greater Manchester 
at its heart.

• Tackle congestion and enable the efficient and effective movement of people and goods.

• Ensure transport contributes to high-quality, liveable and healthy neighbourhoods, town and 
city centres.

Improve quality of life 

One of the Greater Manchester Strategy’s goals is to ensure people across the city-region can access 
the jobs, education, culture and leisure they need to live fulfilling healthy and productive lives.  
We need to:

• Create an inclusive and accessible transport network that enables access to opportunities.

• Improve the connectivity, reliability and affordability of our networks for all.

• Encourage and support greater levels of walking and cycling.

Protect our environment and improve air quality

We are developing a Clean Air Plan that will enable us to meet national standards on air quality. 
Greater Manchester has also set targets for CO2 emission reduction that exceed national 
ambitions. We need to:

• Reduce the impact of transport on the environment – particularly in terms of clean air and  
carbon reduction.

• Increase the use of sustainable transport to reduce the negative impacts of car use.

Capitalise on new technology and innovation

The world is changing, with developments in technology and innovation offering huge potential 
to change the way we live, work and travel. We intend to respond proactively to change to 
maximise the benefits and manage the risks. We need to:

• Embrace and champion innovation in the transport sector.

• Pilot new transport and travel technologies that support our 2040 priorities in line with the 
Local Industrial Strategy.

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 54GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 171



Achieving our vision

By 2040 we want 50% of all 
journeys in Greater Manchester to 
be made by public transport, walking 
and cycling, especially those shorter 
journeys around local 
neighbourhoods.

This will mean a million more 
sustainable journeys every day, 
enabling us to deliver a healthier, 
greener and more productive  
city-region without increasing 
motor-vehicle traffic.

2040Now

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

D
ai

ly
 T

ri
ps

Sustainable Modes Car or Other

+15%

50%
(3.2m)

50%
(3.2m)

61%
(3.4m)

39%
(2.2m)

0

 
Working with our partners and the 
public, we will continue to develop 
interventions that help us to realise 
our vision, and make Greater 
Manchester an even better place to 
be for everyone.

The Delivery Plan

The maps on the following pages 
illustrate the:

• interventions that are committed 
for delivery in the next five years. 

• interventions for which we aim 
to complete the business case in 
the next five years.

• interventions we will develop 
options for in the next five 
years.

There are some interventions 
that can’t easily be shown on a 
Greater Manchester map, including 
behaviour change programmes and 
small-scale walking and cycling 
schemes. These are grouped and 
listed in the bottom left corner of 
the maps.

The detailed programme has been 
developed in an integrated way to 
address the broad range of issues 
facing Greater Manchester, building 
on the significant investment that 
we have secured over the past 
decade.

To achieve our vision  
by 2040 we must:

Ensure that new 
developments support 
sustainable transport, and that our 
town centres are pleasant, thriving 
and well connected.

Make walking and 
cycling the natural 
choice for short 
journeys.

Radically transform public 
transport capacity of the  

regional centre to benefit the whole  
of Greater Manchester.

Offer genuine alternatives to the 
car for travel across the wider city-
region, with good orbital connections 
between town centres.

Maximise the efficiency and reliability 
of our existing transport networks.

Strengthen our position at the heart 
of the Northern Powerhouse by 

fully integrating the HS2, 
Northern Powerhouse Rail, 

and national infrastructure with 
regional and local networks.

Ensure 
Manchester 
Airport and the 
Airport Enterprise 
Zone sustainably meets its potential 
as both an international gateway and 
a GM employment centre.

Move and manage freight in the most 
sustainable and 
efficient ways.

Research and harness 
future technology, 
innovations and 
digital connectivity.

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 76GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 172



M62

M
60

M60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIdNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Stockport

Oldham

Altrincham

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE
SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

dERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH dARWEN

MERSEYSIdE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

TRAFFORD

BURY

OLDHAM

Exist
ing S

mart M
otorway

Exist
ing S

mart M
otorway

City centre

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering...

• development of a Clean Air Plan
• Implementation of the Congestion deal
• Minor walking and cycling improvements including crossing points and junction upgrades
  (Mayor’s Challenge Fund tranches 1 and 2)
• Further tranches of the Mayor’s Challenge Fund for walking and cycling
• Additional Metrolink vehicles (27 new trams) and associated infrastructure
• Metrolink service and ticketing enhancements
• Mobility Hubs/Park & Ride upgrades
• Station accessibility improvements
• Implementation of the GM Freight and Logistics Strategy
• Electric vehicle charging network
• Behaviour change programmes

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:

These interventions have significant funding allocated and the case for change has been demonstrated,
although final business case approval may still be needed.

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

Metrolink

Quality Bus Transit and bus network improvements

Rail infrastructure improvements

Rail service improvements

Walking and cycling routes (Mayor’s Challenge Fund)

Motorway improvements

New highway links associated with new developments

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Town centre improvements, including interchanges and public realm

Existing land supply growth areas

MAP 1

GMSF site allocation

Subject to business case approval

South Heywood
Link Road

M58
Link Road

M6 J21A–J26
Smart Motorway

M62 J20–J25
Smart Motorway

M60 J13/A572
improvements

M62 J10–J12
Smart Motorway

M56 J6–J8
Smart Motorway

A49 Link Road

Carrington
Relief Road

Castlefield
rail corridor
improvements

Hope Valley Line
upgrade

Salford Central
station upgrade

Ashton Interchange
redevelopment

Oldham Town Centre
Regeneration and
Connectivity Package
(Part 1)

City Centre Salford
improvement:
New Bailey

Stockport
Interchange
redevelopment

A560 Cheadle
Corridor Package

Mancunian Way/Princess
Parkway improvements

A57 Hyde Road
Localised Widening

MSIRR: A57
Regent Road
improvements

MSIRR: Great
Ancoats Street
improvements

Trafford Road
junction
improvements

Stockport
Town Centre
Access Plan

Stockport Town Centre
Structure Enhancements

Manchester–Preston
electrification

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Trans-Pennine Route
upgrade to Leeds

Mills Hill
station
upgrade

Mottram Moor
and A57(T) to A57
Link Roads

Salford Bolton
Network
Improvements

New and upgraded
crossing points and
junctions in Bury 

Standish Mineral Line
enhancement 

Victoria Street/Warrington Road
junction improvements 

B6226 parallel
walking and cycling
quiet route  

Castleton local
centre corridor

Manchester – Chorlton
cycleway  

A5014
Talbot Road

Swinton Greenway
and Monton walking
and cycling network

Oldham foot/cycle
bridge refurbishments

Tameside active
neighbourhoods

Tameside active
neighbourhoods

Improved wayfinding,
pedestrian links and public
realm in the city centre

Brinnington – Stockport
town centre link  

Trafford Park Line

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

Metrolink frequency
improvements
(Etihad – Ashton)

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Shaw and Crompton –
East didsbury)

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

M58/M6
interchange
upgrade

Calder Valley Line
improvements

Manchester
Airport

M602

M62

M
60

M60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIdNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Stockport

Oldham

Altrincham

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE
SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

dERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH dARWEN

MERSEYSIdE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

TRAFFORD

BURY

OLDHAM

Exist
ing S

mart M
otorway

Exist
ing S

mart M
otorway

City centre

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering...

• development of a Clean Air Plan
• Implementation of the Congestion deal
• Minor walking and cycling improvements including crossing points and junction upgrades
  (Mayor’s Challenge Fund tranches 1 and 2)
• Further tranches of the Mayor’s Challenge Fund for walking and cycling
• Additional Metrolink vehicles (27 new trams) and associated infrastructure
• Metrolink service and ticketing enhancements
• Mobility Hubs/Park & Ride upgrades
• Station accessibility improvements
• Implementation of the GM Freight and Logistics Strategy
• Electric vehicle charging network
• Behaviour change programmes

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:

These interventions have significant funding allocated and the case for change has been demonstrated,
although final business case approval may still be needed.

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

Metrolink

Quality Bus Transit and bus network improvements

Rail infrastructure improvements

Rail service improvements

Walking and cycling routes (Mayor’s Challenge Fund)

Motorway improvements

New highway links associated with new developments

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Town centre improvements, including interchanges and public realm

Existing land supply growth areas

MAP 1

GMSF site allocation

Subject to business case approval

South Heywood
Link Road

M58
Link Road

M6 J21A–J26
Smart Motorway

M62 J20–J25
Smart Motorway

M60 J13/A572
improvements

M62 J10–J12
Smart Motorway

M56 J6–J8
Smart Motorway

A49 Link Road

Carrington
Relief Road

Castlefield
rail corridor
improvements

Hope Valley Line
upgrade

Salford Central
station upgrade

Ashton Interchange
redevelopment

Oldham Town Centre
Regeneration and
Connectivity Package
(Part 1)

City Centre Salford
improvement:
New Bailey

Stockport
Interchange
redevelopment

A560 Cheadle
Corridor Package

Mancunian Way/Princess
Parkway improvements

A57 Hyde Road
Localised Widening

MSIRR: A57
Regent Road
improvements

MSIRR: Great
Ancoats Street
improvements

Trafford Road
junction
improvements

Stockport
Town Centre
Access Plan

Stockport Town Centre
Structure Enhancements

Manchester–Preston
electrification

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Trans-Pennine Route
upgrade to Leeds

Mills Hill
station
upgrade

Mottram Moor
and A57(T) to A57
Link Roads

Salford Bolton
Network
Improvements

New and upgraded
crossing points and
junctions in Bury 

Standish Mineral Line
enhancement 

Victoria Street/Warrington Road
junction improvements 

B6226 parallel
walking and cycling
quiet route  

Castleton local
centre corridor

Manchester – Chorlton
cycleway  

A5014
Talbot Road

Swinton Greenway
and Monton walking
and cycling network

Oldham foot/cycle
bridge refurbishments

Tameside active
neighbourhoods

Tameside active
neighbourhoods

Improved wayfinding,
pedestrian links and public
realm in the city centre

Brinnington – Stockport
town centre link  

Trafford Park Line

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

Metrolink frequency
improvements
(Etihad – Ashton)

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Shaw and Crompton –
East didsbury)

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

M58/M6
interchange
upgrade

Calder Valley Line
improvements

Manchester
Airport

M602

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 98GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 173



M62

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIdNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Oldham

Royton

Stretford

Stalybridge

Farnworth

Prestwich

Leigh

Swinton

Stockport
Altrincham

WIGAN

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE

SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

dERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH dARWEN

MERSEYSIdE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

BURY

TRAFFORD

OLDHAM

New Guided Busway
stop north of
Mosley Common

City centre

In the next five years, we aim to complete
business cases for early delivery of...

Subject to funding and business case approval

• Implementation of the Congestion deal

• Smart, integrated ticketing

• Reform of the bus market

• Further investment in the
   walking and cycling network

• Clean Air Plan measures

• Streets for All network improvements

• Mobility Hubs/Park & Ride upgrades

• Station accessibility improvements

• New stations

• Support for new technologies, e.g. Mobility as a Service

• Improvements to local bus services

• Implementation of the GM Freight and Logistics Strategy 

Other strategic interventions
not shown on the map:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

SEMMMS South East Manchester Multi-Modal Study 
(SEMMMS) Refresh

Metrolink and
Metro/tram-train services

Quality Bus Transit and
bus network improvements

Town centre improvements,
including interchanges and public realm

Interventions illustrated on other maps
are shown in grey

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

New bus corridors

High speed rail

New highway links associated
with new developments

Motorway improvements

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

These interventions are those with potential to be delivered by 2025.

MAP 2

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Manchester
Airport

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

Bus Rapid Transit
extension to Wigan

Tram-train
Pathfinder project:
Altrincham–Hale

Tram-train
Pathfinder project:
Manchester Airport–
Wilmslow

Tram-train
Pathfinder project:
Rochdale–Heywood

Metrolink extension
to Terminal 2

Early development of
route alignments for
Metro/tram-train services

Early development of
route alignment for
Metrolink extension

Early development of
route alignment for
Metrolink extension

Quality Bus Transit
(MediaCityUK–
Salford Crescent)

Manchester Airport
expansion highway
improvements

Quality Bus Transit
(Wigan–Bolton)

Wigan and Bolton
new east-west
road infrastructure

Quality Bus Transit
(Bury–Rochdale)

Quality Bus Transit
(Rochdale–Oldham)

Quality Bus Transit
(Oldham–Ashton)

Quality Bus Transit
(Ashton–Stockport)

Further phases of
Western Gateway
Infrastructure Scheme
(WGIS)

New rail link
into Port Salford

Implementation of
Stockport Station Masterplan

South Stockport rail infrastructure
improvements for National Rail / HS2 /
potential Metro/tram-train services

M60 J24–J4 Smart Motorway
(or equivalent measures to
address congestion)

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

Manchester Piccadilly
HS2 Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

City Centre Transport
Strategy interventions

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

M6 J23
improvements

M60 J21
upgrade

Oldham Town Centre
Regeneration and
Connectivity Package
(Part 2)

Improve Piccadilly–
Victoria Metrolink
frequency

Simister Island
improvements

denton Island
improvements

Manchester
Northern Gateway
bus corridor

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
local bus network

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
express bus corridor

Sale West
bus corridor

New Carrington
bus corridor

Elton Reservoir
Link Road

Elton Reservoir
Metrolink stop

Quality Bus Transit
(Bury–Bolton)

Cop Road
Metrolink stop

Bus Rapid Transit
(Airport to the east)

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
distributor Road

Bredbury Industrial Estate
access improvements

Metrolink
extension to
davenport Green

Bury Interchange
redevelopment

M602

M62

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIdNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Oldham

Royton

Stretford

Stalybridge

Farnworth

Prestwich

Leigh

Swinton

Stockport
Altrincham

WIGAN

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE

SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

dERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH dARWEN

MERSEYSIdE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

BURY

TRAFFORD

OLDHAM

New Guided Busway
stop north of
Mosley Common

City centre

In the next five years, we aim to complete
business cases for early delivery of...

Subject to funding and business case approval

• Implementation of the Congestion deal

• Smart, integrated ticketing

• Reform of the bus market

• Further investment in the
   walking and cycling network

• Clean Air Plan measures

• Streets for All network improvements

• Mobility Hubs/Park & Ride upgrades

• Station accessibility improvements

• New stations

• Support for new technologies, e.g. Mobility as a Service

• Improvements to local bus services

• Implementation of the GM Freight and Logistics Strategy 

Other strategic interventions
not shown on the map:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

SEMMMS South East Manchester Multi-Modal Study 
(SEMMMS) Refresh

Metrolink and
Metro/tram-train services

Quality Bus Transit and
bus network improvements

Town centre improvements,
including interchanges and public realm

Interventions illustrated on other maps
are shown in grey

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

New bus corridors

High speed rail

New highway links associated
with new developments

Motorway improvements

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

These interventions are those with potential to be delivered by 2025.

MAP 2

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Manchester
Airport

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

Bus Rapid Transit
extension to Wigan

Tram-train
Pathfinder project:
Altrincham–Hale

Tram-train
Pathfinder project:
Manchester Airport–
Wilmslow

Tram-train
Pathfinder project:
Rochdale–Heywood

Metrolink extension
to Terminal 2

Early development of
route alignments for
Metro/tram-train services

Early development of
route alignment for
Metrolink extension

Early development of
route alignment for
Metrolink extension

Quality Bus Transit
(MediaCityUK–
Salford Crescent)

Manchester Airport
expansion highway
improvements

Quality Bus Transit
(Wigan–Bolton)

Wigan and Bolton
new east-west
road infrastructure

Quality Bus Transit
(Bury–Rochdale)

Quality Bus Transit
(Rochdale–Oldham)

Quality Bus Transit
(Oldham–Ashton)

Quality Bus Transit
(Ashton–Stockport)

Further phases of
Western Gateway
Infrastructure Scheme
(WGIS)

New rail link
into Port Salford

Implementation of
Stockport Station Masterplan

South Stockport rail infrastructure
improvements for National Rail / HS2 /
potential Metro/tram-train services

M60 J24–J4 Smart Motorway
(or equivalent measures to
address congestion)

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

Manchester Piccadilly
HS2 Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

City Centre Transport
Strategy interventions

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

M6 J23
improvements

M60 J21
upgrade

Oldham Town Centre
Regeneration and
Connectivity Package
(Part 2)

Improve Piccadilly–
Victoria Metrolink
frequency

Simister Island
improvements

denton Island
improvements

Manchester
Northern Gateway
bus corridor

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
local bus network

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
express bus corridor

Sale West
bus corridor

New Carrington
bus corridor

Elton Reservoir
Link Road

Elton Reservoir
Metrolink stop

Quality Bus Transit
(Bury–Bolton)

Cop Road
Metrolink stop

Bus Rapid Transit
(Airport to the east)

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
distributor Road

Bredbury Industrial Estate
access improvements

Metrolink
extension to
davenport Green

Bury Interchange
redevelopment

M602

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1110GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 174



M62

M602

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal

Handforth
Poynton

CHORLEY

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Wigan

Stockport

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIdNES

Rochdale

Bury

Altrincham

Bolton

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Oldham

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

MANCHESTER

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

dERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH dARWEN

MERSEYSIdE

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

SALFORD

TRAFFORD

BURY

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M60

M
66

M62

SEQS

SEQS

SEQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

City centre

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:

• Further investment in the walking and cycling network
• Streets for All network improvements
• Park & Ride upgrades
• Further electrification of rail lines
• Platform lengthening
• Station accessibility improvements
• Support for new technologies, e.g. Mobility as a Service

NWQS

SEQS

TPTS Trans-Pennine Tunnel Study

South East Quadrant Study

North West Quadrant Study

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

SEMMMS South East Manchester Multi-Modal
Study (SEMMMS) Refresh

Metrolink and
Metro/tram-train services

Town centre improvements,
including interchanges and
public realm

New highway links associated
with new developments

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

High speed rail

Motorway improvements

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Potential new or replacement stations

In the next five years, we will develop options for...

Looking beyond this five year development programme,
we will investigate potential rapid transit corridors:

• Bolton – Bury
• Ashton – Oldham
• Stockport – Ashton
• Airport – Carrington – Irlam

MAP 3

These are the interventions which need further investigation or development
in order to identify future options and determine feasibility. This work may
identify interventions that could be delivered by 2025, and we will aim to
achieve that wherever possible, but most are longer term projects that would
be delivered in later years.

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Subject to funding and business case approval

Interventions illustrated on other maps
are shown in grey

Manchester
Airport SEMMMS

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

Tintwistle and
Hollingworth:
further interventions

A6 to M60
Relief Road

City centre
Metro tunnel

HS2 Tunnel

High Speed 2

High Speed 2

Electrification from
Bolton to Wigan

North West Manchester
Rail Study improvements

North West
Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

Manchester Airport:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Manchester Piccadilly:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Chat Moss and West Coast
Rail Study improvements

CLC Line
Rail Study
improvements

North East Manchester
Rail Study improvements

South Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

South East
Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

Godley Green
foot/cycle bridge
(potentially including
Hattersley station
south-facing access)

M66 capacity
improvements

M56 junction
improvements

M60 J9–J14
improvements

M60 J21–J24
Smart Motorway

Metro/tram-train services
on the Atherton line

Metrolink extension
to Port Salford/
Salford Stadium

Metrolink connection
(MediaCity–
Salford Crescent)

Metrolink extension
to Stalybridge

Metro/tram-train services
on the Glossop line

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Sheffield

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Liverpool

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Leeds

Metro/tram-train services
on the Marple line

Metro/tram-train services
(Stockport to
Manchester Airport)

Metro/tram-train services
(Cornbrook to Manchester
Airport via Timperley)

Bus Rapid Transit
(Manchester Airport
to Altrincham)

Metro/tram-train
services to
Hazel Grove

Manchester Airport
Metrolink
Western Leg

M6 J25
all-movements
junction

The Quays further
connectivity
improvements

Study of M60 J8
improvements

Metro/tram-train services
on the CLC Line to Warrington

Bus Rapid Transit extension
to Lowton and Golborne

New motorway junction
near Birch and link road for
M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)

Bus Rapid Transit from
M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway) and
surrounding towns to the
Regional Centre

Sandhills
Metrolink stop

Metrolink
extension
to Middleton

M61 J6
Link Road

Ashton-in-Makerfield
Interchange upgrades

Metro/tram-train
services
(Rochdale–Bury)

Bredbury area
highway improvements

TPTS

TPTS

M62

M602

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal

Handforth
Poynton

CHORLEY

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Wigan

Stockport

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIdNES

Rochdale

Bury

Altrincham

Bolton

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Oldham

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

MANCHESTER

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

dERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH dARWEN

MERSEYSIdE

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

SALFORD

TRAFFORD

BURY

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M60

M
66

M62

SEQS

SEQS

SEQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

City centre

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:

• Further investment in the walking and cycling network
• Streets for All network improvements
• Park & Ride upgrades
• Further electrification of rail lines
• Platform lengthening
• Station accessibility improvements
• Support for new technologies, e.g. Mobility as a Service

NWQS

SEQS

TPTS Trans-Pennine Tunnel Study

South East Quadrant Study

North West Quadrant Study

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

SEMMMS South East Manchester Multi-Modal
Study (SEMMMS) Refresh

Metrolink and
Metro/tram-train services

Town centre improvements,
including interchanges and
public realm

New highway links associated
with new developments

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

High speed rail

Motorway improvements

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Potential new or replacement stations

In the next five years, we will develop options for...

Looking beyond this five year development programme,
we will investigate potential rapid transit corridors:

• Bolton – Bury
• Ashton – Oldham
• Stockport – Ashton
• Airport – Carrington – Irlam

MAP 3

These are the interventions which need further investigation or development
in order to identify future options and determine feasibility. This work may
identify interventions that could be delivered by 2025, and we will aim to
achieve that wherever possible, but most are longer term projects that would
be delivered in later years.

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Subject to funding and business case approval

Interventions illustrated on other maps
are shown in grey

Manchester
Airport SEMMMS

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

Tintwistle and
Hollingworth:
further interventions

A6 to M60
Relief Road

City centre
Metro tunnel

HS2 Tunnel

High Speed 2

High Speed 2

Electrification from
Bolton to Wigan

North West Manchester
Rail Study improvements

North West
Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

Manchester Airport:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Manchester Piccadilly:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Chat Moss and West Coast
Rail Study improvements

CLC Line
Rail Study
improvements

North East Manchester
Rail Study improvements

South Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

South East
Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

Godley Green
foot/cycle bridge
(potentially including
Hattersley station
south-facing access)

M66 capacity
improvements

M56 junction
improvements

M60 J9–J14
improvements

M60 J21–J24
Smart Motorway

Metro/tram-train services
on the Atherton line

Metrolink extension
to Port Salford/
Salford Stadium

Metrolink connection
(MediaCity–
Salford Crescent)

Metrolink extension
to Stalybridge

Metro/tram-train services
on the Glossop line

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Sheffield

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Liverpool

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Leeds

Metro/tram-train services
on the Marple line

Metro/tram-train services
(Stockport to
Manchester Airport)

Metro/tram-train services
(Cornbrook to Manchester
Airport via Timperley)

Bus Rapid Transit
(Manchester Airport
to Altrincham)

Metro/tram-train
services to
Hazel Grove

Manchester Airport
Metrolink
Western Leg

M6 J25
all-movements
junction

The Quays further
connectivity
improvements

Study of M60 J8
improvements

Metro/tram-train services
on the CLC Line to Warrington

Bus Rapid Transit extension
to Lowton and Golborne

New motorway junction
near Birch and link road for
M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)

Bus Rapid Transit from
M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway) and
surrounding towns to the
Regional Centre

Sandhills
Metrolink stop

Metrolink
extension
to Middleton

M61 J6
Link Road

Ashton-in-Makerfield
Interchange upgrades

Metro/tram-train
services
(Rochdale–Bury)

Bredbury area
highway improvements

TPTS

TPTS

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1312GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 175



Funding and delivery

This Delivery Plan shows how, over the next five years, we will make real progress 
towards delivering the vision set out in our 2040 Transport Strategy and the 
Greater Manchester Strategy. It sets out an integrated approach to major scheme 
delivery in the medium and long-term that is supported by a robust programme of 
investment, which will ensure our transport network meets the needs of residents, 
businesses and visitors.

Delivery of Greater Manchester’s aspirations, as set out in this plan, 
will require:

Revenue funding to carry on  
planning, running, maintaining and  
subsidising transport services.

Long-term capital funding to invest in  
new transport infrastructure and make  
improvements to our current networks.

There is a funding programme in place which starts to help delivery these ambitions, 
but we will need a step change in funding to realise our full vision. We will also need  
to influence Network Rail and Highways England funding decisions.

The Delivery Plan has an important role in supporting Greater Manchester to achieve 
greater long-term certainty over transport funding. In particular, we want to establish 
a fully devolved, long-term infrastructure budget for Greater Manchester, as 
recommended in the National Infrastructure Commission’s recent National 
Infrastructure Assessment. We are encouraging Government to consider this through 
the current National Spending Review.

The Delivery Plan also sets out the resources and powers we are asking for from 
Government, which includes a Greater Manchester Transport Fund 2 and greater 
powers over areas such as highway management, taxi and private hire vehicle 
licensing, the bus network, rail franchises and stations.

TfGM, the GMCA and the ten local authorities are united in their call on Government 
to take action, and agree a new deal for Greater Manchester to make this plan a reality.

In the next five years…

The Delivery Plan identifies more than 65 transport projects that will be 
delivered in the next five years in Greater Manchester, including:

• the Metrolink Trafford Park Line

• the purchase of 27 new trams

• £160m of new walking and cycling infrastructure across all ten districts

• expanding the city-region’s electric vehicle charging network

• new interchanges in Tameside and Stockport

Delivery beyond 2025…

We hope to be well underway with our programme of interventions in the next 
five years, but our vision reaches far beyond this. If we are to achieve it by 2040, 
we must think long-term and act now.

The plan also identifies longer-term ambitions and priorities, including:

• future Metrolink expansion

• quality bus connections between the town centres

• ongoing investment in walking and cycling infrastructure

• new tram-train services 

• sustainable freight projects

• preparation for the arrival of HS2 and NPR

These transport improvements are being delivered by a range of delivery bodies 
including Transport for Greater Manchester, local authorities, Network Rail and 
Highways England.

GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1514GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 176



Greater Manchester’s support is vital to the success of this Delivery Plan.

We need to develop a transport network that works for everyone.

That’s why we want you to share your views on this Delivery Plan by emailing us  
with any comments at 2040@tfgm.com or by making comments on the GMSF  
at www.gmconsult.org  – because a network that works for everyone must be 
informed and developed by everyone.

To see the full delivery plan please visit: tfgm.com/2040

To see the GMSF Plan for Housing, Jobs and the Environment visit:  
www.gmconsult.org

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Purpo
se of 

the Report 
 

The Resident First Programme, also know as Digital by Design is part of our co-operative 
approach to making access to services easy and efficient by enabling more residents to 
self-serve, whilst continuing to support those who need it. 
 

The programme design principles include: 

 Increasing efficiency 

 Digital First 

 Thinking like a service user 

 Improving Digital Inclusion 

 Data to Intelligence. 
 

Executive Summary 
 

This report provides an update on: 

 Programme overview 

 Programme priority areas 

 Achievements and benefits to date 

 Member engagement 

 Next steps 
 
Recommendations 
 

To note the progress made in Phase 2 and the priority areas for Phase 3. Comments and 
feedback are invited. 
 

 

Report to OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 

 

Resident First Programme, delivering Digital 
by Design Update 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Cllr Jabbar, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance & HR  
 

Programme Sponsor and Senior Responsible Officer:   
Ray Ward, Executive Director for Corporate & Commercial Services  
 

Programme Responsible Officer: 
Nicola Strapps, Customer Development Manager, ext. 1830 
 

Report Authors:  
Nicola Strapps,  Customer Development Manager, ext. 1830 
 
 

Tuesday 5 March 2019 
 
 
 

Page 179

Agenda Item 13



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Board Tuesday 5 March 2019 
 
Resident First, delivering digital by design 
Programme Update                                            
 

1. Background 
 

1.2 The Resident First programme aligns with the Cooperative Services objectives of the 
Oldham Plan as follows;  
 
Putting social value and transformational outcomes at the heart of all our 
services 
 
Reforming public services and encouraging innovation, leading to better 
outcomes and delivery 

 
1.3 The Programme’s #ourbit #yourbit #result is; 

 
#ourbit  Make access to services easy and efficient by enabling residents to 
self-serve while continuing to support those who need it most.  
 

#yourbit  Do it online and help others to do the same  
 

#result  Saving money where we can to allow us to invest in the services 
residents value most 
 

1.4 Customer service has changed hugely over the last decade, in large part due to 
widespread access to and the popularity of broadband, social media and 
smartphones. From online shopping, bill payment and web chat which helps people 
to solve problems almost instantaneously, people have come to expect and 
businesses are delivering a higher standard of customer service than ever before. 
Keeping pace with that change is important in order to continue to meet residents’ 
expectations.  By harnessing new technology for our benefit, we certainly can help 
residents more effectively than ever before and save money too. 

 
1.5 Mobile technology and infrastructure is no longer as significant a barrier as in the 

past. Recent statistics1 show that in Oldham;  
 

 Superfast broadband is now available in 99.1% of areas 

 88.2% of residents have access to a pc or laptop  

 73% of people own a smartphone and  

 27% of people go online every day, which is higher than the National average of 
25% 
 

2. Programme Overview  
 

2.1 Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the programme are now complete. The initial investment in 
the programme concentrated on improving and increasing the services accessed 
online. Phase 1 delivered some quick wins in a number of service areas based on 

                                                 
1
 Digital Oldham Report 2019 – Business Intelligence Service, Oldham Council 

Page 180



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

service and political priorities, including a re-launched website which created a solid 
foundation for self-service. 

 
2.2 Phase 2 has concentrated on creating re-usable modular digital components that 

can be rolled out across the organisation (e.g. online form integrations, bookings and 
payments). This will increase efficiency and avoid the need to reinvent the wheel. 
 

2.3 Following the programme’s work the channel shift statistics are encouraging, 
showing an overall 10% increase in online activity and a 7% decrease in telephone 
contact. In the services we have worked with we have seen on average a 20% drop 
in calls and a 27% increase in online activity. Customer satisfaction in the service 
areas we have worked with has also been positive, from residents, members and 
staff alike.  
 

2.4 Whilst there has been positive channel shift there is still much more to do. In order to 
ensure we meet the increasing service demand, rising resident expectations in user 
experience and advancements in technology, the programme is now moving into a 
new phase (phase 3). This will explicitly focus on deep re-design of services that 
exploit technology, use automation and reduce service costs.  
 

2.5 Phase 3 will look to be more fundamental in changing our delivery models to 
transform from a mainly mediated customer service offer to a predominantly self 
service one. Whilst we improve our self serve offer we will also ensure our mediated 
offer remains resilient to ensure we improve access for all, paying particular attention 
to those who cannot self serve online.     
 

2.6 The programme must also contribute to the Council’s financial challenges and has a 
£2m savings target to achieve by 2020/21. 

 
3. Achievements and benefits to date (Phase 2) 
 
 In phase 2 the programme has achieved the following;  
 
3.1 Highways online reporting  
 

Highways online reporting - launched July 2018 

Achievements Benefits 

 New online form which:  
o clarifies what a pothole is 
o prompts the resident with a 

street search and a map 
o marks the specific position of the 

pothole on a map 
o ensures only report a pothole on 

a road that the council is 
responsible for maintaining 

o uploads up to three photos of the 
pothole 

 Instantly updates the back office 
application 

 Sends an email to track the progress of 
the report online 

 Easier to report using web form 

 Timely response, residents 
updated, expectations managed 

 22% reduction in highway calls 6 
months following go-live 

 47% reduction in emails received at 
the contact centre 6 months 
following go-live 

 Service now available 24/7 
 

Page 181



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Can still report on the phone for those 
that can’t go online 

 

 

 

3.2 Pest Control – booking and paying online  
 

Pest Control - launched November 2018 

Achievements Benefits 

 Renewed comprehensive online 
information about pests  

 Integration with back office 
application 

 Pest control appointment book 
and pay online – mobile friendly 

 Residents can select a morning or 
afternoon appointment on a date 
that suits them.   

 Residents get booking 
confirmation and also reminder 
emails. 

 Easier to report using web form and 
increased flexibility 

 Timely response, residents updated, 
expectations managed 

 Service now available 24/7 

 Officers can now plan their visits up to two 
weeks ahead (rather than day-to-day).  

 Emails received have halved and calls 
reduced by a third with the website being 
the primary channel used  

New reporting process 

Page 182



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
3.3 Licensing – Taxi vehicles online 
 

Licensing – launched September 2018 

Achievements Benefits 

 Online applications for taxi drivers 
(new applicants and renewals) - live 
January 2018 

 New booking system for vehicle 
compliance tests - live August 2018  

 On-line applications for new taxi 
vehicles - live September 2018   

 Improvements to the website 

 Facility to pay for an application online  

 Facility to send group emails and text 
messages implemented 

 Improved customer journey  

 Check progress of applications, make 
a booking and pay online.  

 Compliance test reminder emails. 

 Better communication with customers  

 Improved data quality leading to better 
decision-making and resource 
deployment 

 Reduction in staff time  

 32% reduction in calls 

 49% reduction in missed appointments 

 
 
3.4 Texts/SMS - Council Tax 
 

Texts for Council Tax - launched December 2018 

Achievements Benefits 

 Text reminders now in use in the 
Council tax collection process in order 
to support the prevention of  residents 
entering the formal debt recovery 
process 

 Over 100 direct debits set up in 
December 

 

 
4. Programme priority areas 
 
4.1 In order to achieve the savings and the improvements to customer service our 

residents demand, all Council Services will potentially be affected by this change 
programme.  In order to prioritise the services and journeys to digitise/automate and 
improve, a criteria has been developed which considers the following areas; 

 

Page 183



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Ability to reduce demand 

 Ability to achieve efficiency savings 

 Ability to improve the customer experience 

 Ease of delivery 

 Service readiness and appetite 
 
4.2 The priority areas that have been identified using the above criteria for phase 3 are 

as follows; 
 

 Revenues and Benefits 

 Waste 

 Highways 

 Environmental health and enforcement 

 Environmental management / street cleaning 
 
5. Engagement – residents and members 
 
5.1 Resident involvement in service design is very important to the programme and we 

will continue to engage with communities at a local level to ensure any changes to 
service design and the use of technology in services does not disadvantage resident 
access and service take up.  

 
5.2 An equality impact assessment is in place and the programme will ensure 

representative service users are engaged and involved in the design and testing of 
changes. The programme will also seek advice from the appropriate community 
groups and experts to ensure those who may be disadvantaged by a digital channel, 
(e.g. language difficulty or a mental or physical disability) are not excluded. Where 
there is a need mediated support will still be offered though other access channels 
such as the telephone or at a face to face location.     

 
5.3 The programme will also continue to engage members. Six member briefings have 

been held to date (2017 – June, September and October, 2018 - February 2018, July 

and November) with an open invite for all members. The sessions aim to; 

 Raise awareness of programme and project aims, objectives and benefits  

 Demonstrate new functionality the programme has introduced 

 Listen to members feedback and support members to do their bit  
 

5.2 There has been positive attendance and overall the programme has reached 33 

members across the six sessions. Key feedback from both members and staff which 

the programme is incorporating continues to be: 

 Ensuring residents who can’t read English are supported, potentially including 

digital translate options 

 Ensuring we are bridging the digital divide to ensure residents can access 

services online and benefit from the improved service 

 Keep making it easy to report issues online and ensure other channels remain 

open for those who can’t access services online  

Page 184



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

5.3 The next members event takes place on 27 March 2019. 
 
6 Next Steps 
 
6.1 The programme team are now developing the business cases and reviewing the 

operating models in order to deliver the change required in the priority service areas 
of revenues and benefits, our customer access channels and environmental 
services. This will determine the opportunities, the scale of digital change required 
and an understanding of the benefits to be achieved. 

 
 

7. Links to Co-operative Values & Strategic links 
 
7.1 Oldham Place – this is a key programme to reshape our approach (between 

residents, the council and partners) to how residents access services at a place local 
to them. 

7.2  The Oldham Plan – the programme contributes to delivering co-operative services by 
reshaping how services are accessed to better meet resident’s needs.  

7.3 Customer Access Strategy - the programme will rationalise and improve ease of 
access channels on a service by service basis based on understanding needs. For 
example, the improved integrated fly tipping, pothole and pest control forms will be 
used to take all types of request from all service users and will in turn enhance the 
intelligence we have available to understand and respond to demand and behaviour 
change.  

7.5  IT Strategy – The programme is aligning to and informing the IT Strategy and 
Roadmap. (Nicola Strapps, Customer Development Manager) 

 
8.  Capital Financial Implications 
 
8.1     There are no additional capital implications arising from this report at this stage. 

8.2 Provision to undertake phase 3 works exists within the current capital programme. 

8.3 Funding required to undertake further phases of works will be addressed as part of 
the ICT Capital Strategy. (Jit Kara, Senior Accountant) 

   

9.  Revenue Financial Implications 
 
9.1     There are no additional revenue implications associated with this report. 

9.2 Funding for the revenue elements of the initiative is by means of an earmarked 
reserve established at the end of 2015/16. This reserve has been incorporated within 
the Councils Reserves Policy.  The Resident First/Digital by Design Reserve is 
identified as a corporate priority within the overarching Transformation Reserve. 
Phase 1 and phase 2 required £755k of revenue funds. Phase 3 has an allocation of 
£617k which will be monitored as the work progresses. (Mike Ward, Senior 
Accountant) 

10.  Communication Comments 
 

Page 185



_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

10.1      A communications plan has been developed to support the delivery of the Resident 
First, delivering digital by design programme. Internal and external communications 
will be closely aligned to communication surrounding the progress of the IT strategic 
roadmap. We will continue to work closely with the programme team, we have 
identified relevant stakeholders and continue to support delivery of individual projects 
within the programme and we will continue to work alongside the team to ensure 
messages are clear and consistent. (Joe Robinson, Communications Business 
Partner Corporate and Commercial Services and Unity Partnership) 

 

Page 186



 

   

 
 
1. Summary/Details 
 
The Local Housing Strategy (LHS) is Oldham Councils main strategic document for 
housing and interrelated services. It helps set out our strategic approach in tackling fuel 
poverty, improving house conditions, and meeting our allocations and homelessness 
responsibilities. In addition it helps articulate our local strategic response to national and 
Greater Manchester housing priorities. 
 
It underpins and supports the delivery of a range of statutory housing responsibilities not 
least ensuring that the Council can demonstrate that it has periodically reviewed the 
housing needs of its area in relation to both housing conditions and the needs of the 
borough. 
 
Further legislation requires that when we carry out such reviews, that they also have 
regard to the special needs of chronically sick or disabled persons and review the 
accommodation needs of gypsies and travellers residing in or resorting to the borough. 
 
The LHS is supported by an up to date local housing needs assessment (LHNA) informed 
by a household survey and a large range of secondary data, which in turn supports the 
strategic and statutory planning obligations of the local authority. The LHNA completes 
and complements the assembly of the housing and planning evidence base for the 
borough. 
 
The new LHS is very much an evidence backed strategy that adds value to developing 
Oldham’s new Local Plan and is insightful into informing and supporting how the Council 
can act in response to the new house building targets arising from the publication of the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework to deliver high quality and more diversity of 
choice, tenure and price points in Oldham’s housing offer. 
 
2. Recommendations: 
 
Overview and Scrutiny is asked to:-  
 

1. Note the phased approach of the development of the Housing Strategy and final 
approval timeline. 

2. Discuss the summary findings and direction of travel arising from the work 
completed to date. 

3. Note that work is still to be undertaken on the delivery plan articulating the financial, 
legal and resourcing implications over the short, medium and long term.   

Overview and Scrutiny 
Board  Briefing  

 

   

Subject:  
Housing Strategy 2019 
 

Date: 
Monday 5th March 2019 

Report of:  
Tim English, Principal Project Manager, 
Economy.   

Portfolio Holder: 
Councillor Hannah Roberts 

Page 187

Agenda Item 14



 

   

3. Background 
 
The Council has commissioned Campbell Tickell and Arc4 to prepare a comprehensive 
housing strategy for the Borough in a three stage phased approach. This process began 
in May 2018 and is now drawing to a conclusion. 
 
Stage One – Evidence base / Local Housing Needs Assessment 
 
The first stage was to develop an extensive evidence base, the Local Housing Needs 
Assessment that has underpinned and has helped establish the strategic housing 
priorities across the Borough as a whole, individual Districts, Oldham Town Centre area 
and supported the Saddleworth Neighbourhood Planning area process. 

 
The stage one evidence base was constructed from a range of existing (secondary) data 
sources, wide ranging internal and external stakeholder consultation and a major 
household survey which was completed via a random sample of approximately 15,000 
households during October 2018. Outcomes of this work include: a review of our existing 
residents and their current housing choices and future aspirations; an assessment of 
affordable housing need; and an assessment of the need for specialist older person and 
supported housing. In addition an extensive study of Oldham’s private rented sector was 
also completed. 

 
The assessment of future affordable housing need included a review of the future type, 
size and tenure of dwellings that are required with the GMSF targets identified – including 
the need for social rented housing and intermediate tenure dwellings (including shared 
ownership and discounted market for sale). 
 
Stage Two – Drafting the key themes and analysis for the Housing Strategy 
 
This second stage whilst overlapping with stage one involved a wide range of both internal  
and external stakeholder engagement and workshop events, including district 
partnerships, the Youth Council, interviews with senior officers and included engagement 
with the development of the  GMCA housing vision and strategy to ensure synergy.  
Consultation with all elected members was also arranged through a drop in session on the 
20 November 2018. 
 
4.  Current progress  
 
Stage Three- Final drafting, approvals and sign off on public consultation on the 
new Housing strategy  

 
This stage includes an update and challenge event with leadership in January followed by 
the development of a delivery plan over the short, medium and longer term developed 
over the period January to April 2019.      
 
Once agreed the consultation process will commence in May 2019. 
 
Stage Four- Formal approval and adoption  
 
This stage will conclude with the housing strategy and delivery plan being submitted for 
approval through the Councils Leadership in June 2019, Cabinet in June 2019 and Full 
Council in July 2019. 

Page 188



 

   

The full proposed timeline is set out in the table below:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council 
Approval –
Timeline  

Meeting Title/Key 
Activity 

Date of 
Meeting/Key 
Activity 

Deadline  Notes  

 First fair draft in 
progress issued 

16 January 2019   

 Project Review Group  17 January 2019   

 Leadership –Housing 
visioning session  

28 January 2019  Discuss seek broad 
consensus of summary 
of key issues that the 
evidence base and 
consultation to date. 
Agree Timeline below. 

 Internal consultation and 
final feedback from 
project review group 
begins on fair draft 

23 January 2019 31 January 2019  

 Final consultants 
drafting  

31 January 2019 14 February 
2019 

 

 Final testing with 
EMT/DMT/ Health/ 
Social Care/Children 
services and statutory 
service leads/agreement 
of Strategy with internal 
stakeholders and Key 
external stakeholders. 

14 February 2019 April 2019  

 Overview and Scrutiny of 

Summary section of the 

Housing Strategy. 

5 March 2019 21 February 

2019 

It is not possible to get 
to the July Full Council 
without going to O and 
S in March 2019. 

 Purdah Period  25 March 2019 2 May 2019  

 Leadership April 2019  Agreement on Housing 
Strategy, delivery plan 
and proposals for public 
consultation 

 Public Consultation 
survey opens with 
strategy and delivery 
plan  

3 May 2019   

 Public Consultation ends 31 May 2019   

 Strategy is updated and 
finalised 

7 June 2019   

 Leadership 10 June 2019 31 May 2019  

 Cabinet  24 June 2019 13 June 2019  

 Full Council  10 July 2019 28 June 2019  

Page 189



 

   

5.  Key themes and potential delivery plan proposals of the housing strategy. 
 
The new Housing Strategy and proposed delivery plan would mark a significant change in 
how we think about, plan for and take decisions and action on housing over the short, 
medium and long term. 
 
If Overview and Scrutiny are in agreement the Housing Strategy would contain the 
following key themes. 
 

5.1 The scale of housing development   
 
The emerging Greater Manchester (GM) vision and framework will provide a credible 
platform for Oldham to develop its future on a broader stage. The GM Spatial Framework 
projects the need for 14,290 new homes in Oldham over the period 2018-37, equivalent to 
752 per annum and more than double the numbers built over recent years.  
 
Scaling up development over the next five years and making sure we deliver the right mix 
of size, type, tenure and affordability of homes in each neighbourhood, to make Oldham 
an attractive place to live, will require a new way of working.   
 
In no particular rank or order, the delivery plan could then comprise of the following short, 
medium and long term objectives:  
 

 Resources are agreed to consider what sort of new homes the Council will deliver 
directly – social homes, affordable rent, specialised housing – including the legal, 
financial and resourcing implications for the Council. 
 

 The Council may then build some new homes directly where this fills gaps in 
provision. It is proposed that would then consider the following vehicles for this: 
Local Authority New Build models, Council-controlled vehicles such as a local 
Housing Development Company, Special Purpose Vehicles, Joint ventures with 
private developers and registered providers.   

  

 Prioritise development of, initially, one or two new purpose-built housing schemes 
that specifically meet the aspirations of young people as part of the Oldham Town 
Centre redevelopment. We would also consider similar schemes elsewhere, 
steered by the findings of the research, and these would be included within the 
Housing Propositions.   
 

 Undertake financial modelling to ensure that the above homes are affordable for 
young economically active people earning average local salaries for their age. 

 

 Invite all our partners to tell us about their specialisms and strengths, the roles they 
see themselves playing, and their credentials in doing so – with specific reference 
to our housing strategy;  

  

 Develop a MoU with a partner/s, where appropriate, that lists some actions that the 
partner and the Council will take to deliver on a number of key priorities.   

 Continue developing our SME Engagement Plan to provide better opportunities for 
SMEs who are committed to playing a positive role in achieving Oldham’s vision to 
submit and win contracts. This would include Small and Medium-sized house 
builders and developers. 

Page 190



 

   

 

 Aim to increase the proportion of new homes built on brownfield sites over the next 
5 years 

 

 Develop and implement a programme for bringing selected empty homes into use, 
to bring new investment and energy into some localities. 

 

 Consider selective demolition and rebuilding where this is considered the most 
appropriate solution to improving the locality and housing market. 

 
5.2 Making evidence-based decisions about housing   
 
In order to improve our ability to steer housing development across the borough, we have 
undertaken a resident-informed Strategic Housing Market Assessment and research into 
Oldham’s private rented sector. These documents have given us a comprehensive 
evidence base and show what is happening in Oldham’s housing market. We have 
consulted residents on a range of housing related matters and have listened to what 
disabled people, people with dementia, people with mental health problems, people with a 
learning disability and care leavers say about the housing they need. These help explain 
the changes and challenges Oldham is experiencing. They point to land and investment 
decisions that will need to be taken; and they put forward proposals for the type and size 
of homes, and specialised housing, that could be built in each district to provide for the 
projected population increase.   
 
In no particular rank or order, the delivery plan could then comprise of the following short, 
medium and long term objectives: 
 

 Undertake a review of the Selective Licensing Scheme to see how much difference 
it has made so far – to the housing market and to the lives of residents living in 
those neighbourhoods;   
 

 Depending on the outcome of the above review: consider whether the resources 
available (from licensing fees) are sufficient or whether there might be a case for 
allocating small amounts of additional funding to speed up progress and explore 
whether and in what ways the scheme might be modified to achieve better 
outcomes decide whether to expand the scheme to other neighbourhoods. 

 

 Through Housing Propositions and the planning system propose to identify a 
number of centres and sites across the borough that are close to good local 
facilities such as shops, community amenities, GP surgeries and bus routes and 
look to facilitate development that includes an inclusive housing offer such as 
apartments and bungalows that are attractive to active older people looking to 
downsize and are suitable for people with a range of care needs. 

 
 

 The above sites where we build these new homes will be the focus of measures to 
develop ‘age-friendly’ communities where older people feel in control, safe and 
secure.  

 

 Facilitate build of new extra care housing in at least two locations, and at least one 
Enhanced Extra Care scheme, to increase the options for older people looking for a 
long-term housing solution with support and care options on site.  

Page 191



 

   

 

 Commission the Youth Council and Action Together to support young people (aged 
16-30) to undertake research into where their peers move to when they leave the 
family home or care system, the degree of satisfaction with those moves and what 
young people ideally want, from their living experience. This would include visits to 
view innovative schemes developed specifically for young people elsewhere – such 
as ‘co-living’ designs. 

 

 Involve young people in the Masterplanning exercise for Oldham Town Centre, to 
ensure it becomes attractive to young people (as well as other age-groups) offering 
a pleasant residential experience for young people with good shops, restaurants, 
leisure facilities, communal spaces and transport links 
     

5.3 Providing a good quality Oldham Housing Offer   
 
We aim to provide a diverse Oldham Housing Offer that is attractive and meets the needs 
of different sections of the population at different times of their lives. We are being more 
creative than in the past to enable people to find housing solutions that suit them. Our 
proposals go beyond the projected numbers of new homes and focus on the dynamics 
between people, homes and the wider economy. For example, helping an older person 
find a suitable, smaller, more manageable home might also provide help an overcrowded 
household meet its need for a larger home. Providing living experiences that we know 
young people will find compelling might help bolster Oldham’s economy by reducing the 
outflow of younger people. And a locally focused mutual exchange scheme for council and 
housing association residents might enable more people find more suitable homes without 
having to wait for a home to be allocated to them via the register.   
 
As well as building new social housing in the borough, we are considering how the Council 
can support people in a range of housing situations, for example, by putting up equity to 
enable people to buy a home and/or renovate a poor condition home. Through owning 
loan shares in homes across the borough that are repaid over a given time period or on 
sale of the home, the Council could create a modern way to subsidise housing and make 
it affordable.   
 
In no particular rank or order, the delivery plan could then comprise of the following short, 
medium and long term objectives: 

 

 Establish a new service to supply advice and information on the full range of 
housing options, including shared ownership, Help to buy, developer assisted 
purchase options, Rent to Buy, equity shares etc. Consider whether this is best 
provided through a contract or in-house. 

 Consider Council financial support for offering financial products for first time 

buyers and criteria for doing so. For example, ‘equity stakes’ to cover the deposit in 

some first-time-buyer purchases that would be repayable over a period of time (e.g. 
5 years), mortgages suitable for self-employed people who find it difficult to secure 
a mortgage on the open market or for those who want observe Sharia 
lending/borrowing principles. 
 

 Explore options for introducing a Tenants Incentive Scheme to provide up front 
finance to assist social housing tenants to access home ownership along with other 
types of direct support that might be appropriate. 

Page 192



 

   

 

 Undertake research to determine whether a rent-to-buy scheme might work in 
Oldham’s housing market, to enable households with an ambition to own their 
home to start by renting and transition to full ownership over a period of time. And if 
so, to make this offer available. 

 

 Explore the options for establishing an Ethical Equity Loan Fund through which 
poorer older home owners living in poor condition homes can access finance to 
improve their homes. In doing so, we will seek the advice of the London Rebuilding 
Society4 and look into good practice from elsewhere. The loan funding plus any 
interest or value-linked uplift would be repayable on sale of the home and could, 
therefore, become available for further lending.  
  

 Assist overcrowded households to move into the larger homes where appropriate, 
for example by assisting the household to access the finance required offering a 
Council equity share in a larger home households in very overcrowded conditions, 
where no other options exist (subject to eligibility criteria)    

 

 Offer and promote more custom-build options for those who want to purchase a site 
in a location where they want to live and to take charge of designing their home and 
managing the building process 

 

 Support intentional communities to achieve their aspirations for a community living 
experience through a range of models of community housing, including:  

 
 Community Land Trusts – they have the potential to remove the land value 

from house prices (since the land is held in trust) making the homes more 
affordable.  
 

 Co-housing – where people live ‘independently together’ having their own 
private space as well as some shared facilities 
 

 Cooperative Housing – for which there are a number of models for residents to 
manage their own homes collectively. 

 
 Re-establish a local mutual exchange scheme in partnership with housing 

providers, drawing on best practice from elsewhere. There are likely to be two 
elements: 
 

 People will be able to ‘advertise’ their desire to exchange tenancies and details 
of their home online and they will be able to contact each other online.  
 

 We also propose to hold one or two events per year, inviting everyone on the 
housing register so that people can meet each other face to face and find out 
more about each other’s properties to help them decide which ones are of 
interest and which to eliminate from their search. 

 
5.4 Delivering new homes   
 
When delivering the new homes, old approaches will not be adequate. Oldham has a 
limited land supply and many unviable brownfield sites are not sufficiently attractive to 
developers. The Council will develop a ‘toolkit’ of approaches to help increase certainty for 
developers and reduce the burden on difficult sites. For instance, we will change the way 
we negotiate planning obligations, providing loans and gap-funding, and improving 

Page 193



 

   

existing homes to make neighbourhoods more attractive to purchasers. We will draw on 
these new tools flexibly and site by site basis to unlock more development opportunities. 
We will develop partnerships with developers and registered providers that show genuine 
commitment to Oldham’s emerging vision, and work with them to enable sites to be 
developed. The Council will also take direct action to build new homes. We will consider 
how to use our new Housing Revenue Account borrowing capability for this and which 
partnerships will enable us to do so effectively.   
 
In no particular rank or order, the delivery plan could then comprise of the following short, 
medium and long term objectives: 
 

 Develop Joint Ventures with Registered Providers and private developers where 
this approach to risk-sharing improves our collective capability for developing a 
range of housing on a wide range of sites. 

 

 Establish a ‘Developers Group’ comprising the Councils’ planning and housing 
teams, private developers and Registered Providers to share what the evidence is 
telling us is required, understand the delivery barriers and consider options for 
delivering against requirements. 

 

 Review our approach to land price and planning obligations: We propose to: 
Review and adjust our planning obligations policy, so that we are not adding to the 
development burden on sites where the viability is already challenging  

 

 Consider packaging strategic sites – linking good quality viable sites with more 
challenging ones – to bring sites forward through a single developer  

 

 Work proactively with developers and provide greater clarity on the more complex 
sites, through pre-application discussions. 

 

 Maximise government funding to support site assembly and other specific purposes 
(for example through the Small Sites Fund with Homes England) 

 

 Invest in site remediation to enable the development of strategic sites.   
   

 Supporting better developer certainty and cash-flow. We may wish to explore:  
 

1. Defer payment on sale of any of the council’s land for housing until 
completion of  schemes/sale of homes  

2. Promote take up of the government’s home ownership schemes including 
Help to Buy to reduce the price that purchasers pay for homes. 

3. Consider the case for offering come first-time buyers with Council funded 
support to purchase a home. 

4. Facilitate dialog between private developers and registered providers 
regarding sale of new homes, both to guarantee sales and enable the 
provision of affordable and intermediate housing. 

5. Consider the case for the Council buying new homes from developers in the 
more marginal areas. 

6. Continue to make low cost developer finance available for particular 
schemes, through Homes England’s Home Building Fund, to reduce the 
equity required to develop out those schemes. 

7. Draw on funding available – from a range of sources – to support 
infrastructure costs where this will help to bring sites forward. 

 

Page 194



 

   

 Identify new sources of funding suitable to enable development in different ways.   
We would propose to:  

1. Keep an active dialogue with Homes England regarding potential sources 
of funding that might become available in the future that Oldham might 
apply for in order to make progress against this Housing Strategy. 

2. Consider how best to maximise the opportunities to increase our 
borrowing capacity against our Housing Revenue Account 

 

 Invest our HRA in new development to deliver against this Housing Strategy and 
the Housing Propositions. 

 
 Create an ‘Oldham Housing Fund’ that can be drawn on in a flexible way on a 

case-by-case basis to enable the right mix of homes in the right places – including 
small loans and ‘gap funding’. Sources might include: commuted sums (where 
appropriate) New Homes Bonus, borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board 
borrowing etc. 

 
5.5 An evidence-based, co-designed ‘Place Offer’   
 
The evidence base will help us develop a better Local Plan and steer the right sort of new 
housing within the borough. But rather than being merely a technocratic exercise, we want 
local people to work with us to make sense of the evidence and shape what happens in 
their neighbourhoods.   
 
Our Thriving Communities programme and Selective Licensing Scheme enable a more 
proactive approach to solving neighbourhood problems with residents. We want to 
consider taking further steps and invite residents to co-produce ‘Place Plans’ with us, to 
provide blueprints for how their neighbourhood might develop over the next 20 years. As 
part of this, we would ask residents to consider what the evidence says about housing 
requirements within a series of Housing Propositions. Together, these will provide a 
vehicle for constructive conversations about how the housing offer and the place offer for 
their neighbourhoods could change for the better.  
 
In no particular rank or order, the delivery plan could then comprise of the following short, 
medium and long term objectives: 
 

 Consider the potential for a series of Place Plans, drawn up with residents as part 
of the local planning or neighbourhood planning processes, to support positive 
resident engagement in building Oldham’s future and the Council’s goal of a 
Cooperative Council.  
 
These Place Plans might include consideration of (for example):  What functions 
their locality might fulfil within the borough and Greater Manchester e.g. an 
economic centre, a place for young professionals to live, a recreational area etc; 
Access to transport and active travel routes, schools, retail, business locations, 
green spaces, leisure facilities, amenities;The roles of community groups and the 
voluntary sector might play in contributing to public life working alongside public 
service providers;The type and design of homes developed in each place (drawing 

on the evidence-base);  The spaces between the homes and buildings – making 

sure there are attractive shared spaces, including green spaces, where residents 
are inspired to meet and interact. 
 

Page 195



 

   

We would propose to take a variety of actions, across multiple agencies and with a 
range of partners, to increase the level of trust and confidence between people 
from different backgrounds and to encourage mixing within residential areas. We 
will focus our activities any new residential developments as well as some existing 
neighbourhoods. These activities would take different forms in different 
neighbourhoods and could include ensuring new homes are advertised through 
media that will reach the full range of community groups, social events to help new 
neighbours to meet each other and mix, supporting new migrant communities to 
settle, providing language support, education work with schools and dealing with 
hate crime.  
 

 Develop detailed plans for each former industrial site as and when they become 
available for redevelopment, in partnership with residents living nearby. We would 
propose this would be guided by the Place Plans, Housing Propositions and 
analyses of the suitability of the site for development. 
 

 Undertake detailed masterplanning exercises to steer the redevelopment of 
Oldham Town Centre, making a particular effort to engage young people in the 
plans. 
 

 Develop a series of ‘housing propositions’ as part of the place plan and 
masterplanning exercises, that set out the mix of new homes as well as other 
housing interventions and investment we are considering prioritising in each place 
– drawing on the evidence in the Housing Market Assessment and other sources 
 

 Use the Housing Propositions to hold conversations with residents, inform the Local 
Plan, hold pre-application discussions with developers, support development of a 
toolkit the Council can use to support site viability and on-site delivery. 
 

 Include provision of the range of types of homes for disabled people, people with 
dementia, people with mental health difficulties, people with a learning disability 
and care leavers – guided by the evidence – within the Housing Propositions 

 
5.6 Housing and support to improve people’s lives and health   
 
Partners in Oldham share an ambition to achieve and sustain the fastest possible 
improvement in the health and wellbeing of Oldham’s residents by 2020. Support, 
adaptations and other measures – such as activities that help keep older people active – 
have a huge role to play for some of our more vulnerable residents. And we need to find 
the right blend of advice, temporary housing and support to prevent people becoming 
homeless and address the needs of those who are homeless. Making our homes and 
neighbourhood healthy places to live is also key to realising this ambition.   
 
While we made significant physical improvement to our private homes between 2010 and 
2015, Oldham’s private housing, especially the private rented sector, remains in poor 
condition and unhealthy compared to the national average. This burden on Oldham’s 
people presents a heavy cost to our health services. Although we have little capital 
resource to invest in these poor condition homes, we intend to develop a long-term plan to 
radically improve them. This will include campaigning with our GM partners for more 
resources to enable us to take action. In the short term, we will do more to reduce 
residents’ fuel poverty by increasing resources for our successful Warm Homes Scheme. 

Page 196



 

   

We will also work to identify the most vulnerable people living in the poorest homes and 
concentrate our efforts there.   
 
In no particular rank or order, the delivery plan could then comprise of the following short, 
medium and long term objectives: 

 

 Establish a Housing and Health Partnership Board with representatives from 
housing (the Council’s strategic housing team and housing providers), health and 
social care to consider and make decisions about how best a range of housing and 
housing related services are integrated organised and funded. For example provide 
health and care integrated teams with direct access to housing specialists, who can 
offer impartial advice on a case by case basis (potentially by embedding housing 
specialists within these teams if appropriate).   
 

 Develop a Health and Care Action Plan that sets out the full range of actions we will 

take to ensure that housing-related matters that impact on people’s health and 

wellbeing are being addressed.   
 
Through the Action Plan we propose to be in a position to:  

 
1. Support residents to carry out necessary works to their homes, when this is 

prescribed via social prescribing or identified through MECC or another 
route; 

2. Reduce the likelihood that older residents will fall in their home and better 
target rapid response’ service that responds quickly when they do fall in 
order to stabilise their condition in their home and avoid a visit to A&E;  

3. Seek out and find ‘hidden’ residents, who may not be visited by a frontline 
worker, but who may be in need of medical attention and/or have other 
needs;  

4. Support positive relationships between tenants and private landlords to 
support successful tenancies and prevent illegal and ‘no fault’ evictions; 

5.  Minimise the negative effects for households living in temporary 
accommodation; 

6. Ensure that people being discharged from hospital will go back to a home 
that is ‘fit for discharge’ either on their day of discharge or soon after so that 
it will not impede their recovery;  

7. Routinely record details of people’s living circumstances and home condition 
whenever a health, care or housing staff member makes a visit, in order to 
build a database of where the problems might lie. 

 

 Combine intelligence on home condition with other sources of data (in GIS systems 
if appropriate) including: Thriving Communities Index, Risk stratification for ill-health 
in order to identify where the biggest health gains might be made and therefore 
where to focus interventions. 

 

 Develop a position statement (based on the private housing stock condition survey 
and other sources) and a long-term strategy and action plan for addressing the 
poorest condition homes in the borough – building on our existing knowledge and 
expertise of what works such as ‘home improve equity loans’.   
 

 Campaign for resources to deliver the scale home improvement required as set out 
in the long-term strategy and action plan, including lobbying activities with other 
Greater Manchester locality. 

 

Page 197



 

   

6.  Conclusion  
 
The emerging strategy and delivery plan will need to be delivered in a phased approach 
and it builds on the work already underway across the Oldham Partnership. 
 
The financial challenges the Council face are not insignificant and it is therefore essential 
the next phase of work understanding the financial and legal consequences arising as a 
consequence of the delivery plan is important.  The strategy acknowledges the opportunity 
and need to draw on resources of the Council and the plan must reflect this.   
 
This strategy is an important building block in terms of rebalancing Oldham’s economy 
and ensuring and contributing to an inclusive society. 
 

Page 198



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Purpose 
of the 

Report 
 
As directed by Central Government, the Greater Manchester Local Authorities are being 
asked to endorse the Outline Business case (OBC) for the Greater Manchester Clean Air 
Plan as part of the feasibility study being carried out on their behalf by Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM). The OBC will be presented in detail at the Overview and 
scrutiny meeting for consideration   
 
 
Recommendations 
 
That the Overview and Scrutiny board endorse the Clean Air Plan OBC as presented and 
recommend it for approval.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report to OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 

 
Clean Air Plan – Outline Business Case  
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Shah, Cabinet Member – Neighbourhoods  
 
Officer Contact:  Helen Lockwood – Executive Director of People 
and Place  
 
Report Author: Carol Brown – Director of Environmental Services  
 
Ext. 4452 
 
5th March 2019  
 
 

Page 199

Agenda Item 15



 

  2 

 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Board 5th March 2019  
 
Clean Air Plan – Outline Business Case  
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK. It: 
 

 Contributes to the equivalent of 1,200 deaths a year in Greater Manchester. 

 Plays a part in breathing illnesses, heart disease, stroke, and even some cancers. 

 Particularly affects the vulnerable including the elderly, sick, poor and children. 

 Reduces everyone’s life expectancy by an average of six months. 
 
In Greater Manchester, air quality is improving but: 

 We exceed legal annual limits for harmful nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels in many areas. 

 Road transport is responsible for 80% of NO2 pollution at the roadside, where it is most 
damaging to health. 

 Diesel vehicles are the largest source, particularly HGVs and buses. 
 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 In response to the air pollution crisis that faces the country, Central Government have 

placed a legal responsibility on a large number of Local Authorities across the country to 
develop Clean Air Plans. Central Government have also:- 

 

 Set up a Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) to deliver national plans to improve air quality; 

 Placed legal responsibility for complying with air pollution limits with local authorities; 

 Set out a process for more than 60 local authorities to produce and implement Clean Air 
Plans to bring NO2 levels within legal limits in “the shortest possible time”, informed by 
national air pollution modelling; 

 Identified Clean Air Zones (where those driving the most polluting vehicles would pay a 
penalty to enter a designated area) as the benchmark measure that will bring levels of 
roadside NO2 within legal limits most quickly, thereby requiring local authorities to bring 
forward such schemes unless they can prove compliance through alternative routes to the 
same timescale. 

 
2.2 Taking action on air quality is not optional. The severe and long lasting health implications 

of poor air quality s well as the legal obligations require decisive and swift action to reduce 
harmful air pollution. The 10 Greater Manchester local authorities are working with the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) and Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM) to produce a single Clean Air Plan, liaising with JAQU. This approach aims to: 

 

 Avoid displacing NO2 pollution to other areas; 

 Make sure the plan works alongside existing Greater Manchester-wide strategies; 

 Reduce emissions in the most effective way across the whole of the city-region. 
 
2.3 In developing a Clean Air Plan, so far we have completed detailed modelling which has 

identified 250 points of exceedance on 152 stretches of road (across all 10 local authority 
areas) predicted to have concentrations of harmful NO2 beyond 2020 if no action is taken. 

 
2.4 TfGM, on behalf of the 10 LAs have also considered a wide range of potential measures 

to tackle NO2 levels as well as run detailed modelling to help develop a range of options 
that combine the measures in different ways. This will help us understand the type and 

Page 200



 

  3 

scale of action needed to bring NO2 levels within legal limits and identify a ‘preferred 
option’. 

 
2.5 No decision has yet been taken on which of these measures will be included in the final 

Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan. Government requires local authorities to consider 
implementing a Clean Air Zone unless they can identify alternative measures which are as 
effective in reducing NO2 air pollution at least as quickly. 

 
2.6 The work undertaken in Greater Manchester so far indicates that a package of measures 

that includes some form of Clean Air Zone is highly likely to be necessary to comply with 
government guidance and legal rulings to reduce NO2 in the “shortest possible time”. 

 
2.7 All 10 local authorities will be asked to approve the Outline Business Case that will be 

presented at the meeting before a final version is submitted to government at the end of 
March 2019. There will then be an opportunity for the public to give feedback, which local 
authorities and TfGM will consider while continuing to develop the Full Business Case 
which is due for submission at the end of November 2019. 

 
3 Key Issues for Overview and Scrutiny to Discuss 
 
3.1 Oldham’s commitment to improving air quality in the context of the Council motion 

supported at a meeting held on 12 December: 
 

“This Council notes that air quality remains a significant issue affecting the life quality of the 
residents of Oldham, with levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) driven up primarily by road 
transport.  Local modelling has identified a number of stretches of road in the borough 
where NO2 levels are expected to exceed legal limits beyond 2020, mainly on major 
roads near our town centres. 

 
  Air pollution recognises no boundaries, so a response is needed from individuals, from 
local governments and from national government.  This council notes the important work 
ongoing across Greater Manchester to campaign for clean air, and welcomes the 
commitment of the Combined Authority to hit World Health Organisation targets for air 
quality by 2030 as part of being a WHO Breathelife City.  Greater Manchester councils 
have also pledged to be 100% fossil fuel free by 2050. 

 
Given the scale of the challenge, this council notes with concern that national government 
has recently removed grants to encourage the take up of electric vehicles, and 
acknowledges the criticism of this decision by the Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy Select Committee. 

 
This council resolves: 

1) To work closely with the GMCA to deliver the Clean Air Plan, and to continue to promote 
the GM Clean Air campaign to encourage residents to think about how they can do their 
bit to reduce air pollution. 

2) To ask the Chief Executive to seek immediate clarification from the Secretary of State on 
how national government will support Oldham’s ambitions to improve air quality, 
particularly given recent decisions to cut grants for electric vehicles. 

3) To seek new opportunities to further establish Oldham as the region’s greenest borough 
and improve the life chances of residents and particularly young people beyond the Clean 
Air Plan, including: 

a. Reducing air pollution cause by vehicle use around schools at the start and end of the 
school day. 

b. Incentivising the use of electric vehicles through improved access to charging points and 
other preferential schemes, preparing the borough for a future where 3 million charging 
points will be needed nationally by 2040. 

Page 201



 

  4 

c. Growing trees in key sites in the borough to dampen pollution effects and make more 
liveable places.” 

 
4 Key Questions for Overview and Scrutiny to Consider 
 
4.1 Health consequences of poor air quality 
 
4.2 Consultation to follow submission of outline business case to Government request  
 Input re Key local statekholders  
  
5. Links to Corporate Outcomes 
 
5.1 A Thriving Economy. 
 
6 Additional Supporting Information 
 
6.1 Combined authority report on the outline business case will be available following a report 

to be tabled on the 1 March 2019. 
 
7 Consultation 
 
7.1 Health Scrutiny have been advised and consulted on this work. 
 

 
 

 

Page 202



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD – 5th March 2019 
 

GENERAL EXCEPTION AND SPECIAL URGENCY DECISIONS 
 

Background 
 

The Chair (or their nominee) is given powers in the Council’s Constitution to give authorisation 
for key decisions to be made under the following rules: 
 
Rule 16 – General Exception 
 
Where the decision has not been placed on the Forward Plan, but it is possible to give 5 clear 
days notice of the decision to be made, Rule 16 allows that the decision may be made where the 
relevant Executive Director has obtained agreement in writing from the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board (or his/her nominee) of the matter about which the decision is to be made. 
Notice of this setting out the reasons why compliance with the 28 day notice period was 
impracticable will be made available at the offices of the local Authority and be published on the 
Council’s website.  Any decision made in this way is still subject to a potential call-in. 
 
Rule 17 – Special Urgency:  
 
In certain circumstances it may be impracticable both to: 
 

1. Place the decision on the Forward Plan, and 
2. Give 5 clear days notice prior to the decision being made 

 
Rule 17 allows that in these circumstances the decision may still be made where the decision 
maker has obtained agreement from the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board (or his/her 
nominee) or if not available the Mayor or in their absence the Deputy Mayor.  As soon as it is 
reasonably practicable after the decision maker has received agreement from the Chair of 
Overview and Scrutiny that the decision is urgent and cannot be reasonably deferred, a notice 
will be made available at the offices of the local Authority setting out the reasons why 
compliance with the 28 days was impracticable and this will be published on the Council’s 
website. Where Rule 17 applies the decision is exempt from call-in. 
 
For the Municipal Year 2018/ 2019 the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board is 
Councillor McLaren  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203

Agenda Item 16



 

Subject Matter Officer Rule 
Applied 

Date of Decision 
and Date of 
authorisation 

By Reason(s) for the decision  

Auto Enrolment 
(Pensions) 

Ray Ward, 
Deputy Chief 
Executive of 
Corporate and 
Commercial 
Services 

Rule 17 Decision:   
 
Authorisation:  22 
February 2019 

Councillor 
McLaren 

DECISION AUTHORISED: 
 
For the recommendations in the report to be 
agreed.  The decision could not be reasonably 
deferred due to meeting the timescales as 
outlined in the report. 
 

 
 

P
age 204



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 1 of 15 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PLAN 

 
PART A – MEETING PROGRAMME  

  
MEETING 
DATE & 
VENUE 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY OF ISSUE CABINET 
PORTFOLIO (link 
to Corporate 
Outcome) 

RESOLUTION / 
RECOMMENDATION 

Comments  

      

Tuesday, 19th 
June 2018 
6.00 p.m. 
 
Deadline for 
reports: 7th 
June 2018 

Adult Safeguarding – 
Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards 

Update to the Board Health and Social 
Care (Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. A further update on the 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
be provided when legislation 
changed or there was a 
deterioration in service to be 
addressed by the Board. 

2. The Board endorsed referral of 
the proposed legislation of the 
Liberty Protection Safeguards to 
the Cabinet Member for Health 
and Social Care in order for the 
issue to be raised with the 
Borough’s three MP’s. 

 

Requested by the 
Board in June 2017 

 Business Growth 
and Investment 
Strategy and 
Business 
Productivity and 
Inclusive Growth 
Programme 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Update on the Work 
Programme (Strategic 
Investment Programme) 

Economy and 
Enterprise (An 
Inclusive Economy) 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The achievements as outlined in 

the Business and Investment 
Review Update be noted. 

2. A workshop be held in September 
2018 for the development of ward 
councillor involvement working 
with local businesses and the 
regeneration team. 

3. A further update be brought back 
to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board in June 2018. 

Requested by the 
Board in November 
2017 

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 17



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 2 of 15 

 

 Overview and 
Scrutiny Annual 
Report 

Review of the Overview and 
Scrutiny During 2017/18 

Economy and 
Enterprise 
(Cooperative 
Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The Overview and Scrutiny 

Annual Report for 2017/18 be 
commended to Council. 

2. Copies of the Annual Report be 
sent to the Council’s libraries and 
posted on the Council’s website. 

 

 

 Overview and 
Scrutiny Toolkit 

Guidance Economy and 
Enterprise 
(Cooperative 
Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The Overview and Scrutiny Toolkit 

be noted. 
2. The points as outlined above be 

discussed at the Scrutiny Link 
meetings. 

 

 

 General Exceptions 
and Urgent 
Decisions 

Update Economy and 
Enterprise 
(Cooperative 
Services) 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The General Exception and 

Urgency Decisions related to the 
Funding of Voluntary 
Infrastructure and Community 
Horizon Project and the 
Reshaping Unity Partnership be 
noted. 

2. A report on the Community 
Horizon Project be brought to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

 

 

      

Tuesday, 24th 
July 2018 
6.00 p.m. 
 
Deadline for 
reports: 12th 

Get Oldham Working 
and Career 
Advancement 
Services (Work and 
Skills Strategy) 

Update on the Strategy Employment and 
Skills (An Inclusive 
Economy) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the report be 

noted. 
2. A progress be presented in July 

2019. 
3. A discussion with the relevant 

portfolio holder be arranged to 

Requested by the 
Board in July 2017 

P
age 206



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 3 of 15 

July 2018 look at the five key points above 
and their prioritisation. 

 Getting to Good – 
Children’s 
Improvement 
Programme 
 

Update Children’s Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the presentation 

be noted. 
2. An update be provided to the 

Chair of the Board in September 
2018. 

3. A progress report be presented 
in January 2019. 

Link Meeting, 27 
March 2018 

 SMART Update Update on the Programme Finance and 
Corporate Resources 
(Cooperative 
Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the report be 

noted. 
2. The recommendations 1 and 2 

as detailed within the report be 
noted. 

 

      

Tuesday, 4th 
September 
2018, 6.00 p.m. 
 
Deadline for 
reports:  22nd 
August 2018 

Street Charter Update on the 
Implementation 

Neighbourhood 
Services (Outcome 
Driven Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The progress made and the final 

conclusions of the working group 
on the implementation of the 
street charter be noted. 

 
2. The street now be embedded 

within the relevant responsible 
service areas and the conclusions 
of the “Who Put That There” 
Street Charter Working as set out 
in the action plan be noted. 

 
3.  It be agreed that service areas 

should utilise the working group 
as a network for any relevant 
issues which were undergoing 
consultation which would 
potentially have an impact on 
blind and partially sighted 
residents and visitors, to Oldham, 

Requested by the 
Board in January 
2018 

P
age 207



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 4 of 15 

e.g. Town Centre Regeneration. 
 
4. A further report led by the 

Licensing Team in respect of “A” 
Board and Street Furniture be 
reported to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board separately. 

 

 Oldham Cares  Update on the service Health and Social 
Care (Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The update on Oldham Cares and 

the information provided at the 
meeting be noted. 

2. The Strategic Director of Reform 
be invited to a future meeting to 
present “Thriving Communities”. 

3. The Chair meet with the Oldham 
Cares Alliance Director to discuss 
a way forward and report back to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Board. 
 

Link Meeting, 27 
March 2018 

 Land Value Taxation  Means to raise public 
revenue 

Finance and 
Corporate Resources 
(Thriving 
Communities) 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The report on the Land Value 

Taxation and the information 
provided at the meeting be 
noted. 

2. A joint workshop be convened 
with the Performance and Value 
for Money Select Committee to 
discuss the implications of the 
motion. 
 

Motion referred to 
Board on 28 March 
2018 

 Restricting new Hot 
Food Takeaways 
near Schools  

Update on progress Health and Social 
Care (Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The proposal to incorporate the 

issue of obesity in the proposed 
workshop on Urgent Care be 
agreed. 

Motion referred to 
Board on 28 March 
2018 
 

P
age 208



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 5 of 15 

2. An update be provided to Council 
on the Council Action Report. 
 

 Making Oldham a 
‘Single Use Plastic-
Free” Local Authority 
 

Update on progress Neighbourhood 
Services (Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED:   
 
1. The report on Single Use Plastics 

and the work undertaken to date 
be noted. 

2. The draft strategy and action 
plan be brought back to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board 
meeting in November. 
 

Motion referred to 
Board on 28 March 
2018 

      

Tuesday, 16th 
October 2018 
6.00 p.m. 
 
Deadline for 
Reports: 4th 
October 2018 

SEND Update Update Children’s Services 
(Cooperative 
Services) 

RESOLVED that:  
1. The content of the report be 

noted; 
2. A progress report be presented 

in January 2019. The report to 
include: 
a. Information about the Voice 

of the Child and how this 
would be captured - 
methodology; 

b. Early Help and Children and 
Adolescents Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) and 
waiting times for 
intervention; 

c. Percentage of Young People 
with an Education and 
Health Care Plans in 
Oldham and comparison to 
statistical neighbours; 

d. If feasible, to invite a young 
person with his/her parent to 
attend the meeting of the 
Board in January 2019.  

 

ESN Link Meeting, 
7 Feb 2018 

P
age 209



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 6 of 15 

 Local Government 
Ombudsman 

Review of Complaints 
System 

Finance and 
Corporate Resources 
(Co-operative 
Services) 

RESOLVED that the report be 
noted. 

 

 Advertising ‘A’ 
Boards and Sign 
Policy 

Linked to the Street Charter Neighbourhood 
Services (Outcome 
Driven Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the report be 

noted; 
2. The draft policy be endorsed; 
3. The awareness raising of the 

policy and its implementation be 
endorsed.  

4. The policy be reviewed by this 
Committee in December 2019, 
after 12 months from its 
implementation 

 

 Children’s Health 
and Wellbeing 

Update Children’s Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The content of the report be 

noted; 
2. The wide range of factors which 

influence children’s health and 
wellbeing be noted; 

3. The current services and delivery 
arrangements in place in the 
borough be noted; 

4. Mental Health and Obesity be 
considered priority areas for the 
work of the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee; 

5. A progress report be presented 
to the Board in October 2019. 
The report would include: 
a. Oral Health Improvement 

Plan – figures on how many 
children had been allocated a 
dentist;   

b. Breakdown of figures on 
children’s health at 
district/ward level; 

c. Nursing support in Sixth 

HWB Link Meeting, 
27 March 2018 P

age 210



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 7 of 15 

Forms and Colleges around 
eating disorders and sexual 
health 

 

      

Tuesday, 27th 
November 2018 
6.00 p.m. 
 
Deadline for 
Reports: 15th 
November 2018 

Youth Justice Plan Annual Report People and Place 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The Youth Justice Strategic Plan 

208/19 be noted and commended 
to Council for approval. 

2. The Board receive an updated on 
progress in 12 months. 

Policy Framework 

 Gambling Policy  Neighbourhood 
Services (Co-
operative Services) 

RESOLVED that the policy be noted 
and commended to Council for 
approval. 

Renewed Policy in 
accordance with the 
Policy Framework 

 Safeguarding Boards 
Annual Reports 
(LSCB/LSAB) 

Annual Reports Health and Social 
Care and Children’s 
Services (Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The LSCB and LSAB Annual 

Reports be noted. 
2. The O&S Board receive and 

update on progress from both 
boards in 12 months. 

 

Link Meeting, 27 
March 2018 

 Single Use Plastics 
Strategy and Action 
Plan 

Update to the Board Neighbourhood 
Services (Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that the Single Use 
Plastics Strategy 2019/2022 be 
approved. 
 

 

 Thriving 
Communities and 
Place Based 
Integration  

 Policy & Governance 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The two programmes of work be 

noted. 
2. The Board supported the projects 

and would engage with the 
projects as the programmes 
grew. 

3. An update on progress would be 
brought to the O&S Board in 
June 2019. 

 

O&S Board, 4 Sep 
2018 

 Oldham’s Monitoring  Housing RESOLVED that the findings of the O&S Board, 16 Oct 

P
age 211



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 8 of 15 

Board (Cooperative 
Services) 

Montioring Report 2017/18 be noted. 2018 
 

      

Tuesday, 22nd 
January 2019 
6.00 p.m. 
 
Deadline for 
Reports: 10th 
January 2019 
 

Libraries Update on the provision of 
the service 

Education and 
Culture (Cooperative 
Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The update on the update on 

Oldham Council’s Libraries be 
noted. 

2. The Board receive an update in 
six months’ time which 
addressed the collaborative 
schools offer with a more in-
depth update in twelve months. 

3. The Board receive an update in 
12 months which included the 
extension of home services to 
community centres and similar 
venues and homeless facilities. 

Update requested 
by the Board in 
January 2018 

 Generation Oldham Update Finance and 
Corporate Resources 
(Outcome Driven 
Services) 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The update on Generation 

Oldham be noted. 
2. The Chair of Overview and 

Scrutiny Board meet with the 
Cabinet Member and the 
Strategy Partnerships and Policy 
Manager regarding Phases 2 and 
3. 

3. A Generation Oldham updated 
be provided in 12 months on how 
the programme was being 
promoted across Greater 
Manchester. 

Update requested 
by the Board in 
January 2018 
 

 SEND Progress 
Report 

Update – report to include 
resolutions as above at the 
meeting in Oct 2018 

Children’s Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 
 

RESOLVED that: 
1. The SEND Update on progress 

against the Written Statement of 
Action (WSOA) be noted. 

2. The Board to receive a short 
report in June or July 2019 
following any outcome from 
Ofsted. 

Requested by the 
board in October 
2018 

P
age 212



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 9 of 15 

3. The Board receive a further 
update in 12 months’ time. 

 

 Council Motions Update on Council motions Various RESOLVED that: 
1. The outcomes of the ‘Keeping 

Our Villages and Rural Areas 
HGV Free’ workshop held on 8th 
January 2019 be endorsed. 

2. A workshop be organised to 
address the ‘Improving Public 
Safety in Oldham’s Night Time 
Economy’ motion. 

 

 

 Key Decision 
Document 

Consideration to the latest 
published Key Decision 
Document 

Various RESOLVED that: 
1. The Council’s Key Decision 

Document be noted. 
2. Reports on Alexandra Park and 

Northern Roots be brought to 
future meetings. 

 

 

      

Tuesday, 5th 
March 2019 
6.00 p.m.  
 
Deadline for 
Reports: 
21st February 
2019 
 

GM2040 Delivery 
Plan 

Annual Update Neighbourhood 
Services (An 
Inclusive Economy) 

 Updated requested 
by the Board in 
October 2017 

 Virtual School  
 

Annual Report and Term 
Update 
 

Education and 
Culture (An 
ambitious and 
socially mobile 
borough) 
 

1.  Update requested 
by the Board in 
March 2018 

 Resident First 
 

Update and Programme 
Overview 

Finance and 
Corporate Services 

2.  Update 

P
age 213



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 10 of 15 

(Outcome Driven 
Services) 
 

 Housing Strategy Consultation Housing 
(Cooperative 
Services) 

 Policy Framework 

 Opportunity Area 
and Social Mobility 
Discussion with 
Headteachers 
Outcome 

Update Education and 
Culture (An 
ambitious and 
socially mobile 
borough) 

 Update 

 Clean Air Plan Consultation Neighbourhood 
Services (Thriving 
Communities) 

  

 

 

PART B – ONE OFF MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS 
 

Date Title Summary of issue Directorate Timescales Notes Outcome 
TBC Greater 

Manchester 
Spatial 
Framework 

Update on the 
Development 

People and 
Place (A 
regenerating 
and confident 
borough) 

TBC A workshop was recommended at the 
Economy and Skills Link meeting held on 
28th September 2017 – pending 
consultation timeline from GMCA 

 

17 July 
2018 

Universal Credit Further visit to the 
DWP 

Corporate 
and 
Commercial 

Visit arranged 
for 17 July; 
invitations sent 
on 20 June. 

A further workshop to be held following 
earlier visit by the Chair of Overview and 
Scrutiny to the DWP Offices. 
 

Visit took place 
on 17 July. 

4 July 2018 Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding 
Hub 

Visit to the MASH People and 
Place 

Visit arranged 
for 4 July; 
invitations sent 
20 June. 

A workshop to be held to discuss the 
development of the hub and adult social 
care. 

Visit took place 
on 4 July. 

TBC Meeting with 
Headteachers  

Evaluate change over 
the last twelve months 

People and 
Place 

Aim for Summer 
time; early July 
after 
assessments 

To be similar to event held in September 
2017 

 

4 Sep 2018 Business and 
Investment 
Review 

Workshop requested at 
the O&S Board on 19 
June 2018  

People and 
Place  

4 September 
2018 

A workshop to be held to discuss the 
development of ward councillor 
involvement working with local 

Workshop 
arranged for 4 
September at 

P
age 214



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 11 of 15 

businesses and the regeneration team. 
 

5.00 p.m. 

4 Sep 2018 Land Value 
Taxation 

Workshop requested to 
discuss the advantages 
and disadvantages of 
the points raised in the 
Motion 

Finance 21 Nov 2018 Joint workshop was held with PVFM on 
21 November 2018. 

LVT was not 
supported. 

8 Jan 2019 Council Motion: 
Keeping our 
Villages and 
Rural Areas HGV 
Free 

Examine the merits 
and practicalities of 
establishing a Lorry 
Watch Scheme 

People and 
Place 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

8 Jan 2019 Outcomes agreed at O&S Board on 22 
January 2019 

Workshop was 
convened on 8 
January 2019 – 
work in progress. 

 
PART C – OUTSTANDING ISSUES – DATES TO BE DETERMINED 
 

When 
Discussed 

Title Summary of issue Directorate Timescales Notes Outcome 

26 Nov 17 Free Schools Update would be 
received when the 
national policy on Free 
Schools had been 
clarified. 

Children’s 
Services 

TBC   

6 Mar 2018 
 

Children’s Social Care 
Getting to Good 
Improvement Plan 
Update 
 

Report to be received 
following sign off by 
Ofsted 

Children’s 
Services 

July 2018 Update received at O&S Board 
on 24 July 2018 

 

6 Mar 2018 Selective Licensing 
Scheme 

Update on Year 4 of 5 of 
the Scheme 

People and 
Place 

March 2019 Review to be conducted and 
completed in March 2019.  
Report due in June 2019. 

 

6 Mar 2018 Combatting Acid 
Attacks 

Members agreed the 
voluntary scheme not be 
introduced, however, the 
issue was to remain on 
the work programme 
pending approval of 
legislation. 
 

People and 
Place 

TBC   

ESN Link Review of Housing Update People and  Scheduled in March 2019  

P
age 215



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 12 of 15 

Meeting 9 
Nov 17 

Strategy Place 

ESN Link 
Meeting 27 
Mar 2018 

Children’s Services 
Inspection (may include 
Virtual School) 

 Children’s 
Services 

Ongoing Virtual School report to be 
received in March 2019 

 

O&S Board, 
19 Jun 18 

Community Horizon 
Projects 

Update Requested Policy and 
Governance 

Closed. Members requested a report at 
the meeting held on 19 June 
2018 as a result of the item 
being reported on the General 
Exceptions/Urgent Decisions 
report. 

 

Council, 11 
July 2018 

Tackling ‘Problem’ and 
Underage Gambling 

 People and 
Place 

Nov 2018 Motion referred to O&S Board.  
O&S and Licensing to consult 
with Gamble Aware and other 
relevant parties to ensure the 
Council and its partner 
agencies follow best practice 
 

Noted and 
commended 
to Council. 

ENS Link 
Meeting 27 
Mar 18 

Children’s Health and 
Well Being 

Update Children’s 
Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

Oct 2019 Link Meeting, 27 March 2018  

HWB Link 
Meeting 27 
Mar 18 

Ofsted Focused 
Inspection Outcome 

Update Children’s 
Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 
 

Ongoing. Link Meeting 27 March 2018  

O&S Board 
4 Sep 2018 

Thriving Communities Update and Description 
of the Programme 

Chief 
Executive’s 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

Nov 2018 This was presented to Board in 
November 2018. 

Noted. 

Policy 
Framework 

Youth Justice Plan Annual Report Children’s 
Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

Nov 2018 This was presented to Board in 
November 2018. 

Noted and 
commended 
to Council. 

Link 
Meeting 
and Board 
in March 

Social Values in 
Procurement 

Ability of local companies 
to access the CHEST; 
potential to impact on 
agreements with partner 

Corporate and 
Commercial 
(Cooperative 
Services) 

Closed. Update received 17 Dec 2018: 

 Council has held an open 
forum for local suppliers to 
discuss opportunities for them 

 

P
age 216



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 13 of 15 

2018 
 

agencies to bid for future requirements 
in the regeneration and works 
space, as part of this 
engagement, the audience 
was informed about how to 
register on the Chest portal 
and the importance of doing 
so. 

 There will be further 
engagements into next year 
with local suppliers from other 
areas of spend 

 Council will always look to 
use existing partnership 
arrangements as a standard 
route to the market when the 
requirement is covered by 
such agreements. 

  

Link 
Meeting 

Resident First 
Programme 

Update  Corporate and 
Commercial 
(Cooperative 
Services) 
 

Update received. Requested to see that the 
programme to engage 
members is maintained. 
 
Update received 17 December 
2018: 
Quarterly meetings with 
members have been scheduled, 
the last one was 27 Nov 2018.  
Future proposed dates (TBC) 
are Monday, 11th March at 5.30 
p.m. and Monday, 17th June at 
5.00 p.m. 
 

 

Council, 12 
December 
2018 

Improving Public Safety 
in Oldham’s Night Time 
Economy 

Examine in conjunction 
with partners the 
practicality of 
establishing such 
schemes as soon as 
possible in our town and 

People and 
Place (Thriving 
Communities) 

TBC The Board requested a 
workshop be convened. 

 

P
age 217



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 14 of 15 

district centres. 

 Getting to Good – 
Children’s Improvement 
Programme 
 

Update Children’s 
Services 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

TBC Updated requested by the 
Board in July 2018 

 

 Oldham Town Centre 
Masterplan (to include 
an update on the Town 
Centre Parking 
Strategy) 

Update to the Board Economy and 
Enterprise (An 
Inclusive 
Economy) 

TBC Updates requested in 
November 2017 and January 
2018 

 

 Northern Roots  Strategic Reform 
(Thriving 
Communities) 

TBC Requested by the Board in 
January 2019 

 

 Alexandra Park  People and 
Place (Thriving 
Communities) 

TBC Requested by the Board in 
January 2019 

 

 

 
PART D – ACTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 

Date of Meeting Title of Report Directorate Action(s) Date Completed and Outcome 

6 March 2018 Virtual School Children’s 
Services 

Ofsted results to be reported to 
O&S Board in a short briefing note 
during the next municipal year 
(18/19) 

 

19 June 2018 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Community 
Health and 
Social Care 

Meeting to held between the Chair 
of O&S and the Cabinet Member 
for Health and Social Care to 
discuss the proposed Liberty 
Protection Safeguards legislation in 
order to raise the issue with the 
three MPs. 

The Cabinet Member for Health 
and Social Care sent the letters 
to the borough’s three MPs on 16 
July 2018. 

19 June 2018 O&S Annual Report Legal and 
Democratic 
Services 

Copies of the report to be sent to 
District Libraries and posted on the 
website following approval at 
Council. 

The report is posted on the 
website on the Overview and 
Scrutiny page.  Copies of the 
report were sent to all libraries on 
27 July 2018. 

P
age 218



[O&S WP at 22/02/19 – 18/19 V9]        Page 15 of 15 

 

19 June 2018 Key Decision Document Legal and 
Democratic 
Services 

Clarification be sought on the 
Ackers Farm decision as work had 
already started. 

Response sent 20 June 2018 – it 
was explained that remedial 
works had started due to the 
collapse of wall and traffic 
management issues. 

24 July 2018 Getting to Good Children’s 
Improvement Programme. 

Childrens’ 
Services  

In September 2018 to update the 
Chair and the other OS Board 
members on the latest 
developments concerning the 
Getting to Good Children’s 
Improvement Programme. 

Workshop arranged for 17 
September 2018 at 5.00 p.m. 

24 July 2018 
 

Oldham Work and Skills Strategy 
Update 

Economy & 
Skills 
 

Chair to have discussion with 
relevant portfolio holder to look at 
the five key points in the report and 
their prioritisation. 
 

The Chair met with the relevant 
Cabinet member on 17 
September with a follow-up 
meeting scheduled on 10 
October. 

4 September 
2018 

Oldham Cares Community 
Health and 
Social Care 

Chair to meet with the Alliance 
Director to discuss a way forward 
and report back to the Board 

 

22 Jan 2019 Generation Oldham Strategic 
Reform 

Chair to meet with Cabinet Member 
and relevant officer regarding 
Phases 2 and 3. 

 

 

 

P
age 219



T
his page is intentionally left blank



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

1 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

 
 

Economy and Enterprise Cabinet Portfolio 
 

RCR-09-
14 
 

Eastern Gateway Town Centre Land and 
Property Acquisitions 

Director of Economy June 2019 Cabinet 

Description:  
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private for financial and commercial reasons 

RCR-10-
14 
 

Western Gateway Town Centre Land and 
Property Acquisitions 

Director of Economy June 2019 Cabinet 

Description: To acquire strategic land and properties across the Western Gateway of the Town Centre  
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private for financial and commercial reasons 

ECEN-08-
16 
 

Oldham Property Partnerships - Final 
Reconciliation 

Director of Economy June 2019 Cabinet 

Description: Reconciliation of money held in OPP joint venture.  
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Report to be considered in private due to its commercial sensitivity and detailing of 
financial affairs. 

P
age 221

A
genda Item

 18



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

2 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

ECEN-12-
17 
 

Oldham Heritage and Arts Centre Enabling 
Works 

Borough Solicitor 
(Paul Entwistle), 
Borough Treasurer, 
Director of Economy  

June 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Economy & 
Enterprise 
(Leader - 
Councillor 
Sean Fielding) 

Description: The implementation of enabling works in relation to the development of a new heritage and arts centre and a new theatre. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Part A Cabinet report (Oldham Cultural Quarter), 24th April 2017. 

ECEN-07-
18 
 

Hollinwood Junction Development Site - 
Disposal of land at Albert Street 

Director of Economy March 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Economy & 
Enterprise 
(Leader - 
Councillor 
Sean Fielding) 

Description: To approve the final terms for the disposal of land at Albert Street, Hollinwood. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private because it contains information relating to the financial and business affairs. 

ECEN-19-
18 
 

Alexandra Park Multi-disciplinary Team Director of Economy March 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Economy & 
Enterprise 
(Leader - 
Councillor 
Sean Fielding) 

P
age 222



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

3 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: Appointment of multi-disciplinary team in relation to the Alexandra Park Depot improvements. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Delegated Decision. Report is private as it contains sensitive financial information. 

ECEN-21-
18 
 

Meridian Development Company: Land at 
Meridian Centre and Crossbank Street, 
Primrose Bank [Werneth] 

Director of Economy June 2019 Cabinet 

Description:  
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Report will be considered in private due to commercial sensitivity. 

ECEN-01-
19 
New! 

Contractor appointment for OMA Director of Economy May 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Economy & 
Enterprise 
(Leader - 
Councillor 
Sean Fielding) 

Description: Appointment of a contractor to enable the conversion of the former library on Union St. into and new heritage and arts 
centre - to be known as OMA. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Cabinet Report Part A only, Cultural Quarter Update, 19th November 2018. 

ECEN-02-
19 
New! 

Tommyfield Market Options Director of Economy June 2019 Cabinet 

Description: To approve recommendations relating to the future of Tommyfield Market. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Report is to be considered in private due to commercial sensitivity and detail of 
financial/business affairs. 

P
age 223



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

4 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

ECEN-03-
19 
New! 

Highways works relating to the sale of site A and 
a new public car park on site C at Mumps 

Director of Economy March 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Economy & 
Enterprise 
(Leader - 
Councillor 
Sean Fielding) 

Description:  
Document(s) to be considered in public or private:  

 

Education and Culture Cabinet Portfolio 
 

EDC-07-18 
 

Expansion of Hollinwood Academy Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

March 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Education and 
Culture (Cllr 
Paul Jacques) 

Description: To approve a basic need contribution for the expansion of Hollinwood Academy 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private:  

EDC-01-19 
New! 

Expansion of Mayfield Primary School Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

April 2019 Cabinet 

Description: To seek approval to expand Mayfield Primary School by 1 FE. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public 

P
age 224



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

5 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

 

Employment and Skills Cabinet Portfolio - None 
 

ES-01-19 
New! 

Oldham Traineeship Project Update Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

March 2019 Cabinet 

Description: The Get Oldham Working Traineeship Programme funding will conclude by March 2019. The request is to extend the 
programme as per the recommendation 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: None 

 

Children's Services Cabinet Portfolio - None 
 

 

Health and Social Care Cabinet Portfolio - None 
 

 

Housing Cabinet Portfolio 
 

HSG-01-
18 
 

GMSF - Northern Gateway Masterplan Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

March 2019 Cabinet 

P
age 225



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

6 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: The report explains how the Northern Gateway masterplan demonstrates: 
 
- the capacity of strategic economic and residential growth in the area;  
- a development vision for the Northern Gateway; and, 
- the delivery of spatial growth within the area. 

Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private on commercial sensitivity grounds 

HSG-02-
18 
 

Approval of new Warm Homes Delivery Agent Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

April 2019 Cabinet 

Description: Approval of procured partners to deliver the Warm Homes Oldham contract (through OJEU procurement process) 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private due to commercial sensitivity 

NEI-01-19 
 
New! 

Tender Approval for Delph New Road Flood 
Alleviation Scheme 

Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

June 2019 Cabinet 

P
age 226



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

7 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: This report is seeking tender approval for the chosen contractor to deliver the Delph New Road Flood Alleviation Scheme. 
The tender award is expected to be in excess of £400,000. 
 
The main works are the construction of approx. 500m of Highway Drain to alleviate flooding on A62 Huddersfield Road, Delph. 
 
 

Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Proposed Report Title: Tender Approval for Delph New Road Flood Alleviation 
Scheme  
 
Private - Financial information included. 

 

Neighbourhood Services Cabinet Portfolio 
 

NEI-10-18 
 

GM Clean Air Plan Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

March 2019 Cabinet 

Description: Report providing update on GM clean air plan 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public report 

NEI-11-18 
 

Highways Investment Programme 2019/20 – 
2021/22 

Deputy Chief 
Executive People and 
Place – Helen 
Lockwood 

March 2019 Cabinet 

P
age 227



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

8 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: Cabinet approved the £12m Highways Improvement Programme for delivery over the financial years 2019/20 - 2021/22 in 
October 2018.  
 
This report will detail the programme, following consultation with Members. It will also seek approval for all tender award decisions, 
including those with a value over £400,000, to be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods and the Deputy Chief Executive 
People and Place in order to meet delivery timescales. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private:  

 

Policing and Community Safety Cabinet Portfolio - None 
 

 

Finance and Corporate Resources Cabinet Portfolio 
 

FCR-10-18 
 

Report of the Director of Finance  – Revenue 
Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 
2018/19 Quarter 3 

Deputy Chief 
Executive Corporate 
and Commercial – 
Ray Ward 

March 2019 Cabinet 

Description: The report provides an update on the Council’s 2018/19 forecast revenue budget position and the financial position of the 
capital programme as at the period ending 31 December 2018 (Quarter 3) 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Report of the Director of Finance  – Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2018/19 Quarter 3 
 
Background Documents: Appendices – Various 
 
Report to be considered in Public 
 

P
age 228



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

9 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

FCR-24-18 
 

Retender of eBulk (online) DBS system Deputy Chief 
Executive Corporate 
and Commercial – 
Ray Ward 

March 2019 Cabinet 
Member - 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Resources 
(Deputy Leader 
- Cllr Abdul 
Jabbar) 

Description: Approval for the Council‘s re-contracting for an eBulk DBS supplier from 25 December 2018 as part of a GM collaboration 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Report 

FCR-28-18 
 

Full Fibre Investment in Oldham Director of Finance – 
Anne Ryans 

March 2019 Cabinet 

Description: To consider a Council Investment in extending broadband connectivity throughout the Borough by utilising existing Council 
Buildings 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private due commercial sensitivity 

FCR-01-19 
 

Local Taxation and Benefits Discretionary 
Policies  - 2018/19 

Director of Finance – 
Anne Ryans 

March 2019 Cabinet 

P
age 229



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

10 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: This report provides detail of proposed updates to discretionary policies already in place, these are: 
 
• The Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
• The Local Welfare Provision Policy 
• The Discretionary Housing Payment Policy  
 
The report also introduces a new policy to in relation to how officers consider requests for discretionary Council Tax discounts. 
 
• The Discretionary Council Tax Discounts Policy 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private:  

FCR-02-19 
New! 

People Programme - Phase 1 Deputy Chief 
Executive Corporate 
and Commercial – 
Ray Ward 

March 2019 Cabinet 

P
age 230



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

11 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

Description: Procurement and implementation of a new HRP System 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Proposed Report Title: 
Cabinet Paper  - People Programme – Phase 1 
Business Case – People Programme Phase 1 
 
Background Documents: 
 
Report to be considered in Private: 
(If Private) Reasons why:  The report is to be considered in private due to its commercial sensitivity and details of financial/business 
affairs. 
 
 
 
 

FCR-03-19 
New! 

NNDR Deferment Director of Finance – 
Anne Ryans 

March 2019 Cabinet 

Description: To consider arrangements for the payment of Non-Domestic rates in 2019/20. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private 
 
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person including the Council) and it is not on balance considered to be in the public 
interest to disclose the information 

 

Commissioning Partnership Board 
 

P
age 231



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

12 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

CPB-06-18 
 

Award of contract for the Supply, provision of 
stairlifts, ceiling track hoists, vertical & step lifts 
and temporary gantry hoists 

Managing Director 
Community Health & 
Social Care Services 
(DASS) – Mark 
Warren 

March 2019 Commissioning 
Partnership 
Board 

Description: To seek approval to award a contract for the Supply, provision of stairlifts, ceiling track hoists, vertical 

Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Public 

CPB-02-19 
 

Residential and Non-Residential Care Fees Chief 
Executive/Accountabl
e Officer NHS Oldham 
CCG 

April 2019 Commissioning 
Partnership 
Board 

Description: To provide notification of a decision to be taken by the Commissioning Partnership Board. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private:  

CPB-06-19 
New! 

Adults Care at Home Tender Outcome Managing Director 
Community Health & 
Social Care Services 
(DASS) – Mark 
Warren 

March 2019 Commissioning 
Partnership 
Board 

Description: Oldham Care at Home Purchasing System - Category 1 Adults Care at Home. Report to seek authority to award to 10 
preferred providers to deliver Adults Care at Home services in the 5 clusters of Oldham. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Private. Once the decision has been approved there will be a call in period and then 
an Alcatel period before this outcome can be made public. 

P
age 232



KEY DECISION DOCUMENT – COVERING DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FROM 1 MARCH 2019  
 

13 
 

Key 
Decision 
Reference 

Subject Area For Decision Led By Decision Date Decision 
Taker 

CPB-07-19 
New! 

Section 75 Agreement Chief 
Executive/Accountabl
e Officer NHS Oldham 
CCG 

March 2019 Commissioning 
Partnership 
Board 

Description: To provide notification of decisions to be taken by the Commissioning Partnership Board. 
Document(s) to be considered in public or private: Reports are to be considered in private due to commercial sensitivity and detail of 
financial/business affairs. 

Key: 
 
New! - indicates an item that has been added this month 

 
Notes: 

1. The procedure for requesting details of documents listed to be submitted to decision takers for consideration is to contact the Contact 
Officer contained within the Key Decision Sheet for that item. The contact address for documents is Oldham Council, Civic Centre, 
West Street, Oldham, OL1 1UH. Other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the decision maker. 

2. Where on a Key Decision Sheet the Decision Taker is Cabinet, the list of its Members are as follows: Councillors Sean Fielding, 
Arooj Shah, Abdul Jabbar MBE, Paul Jacques, Amanda Chadderton, Shaid Mushtaq, Zahid Chauhan, Ateeque Ur-Rehman, and 
Hannah Roberts. 

3. Full Key Decision details (including documents to be submitted to the decision maker for consideration, specific contact officer details 
and notification on if a report if likely to be considered in private) can be found via the online published plan at: 
http://committees.oldham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=144&RD=0  

P
age 233

http://committees.oldham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=144&RD=0


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee
	7 Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Economy, Business Growth and Skills Scrutiny Committee
	04.01.19_MINS_Economy_Business_Growth_and_Skills_OS_Committee_Minutes_FINAL

	8 Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Corporate Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	22.01.19_draft_Corporate_Issues_and_Reform_OS_Committee_Minutes_

	9 Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Housing,Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	10 Virtual School Annual Report and Term Update
	Virtual School Annual report 2017 - 2018 FINAL
	Virtual School Autumn term review

	11 Oldham Education Disadvantage and Social Mobility Update
	Education Disadvantage Appendix 1

	12 GM2040 Delivery Plan Update
	Appendix A GM2040 DP 1 Progress_Report_Feb_2017_-_Oct_2018
	Appendix B GM2040_Draft_Delivery_Plan__2020-2025__Exec_Summa...

	13 Resident First Programme, Delivering Digital by Design Update
	14 Housing Strategy 2019
	15 Clean Air Plan - Outline Business Case
	16 General Exceptions and Urgent Decisions
	17 Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme
	18 Key Decision Document

